Developing whisker movement protocols for the study of rodent models of neurological disease

Ugne Simanaviciute

Ugnė Simanavičiūtė

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of Manchester Metropolitan University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

**Department of Natural Sciences** 

Manchester Metropolitan University

2024

#### Abstract

Laboratory rodents are a valuable tool for research in biomedical science and are key to improving our understanding of neurological disease. Behavioural studies are fundamental for revealing the connectivity between molecular and genetic changes and the system-level response of affected individuals. However, behavioural studies in many rodent models reveal quite variable outcomes. One way to better capture sensorimotor and executive deficits that are common in rodent models of neurodegenerative disease is by using a highly quantitative, repeatable behavioural task. I propose that measuring whisker movements in rodent models offers an easy, quick and robust way to capture elements of motor, sensory and cognitive disturbances. In this thesis, I will make recommendations for the application of whisker movement measures for the study of rodent models of neurological disease, especially developing methods to standardise and automate the method. I will also discuss the integration of whisker movements with other behavioural tasks and within the context of general exploratory behaviour. My thesis will consist of three experimental chapters, using three rodent models, including: 3xTg-AD mice (a model of Alzheimer's disease), MIA rats (a model of neurodevelopmental disorders) and reeler mice (a model of disrupted development of cortical layer formation). In the first experimental chapter I present the whisker tracking protocol and increase its automation by removing manual scoring. In the second experimental chapter I, for the first time, demonstrate treatment differences using the protocol with rats, and integrate it with a sequential object task. In the third experimental chapter, I integrate the whisker movement protocol with a habituation task and place whisker movements within the general locomotor-exploratory measures. Overall, I documented whisker movement deficits in all the rodent models tested. The findings in this thesis suggest that measuring whisker movements is a powerful behavioural measurement tool, capable of revealing age-related and treatment effects, as well as sex and object differences. However, measuring whiskers in the standard task might not suit all rodent models, and further exploring how whisker movement measures might combine with other tests could be useful, especially with the novel object recognition and social tasks that are thought to be translatable to humans.

# Acknowledgements

To Robyn Grant, where do I start? Firstly, for giving an opportunity to a 20-year-old undergraduate looking for a placement and being so welcoming that there was no question about continuing working with you. For your support, every step of the long way - for getting into the nitty gritty details, introducing me to the best people, finding and encouraging to take all opportunities, and for always being much more optimistic than me – you made it all possible.

To Emma Hodson-Tole, Andrew Spink and John Gigg for additional supervision, always seeing the bigger picture and steering my work in the right direction. For the encouragement and interest in my work even before the start of my PhD studies, and for always agreeing to co-author my work – this really made it feel valuable.

To Charlotte Brassey for reading and commenting on countless pieces of work, programming help, writing recommendations which got me into amazing opportunities, and always selflessly offering support. To both you and Jamie for the company and laughs during the final push.

To Llwyd Orton for what started as histology training and then turned into invaluable help and guidance in life and work, as well as further opportunities – working with you is a pleasure.

To JD E402 office mates for the help and the fun, but especially to Saule for the friendship.

Dėkoju savo šeimai ir draugams Lietuvoje už visapusišką palaikymą ir paskatinimą kiekvieną kartą, kai bandžiau kažką pasiekti - netgi jeigu tie tikslai jums nebuvo pilnai suprantami, ačiū už pasitikėjimą. To my friends and family in England, especially to Eddie – for the patience, the care and the never-ending support.

To Manchester Metropolitan University and Noldus for funding this PhD.

Thank you all.

# Table of contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
FIGURE LIST	8
TABLE LIST	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	
1.1 Thesis introduction	
1.2 Whiskers – NOT JUST SIMPLE HAIRS	
1.3 A MODEL SENSORY SYSTEM	
1.4 MUSCULATURE AND FASCIA OF THE MYSTACIAL PAD	21
1.5 RHYTHMIC WHISKING – A PATTERN GENERATOR DRIVES MUSCLE CONTRA	ACTION24
1.6 The function of whisker movements – acquisition of sensory in	FORMATION AND HIGHER EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS
1.7 METHODS OF STUDYING WHISKER MOVEMENTS	
1.8 THE CHALLENGES OF DEVELOPING BEHAVIOURAL TASKS	29
1.9 STANDARDISATION OF BEHAVIOURAL TASKS	33
1.10 Studying disease in the whisker system	35
1.11 My previous contributions to the field	
1.12 AREAS TO DEVELOP TO IMPROVE THE ADOPTION OF WHISKER BEHAVIO	UR FOR THE STUDY OF RODENT NEUROLOGICAL
SYMPTOMS	
1.13 THESIS AIMS AND OBJECTIVES	
1.14 Structure of this thesis	
CHAPTER 2 GENERAL METHODS	41
2.1 DATA COLLECTION	41
2.2 VIDEO PROCESSING	43
2.3 Whisker parameters	
2.4 DATA ANALYSIS	
CHAPTER 3 ABNORMAL WHISKER MOVEMENTS IN THE 3XTG-AD	MOUSE MODEL OF ALZHEIMER'S
DISEASE	
Chapter summary	
3.1 INTRODUCTION	
3.2 Materials and methods	
Animals	
Experimental procedures	51

Video analysis: qualitative whisker scores	51
Video analysis: quantitative analysis of locomotion and whisker movements	52
Statistical analyses	54
3.3 Results	54
Qualitative whisker behaviour	54
Pre-contact (PC) quantitative whisker and locomotion movements	56
Contact-related (PC-DC) quantitative whisker and locomotor movements	64
3.4 DISCUSSION	66
Pre-contact movements	66
Contact-related movements	69
Placing whisker movements into findings from other tests	70
Limitations and future recommendations	72
3.5 METHOD DEVELOPMENT: QUALITATIVE MEASURE REPLACEMENT	74
'Look-ahead' and HTA	75
Spread reduction	76
Contact-induced asymmetry	78
Whisking scores	79
Relationship between the quantitative whisker measurements	82
3.6 CONCLUSION	85
DURING OBJECT EXPLORATION IN A POLY I:C RAT	
Chapter summary	86
4.1 INTRODUCTION	87
Animal models	88
Measuring whisker movements	89
4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	92
Animals	92
Experimental procedures	93
Video clip analysis of whisker movements	94
Statistical analyses	97
4.3 Results	97
Robust behaviours displayed by both MIA and control offspring rats	97
MIA treatment effects in female offspring rats	
Object texture effects in female rats	
Object texture effects in male rats	
4.4 DISCUSSION	111
Main findings	
wum jinumgs	
Poly I:C treatment effects	

Object texture or sequential order effects	
4.5 METHOD DEVELOPMENT	
4.6 CONCLUSION	
4.7 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS	
Cross-fostering	
Whisker movements	
CHAPTER 5 HOMOZYGOUS REELER MICE REVEAL WHISKER MOVEMENT DEFICITS PRI	E-CONTACT WITH A
NOVEL OBJECT AND DURING AN OPEN FIELD HABITUATION TASK	124
Chapter summary	
5.1 INTRODUCTION	
5.2 Materials and methods	
Animals	
Experimental procedures	
High-speed video analysis	
Nose to object distance and general behaviour	
Histology and cell count	
Statistical analyses	
5.3 RESULTS	134
Pre-contact (PC) quantitative whisker and locomotion movements	
Contact-related (PC-DC) quantitative whisker movements	
Habituation effect	
Nose to object distance and general behaviour	
5.4 DISCUSSION	
Summary	
Novel object exploration task: previous exposure differences	
Pre-contact whisker movements	
Contact-related whisker movements	
Open field	
Habituation effect	
5.5 METHOD DEVELOPMENT	
5.6 CONCLUSION	
5.7 SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL	
CHAPTER 6 DISCUSSION	158
6.1 Findings	
Research findings in disease models	
Addressing thesis aims and objectives	
i) Standardisation	
The protocol	
ii) Automation	

REFERENCES	178
Recommendations for behavioural tasks	176
Future work in whiskers - what is now possible?	174
6.2 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK	170
Addressing thesis questions	168
iii) Placing whisker movements within the context of other tests	166

# Figure list

Figure 1-1 Organisation of whisker representation in the brain.
Figure-1-2 Barrels represented throughout the cortical layers
Figure 1-3 Illustration of the mechanoreceptors in the whisker follicle20
Figure 1-4 A diagram depicting whisker movement23
Figure 1-5 Model of the brain circuits generating the whisker rhythm and coordinating it to breathing
centres25
Figure 1-6 Whisking rhythm generator circuit in the brainstem26
Figure 1-7 The current (based on Simanaviciute et al., 2020) recommendations for whisker tracking,
depending on the symptoms exhibited39
Figure 3-1 Data collection and video analysis52
Figure 3-2 Qualitative whisker behaviour scores for (A) whisking, (B) head turning asymmetry (HTA), (C)
spread reduction, (D) contact-induced asymmetry (CIA)55
Figure 3-3 Mean angular position, amplitude and spread are affected by genotype and age
Figure 3-4 Example whisker angle traces of wildtype and 3xTg-AD mice at each age
Figure 3-5 Whiskers are more spread out in 3xTg-AD mice during object contact
Figure 3-6 Other locomotion and whisker variables tested: (A) locomotion speed, (B) asymmetry, (C)
retraction speed and (D) protraction speed62
Figure 3-7 (A) (PC-DC) spread reduction by score compared to (B) (PC-DC) spread means per mouse79
Figure 3-8 Maximum (A) and minimum (B) whisker PC angles in comparison with PC amplitude (C) and PC
mean angular position (D)83
mean angular position (D)83 Figure 3-9 Correlation matrix for all whisker parameters measured in Chapter 385
mean angular position (D)
<ul> <li>mean angular position (D)</li></ul>
<ul> <li>mean angular position (D)</li></ul>
<ul> <li>mean angular position (D)</li></ul>
mean angular position (D)       83         Figure 3-9 Correlation matrix for all whisker parameters measured in Chapter 3       85         Figure 3-10 The correlation between whisker parameters per animal.       87         Figure 4-1 Data collection and video analysis.       95         Figure 4-2 Poly I:C treatment, sex and object texture (or order) did not have significant effects on whisker amplitude, asymmetry, protraction speed, retraction speed or spread, when analysed with male and female rats combined.       100         Figure 4-3 MIA offspring rat mean angular position (A and B) and asymmetry (C) are affected by treatment and object texture       104         Figure 4-4 Video stills of female offspring exploring an object.       105         Figure 4-5 Example whisker angle traces of female control and MIA offspring rats exploring smooth (first) and textured (second) objects.       106         Figure 5-1 A scheme showing the sequence of experiments in Chapter 5 and animal numbers at each       106
mean angular position (D)       83         Figure 3-9 Correlation matrix for all whisker parameters measured in Chapter 3       85         Figure 3-10 The correlation between whisker parameters per animal.       87         Figure 4-1 Data collection and video analysis.       95         Figure 4-2 Poly I:C treatment, sex and object texture (or order) did not have significant effects on whisker amplitude, asymmetry, protraction speed, retraction speed or spread, when analysed with male and female rats combined.       100         Figure 4-3 MIA offspring rat mean angular position (A and B) and asymmetry (C) are affected by treatment and object texture       104         Figure 4-4 Video stills of female offspring exploring an object.       105         Figure 4-5 Example whisker angle traces of female control and MIA offspring rats exploring smooth (first) and textured (second) objects.       106         Figure 5-1 A scheme showing the sequence of experiments in Chapter 5 and animal numbers at each stage.       130
mean angular position (D)       83         Figure 3-9 Correlation matrix for all whisker parameters measured in Chapter 3       85         Figure 3-10 The correlation between whisker parameters per animal.       87         Figure 4-1 Data collection and video analysis.       95         Figure 4-2 Poly I:C treatment, sex and object texture (or order) did not have significant effects on whisker amplitude, asymmetry, protraction speed, retraction speed or spread, when analysed with male and female rats combined.       100         Figure 4-3 MIA offspring rat mean angular position (A and B) and asymmetry (C) are affected by treatment and object texture       104         Figure 4-5 Example whisker angle traces of female control and MIA offspring rats exploring smooth (first) and textured (second) objects.       106         Figure 5-1 A scheme showing the sequence of experiments in Chapter 5 and animal numbers at each stage.       130         Figure 5-2 Experimental set up.       131
mean angular position (D)       83         Figure 3-9 Correlation matrix for all whisker parameters measured in Chapter 3       85         Figure 3-10 The correlation between whisker parameters per animal.       87         Figure 4-1 Data collection and video analysis.       95         Figure 4-2 Poly I:C treatment, sex and object texture (or order) did not have significant effects on whisker amplitude, asymmetry, protraction speed, retraction speed or spread, when analysed with male and female rats combined.       100         Figure 4-3 MIA offspring rat mean angular position (A and B) and asymmetry (C) are affected by treatment and object texture       104         Figure 4-4 Video stills of female offspring exploring an object.       105         Figure 4-5 Example whisker angle traces of female control and MIA offspring rats exploring smooth (first) and textured (second) objects.       106         Figure 5-1 A scheme showing the sequence of experiments in Chapter 5 and animal numbers at each stage.       130         Figure 5-2 Experimental set up.       131         Figure 5-3 Angular whisker movement measurements: mean angular position, spread, amplitude and       131
mean angular position (D)       83         Figure 3-9 Correlation matrix for all whisker parameters measured in Chapter 3       85         Figure 3-10 The correlation between whisker parameters per animal.       87         Figure 4-1 Data collection and video analysis.       95         Figure 4-2 Poly I:C treatment, sex and object texture (or order) did not have significant effects on whisker amplitude, asymmetry, protraction speed, retraction speed or spread, when analysed with male and female rats combined.       100         Figure 4-3 MIA offspring rat mean angular position (A and B) and asymmetry (C) are affected by treatment and object texture       104         Figure 4-4 Video stills of female offspring exploring an object.       105         Figure 5-1 A scheme showing the sequence of experiments in Chapter 5 and animal numbers at each stage.       130         Figure 5-2 Experimental set up.       131         Figure 5-3 Angular whisker movement measurements: mean angular position, spread, amplitude and asymmetry.       135
mean angular position (D)

Figure 5-5 Habituation effects on angle-based whisker measures	141
Figure 5-6 Habituation effects on speed-based whisker and body measures	142
Figure 5-7 The distance to object of wildtype (A) and <i>reeler</i> (B) mice during a novel object exploration	
task	143
Figure 5-8 Nose distance and general behaviour	144
Figure 5-9 Reeler mice have significantly lower cell count in the motor cortex (M1)	145
Figure 6-1 The final recommended workflow for whisker movement studies, adjusted for conclusions	
made in the thesis	162
Figure 6-2 The social task set up	.168

# Table list

Table 1-1 Summary of a selection of several commonly used behavioural tasks	32
Table 2-1 Whisker parameters measured in this thesis, pre-contact (PC) and during-contact (DC).	45
Table 3-1 Number of video clips per mouse included in quantitative analyses	53
Table 3-2 Summary statistics for qualitative data	56
Table 3-3 Summary statistics for quantitative pre-contact data	63
Table 3-4 Summary statistics for quantitative contact-related (PC-DC) data	65
Table 3-5 The comparison between the findings in whisker movements of this study and other	
behavioural and cognitive studies conducted in the same laboratory	71
Table 3-6 Qualitative scoring behaviours and score description	75
Table 4-1 Number of videos per rat included in analyses	95
Table 4-2 Summary statistics for pre-contact data	107
Table 4-3 Summary statistics for contact-related (PC-DC) data	109
Table 4-4 Significant whisker parameters in detail	110
Table 4-5 Summary statistics for cross-fostering effects on pre-contact data	119
Table 4-6 Summary statistics for cross-fostering effects on contact-related (PC-DC) data	121
Table 4-7 Summary statistics for Treatment*Texture effects	122
Table 5-1 Animal numbers	128
Table 5-2 Habituation effects	139
Table 5-3 Novel object exploration results	151

# List of abbreviations

- 3Rs three Rs
- 5-HT6 5-hydroxytryptamine receptor subtype 6
- AD Alzheimer's disease
- ADHD attention deficit hyperactivity disorder
- ANOVA analysis of variance
- ART automated rodent tracker
- CC corpus callosum
- CIA contact-induced asymmetry
- DAPI 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
- DC during-contact
- DF degrees of freedom
- GABA γ-Aminobutyric acid
- HAB1 first habituation
- HAB5 fifth habituation
- HTA head turning asymmetry
- IR infrared
- IRt intermediate band of the reticular formation
- LMEM linear mixed effect model
- M1 motor cortex
- MIA maternal immune activation
- NaCL sodium chloride
- NDD neurodevelopmental disorders
- NOE novel object exploration
- NOR novel object recognition
- OF open field
- 11

- PC pre-contact
- PC-DC contact-related changes
- PCP phencyclidine
- Poly I:C polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
- RA rapidly-adapting
- RRC rete-ridge collar
- RS ring sinus
- RW ringwulst
- S1BF primary somatosensory cortex barrel field
- SA slowly-adapting
- SA1 slowly-adapting type 1
- SA2 slowly-adapting type 2
- SEM standard error of the mean
- SOM somatostatin
- TB TRIS buffer solution
- TG transgenic
- TRIS tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
- VGAT vesicular GABA transporter
- VGLUT1 vesicular glutamate transporter 1
- VIP vasoactive intestinal peptide
- vIRt vibrissae zone of the reticular formation
- VP vasopressin
- WT wildtype

# CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

#### **1.1 Thesis introduction**

Studies on laboratory mice (*Mus musculus*) have contributed significantly to the understanding of human biology and health (Fox et al., 2006; Morse, 2007; Perlman, 2016), and rodent models are a powerful tool for research in biomedical science. This is mainly due to their genetic similarities to humans (Mouse Genome Sequencing Consortium, 2002), the ability to create transgenic, knock-out, and knock-in varieties, as well as the ease and relatively low expense of keeping and breeding them (Burns et al., 2015). Rodent models are key to reducing complexity in the study of age-related progressive neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's Disease (AD), the most frequent form of dementia in elderly people (Fiest et al., 2016). They help to enhance our understanding of neural and behavioural changes during disease progression, and to develop novel therapeutic targets (Scearce-Levie et al., 2020).

Behavioural studies are fundamental to revealing the connectivity between molecular and genetic changes and the system-level response and capabilities of affected individuals. However, behavioural studies in many rodent models reveal quite variable outcomes, especially in terms of motor and cognitive tasks involving spatial learning and memory (Fertan et al., 2019c; Stover et al., 2015). Therefore, a better understanding of the behavioural manifestations of, for example, neurodegenerative disease, that occur in those rodent models is needed.

One way to better capture and describe motor, sensory and cognitive deficits that are common in rodent models of neurodegenerative disease is by using a highly quantitative, repeatable task. Measuring whisker movements in mouse models has been suggested as an easy, quick and robust way to capture elements of motor, sensory and cognitive declines (Simanaviciute et al., 2020). It has previously been demonstrated in mouse models of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (Grant et al., 2014), Huntington's Disease (Garland et al., 2018), anxiety (Grant et al., 2016), Alzheimer's Disease (5xFAD and 3xTg-AD, Grant et al., 2018b; Simanaviciute et al., 2020), as well as Cerebellar Ataxia, Somatosensory Cortex Development disorders and Ischemic stroke (all tested by myself during my placement year, and published in Simanaviciute et al., 2020).

Laboratory mice and rats rely on whiskers as their primary sense of touch (Grant and Arkley, 2016). As well as sensing, whiskers are actively controlled; they can move rhythmically to-and-fro in a process called whisking, which occurs at up to 25 Hz in mice and is amongst the fastest movements that mammals can make (Mitchinson et al., 2011). In many disease models, this whisking motion can be disrupted and might be indicative of motor deficits (Grant et al., 2014; Garland et al., 2018; Simanaviciute et al., 2020). Mice also precisely control their whiskers during object exploration (Carvell and Simons, 1990; Mitchinson et al., 2007; Grant et al., 2009), so as well as making simple, cyclic movements, they can alter the timing, spacing and positioning of their whiskers to maximise sensory information (Carvell and Simons, 1990; Grant et al., 2009; Mitchinson et al., 2007; 2011). Therefore, as well as a model of sensory processing, whiskers are also a good system from which to study motor control and exploratory behaviours. When a mouse contacts an object with their whiskers, they tend to decrease whisker angles and whisker spread, increase whisker asymmetry and amplitude, and slow whisker speeds (Mitchinson et al., 2007; Grant et al., 2009; Grant et al., 2018a) these changes allow many whiskers to gently contact a surface for longer, hence increasing the guality of the sensory information captured (Grant et al., 2009). The positioning and focussing of many whiskers on to an object is thought to be associated with attention (Arkley et al., 2014; Mitchinson and Prescott, 2013). Therefore, whisker movements and positioning on objects may reveal sensory and cognitive deficits in mouse models (Simanaviciute et al., 2020).

I propose that measuring whisker-related exploratory movements offers a useful way to characterise highly quantitative behavioural changes in mice. Not only does it measure an intrinsically motivated exploratory behaviour, which should enable universal measures despite the disease symptoms, but it also takes only a short amount of time to capture results. It is a relatively automated process, which should also reduce subjectivity and variation. Within my thesis, I will make recommendations for the application of whisker movement measures for the study of rodent models of neurological disease, in particular focussing on:

- i. standardising the protocol,
- ii. automating the protocol,
- iii. integrating whisker movements with other behavioural tasks and placing them within the context of general exploratory behaviour.

As well as a literature review, my thesis will contain three experimental chapters, reporting novel whisker movement measures in three rodent models:

- Chapter 3: 3xTg-AD mice a mouse model of Alzheimer's Disease,
- Chapter 4: MIA rats a Maternal Immune Activation rat model of neurodevelopmental disorders, including autism, schizophrenia and ADHD,
- Chapter 5: Reeler mice a mouse model of neurodevelopmental disruption.

These rodent models reveal particularly challenging behavioural phenotypes, and results from previous behavioural tests have not been robustly repeated across studies. Therefore, they are useful models for me to investigate with my whisker measurement techniques.

The final chapter of my thesis will be a discussion, where I bring together my findings and observations into a series of recommendations for the future study of whisker measurements in the field of neurological disorders.

# 1.2 Whiskers – not just simple hairs

Whiskers differ from pelage hairs (or fur) in several ways: they are longer, often located in the facial region, and their follicles are 5-6 times larger and highly innervated (Ahl, 1986; Andres and von During, 1973). But perhaps more importantly, whiskers are different from common hair or fur because they can **sense** and **move**. Nearly all mammals have whiskers at some point of their development (Cave, 1969; Ahl, 1986). Even in humans, striated muscles attached to hair follicles are found in the upper lip, suggesting that we might have once had the ability to voluntarily control those muscles (Tamatsu et al., 2007), just like many whiskered animals. However, the main touch receptors - Merkel cells - are not found around the upper lip in humans, but rather on the fingertips. Therefore, to better relate to the experience of whiskered animals, we can compare whisking to human touch-sensing of the fingertips.

When we use our fingertips, we employ different strategies such as stroking, palpating or scanning in space, to find and identify an object and understand its size and texture. This is very similar to what rodents do with their whiskers. Indeed, whiskers are essential to *survival* in nocturnal rodents, especially as they cannot rely on their vision in the dark. For instance, we have known for a very long time that rats have great difficulty learning a maze without their whiskers, more so than when deprived of other sensations (Vincent, 1912). Similarly, Schiffman et al. 15

(1970) found that rats' tactile sensations prevail over vision when their inputs contain conflicting information in a depth perception task. Furthermore, laboratory rats are born with whiskers (but with closed eyes and ears; Park, 1970) which constantly grow and regrow if plucked. The speed of this growth does not reduce until the near-death life stages, suggesting the importance of vibrissae throughout the life cycle of an animal (Ibrahim and Wright, 1975; Ahl, 1986).

In addition, in laboratory mice, whiskers must be intact until at least the fourth post-natal day for normal somatosensory cortex development (Woolsey and Wann, 1976; Weller and Johnson, 1975; Ahl, 1986). Whiskers seem to be involved in aggressive behaviours and fighting in laboratory mice, where only whiskered animals fight, and losers get punished by the winners barbering their whiskers (Ahl, 1986). Moreover, a lack of whiskers interferes with a rat's ability to keep the nose above water when swimming (Ahl, 1982) and can impact the results of several standard behavioural tests in a mouse strain commonly used as control animals for various studies (C57BL/6, Haridas et al., 2018). Rauschecker et al. (1992) reported that mice deprived of vision since birth relied on their whiskers even more than healthy ones, which resulted in their whiskers being longer and thicker than in the control mice.

These are only some examples from a lengthy list supporting the idea that whiskers are the most important sensory organ in laboratory rodent species.

Whiskers can be classified as primary, i.e., attached to the mystacial pad (upper lip), or secondary, attached to other places of the face or body (Pocock, 1914). The focus of this thesis is only on the primary whiskers because they are the only movable whiskers used for active sensing. In this region, there are two further types of whiskers: micro-vibrissae, the shorter whiskers in front of the mouth, and macro-vibrissae, the long whiskers structured in rows and columns (Brecht et al., 1997). Primary macro-vibrissae are of interest to me because of their orderly fashion and each whisker's connection to a single muscle, allowing for precise and active movement to collect information about the environment (Berg and Kleinfeld, 2003).

#### 1.3 A model sensory system

Neurons from the whisker follicles are the most represented structure in the trigeminal ganglia (Kruger and Michel, 1962; Nord, 1967; Ahl, 1986), once again

emphasizing this system as the primary sensation in rodents. This is due to each follicle being innervated by between 150 and 200 myelinated axons (Vincent, 1913; Lee and Woolsey, 1975; Dörlf, 1985; Rice et al., 1986; Lichtenstein et al., 1990). Perhaps the most striking feature of whiskers is that they are represented at every neuroanatomical level. Neurons project from the mechanoreceptors in the whisker follicle through the trigeminal nerve into the brain stem, the thalamus, and finally into the somatosensory cortex contralateral to that whisker's side (Jeanmonod et al., 1977; Ahl, 1986). Every macro-vibrissa is represented by a unique barrelette in the brain stem, a barreloid in the thalamus and a barrel in the cortex, keeping the structural arrangement of rows and columns, resulting in a precise mapping from the mystacial pad throughout the hierarchy of the brain (Figure 1-1; Figure 1-2; Weller and Johnson, 1975; Jeanmonod et al., 1977; Ahl, 1986). Some ipsilateral connections exist too, suggesting that information from both mystacial pads (of the left and the right sides of the snout) can be compared (Pidoux and Verley, 1979; Ahl, 1986).



Figure 1-1 **Organisation of whisker representation in the brain.** The topographical map made of rows and columns is preserved from the original arrangement in the mystacial pad to the barrelettes in the brainstem, barreloids in thalamus and barrels in the somatosensory cortex. Adapted from Li and Crair (2011).



Figure-1-2 **Barrels represented throughout the cortical layers.** This figure illustrates one C2 whisker represented at the mystacial pad, in layer IV of the barrel cortex and through the cortical columns. Adapted from Chen-Bee et al. (2012).

There are some differences in the properties of whisker representations at different brain levels. Barreloids in the thalamus are more selective to angles than barrels in the cortex, while trigeminal ganglion cells respond more selectively to whisker movement deflections and angular direction, and thalamic and cortical cells respond to more deflection angles than primary afferent fibre (Lichtenstein et al., 1990; Adibi, 2019 for a review). These distinctive central and peripheral response properties allow for progressive integration from different receptors and whiskers (Lichtenstein et al., 1990). While at the periphery each sensory neuron is innervating only one whisker follicle, the integration of inputs from more than one neuron and more than one whisker is taking place centrally (Lichtenstein et al., 1990; Brecht, 2007). Convergence of inputs and cross-whisker inhibition - the process of the nearby whiskers supressing the discharges of a targeted whisker as a mechanism of edge detection - starts in the thalamus and even more of that inhibition occurs at the cortex level from local inhibitory neurons (Lichtenstein et al., 1990; Lavallée and Deschênes, 2004).

Early studies were interested in what the first order neurons in the trigeminal system encode. Zucker and Welker (1969) suggested peripheral location, deflection direction, onset and termination, amplitude, speed, duration, repetition rate and temporal pattern of the mechanical stimuli, as well as the movements of the whiskers, are all encoded in those neurons. This classic study also identified 'five categories of vibrissae units' in the trigeminal ganglia which respond to the stimulation of one whisker only. Neurons that are the most selective for whisker direction are, in general, the most responsive ones in terms of more spikes per stimulus from single-whisker stimulation compared to cells that are not as directionally sensitive (Lichtenstein et al., 1990). Several types of

mechanoreceptors have been identified in the whisker system and include both slowly (SA) and rapidly adapting (RA) types. In the trigeminal nerve, ~75% are SA cells which are directionally tuned, while the other ~25% are RA mechanoreceptors (Lichtenstein et al., 1990). In the thalamus, there is only 37% of SAs (Simons and Carvell, 1989) due to the convergence of information.

A more recent study from Soneketsu and Gu (2020) used a single-fibre recording technique, which detects responses from a single mechanoreceptor. They have identified two types of slowly-adapting mechanoreceptors SA1 and SA2, as well as rapidly-adapting receptors. RAs were found to only activate during the dynamic phase, i.e., when the stimulus is initiated, hence they are suitable for detecting short mechanical stimulation. SA1 and SA2 mechanoreceptors fire during both dynamic and static phases of whisker deflection; SA1s, however, fire irregularly, while SA2s respond regularly. SA mechanoreceptors can detect graded mechanical stimulus or encode stimulus intensity and length, as they keep firing throughout the stimulus application. All mechanoreceptors in the whisker follicles are frequency independent and encode inputs from 10 to 100 Hz (frequency range during rodent environmental exploration) equally well. Receptive fields for RA and SA1 firing are mainly located in front of the ringwulst (Figure 1-3), while SA2 receptive fields are mainly in the rear of the ringwulst.

Slowly-adapting and rapidly-adapting is just one way of classifying these mechanoreceptors according to their function; however, several different cell types have been identified that correspond to these classes. For instance, Merkel discs have been found in front of the ringwulst and rete-ridge collar (skin surface epidermis at the mouth of the follicle opening) of whisker follicles (Ebara et al., 2002, Furuta et al., 2020), as well as in human epidermis (Zimmerman et al., 2014). They have Piezo2 ion channels, which transduce mechanical force into Ca<sup>2+</sup>-action potentials (Woo et al., 2014). Merkel discs then send the information down via serotonergic synapses through the SA1 afferent endings (lkeda et al., 2014). Additionally, SA1 endings have inotropic and metabotropic serotonin receptors that are highly sensitive and work in synergy to encode tactile stimuli at the frequencies of active whisking; information from both sources is then relayed into the trigeminal ganglion (Chang et al., 2016; Sonekatsu and Gu, 2020). The location of Merkel discs at the whisker follicle is one of the main factors of their response properties: ring sinus, or RS-Merkel endings, are the only slow-adapting mechanoreceptors and respond the fastest and with the largest magnitude, while 19

rete-ridge collar, or RRC-Merkel discs show longest latency and lowest magnitude of all mechanoreceptor responses and are rapidly-adapting (Figure 1-3; Furuta et al., 2020). This is likely due to the surrounding tissue properties and not the differences between Merkel discs (Futura et al., 2020). The other two types of mechanoreceptors found at the whisker pad are lanceolate and club-like endings which are intermediate in their response magnitude and delay (Furuta et al., 2020).

The location is not the only important element in response property differences: mechanoreceptor internal properties, geometry and orientation in the follicle as well as their position relative to other mechanoreceptors and surrounding tissue must be considered. For instance, RS-Merkel and lanceolate endings are closely located in the whisker follicle (Figure 1-3) and likely receive similar mechanical inputs, yet they have differing response properties. RS-Merkel receptors respond to direction, and they are tuned to angles, meaning they have a preferred angle to which they respond the most. Moreover, they can respond in an ON or OFF manner and these responses are variable and do not exhibit a correlation between latency and magnitude (Futura et al., 2020). Merkel receptors are ideally positioned to respond with particular characteristics to the bending moment as that is a directional force. Meanwhile, the preferred directions of the lanceolate and club-like endings are not correlated to their locations in the whisker follicle, as they respond to the axial force of which magnitude is direction independent (Furuta et al., 2020). All mechanoreceptors were found to have some tuning, although of different sensitivity to specific stimuli (Futura et al., 2020). Overall, this sensory system allows for a wide variety of responses, depending on the types of receptors and their properties.



Figure 1-3 **Illustration of the mechanoreceptors in the whisker follicle.** RS – ring sinus, RW – ringwulst. The location of Merkel discs at the whisker follicle is one of the main factors of their response properties: ring sinus, or RS-Merkel endings, are the only slow-adapting

mechanoreceptors and respond the fastest and with the largest magnitude, while rete-ridge collar, or RRC-Merkel discs show longest latency and lowest magnitude of all mechanoreceptor responses and are rapidly-adapting. Adapted from Furuta et al., 2020.

All brain functioning relies on blood flow which is dynamically regulated by vasodilation and constriction to supply glucose and oxygen in support of the neuronal activity: this is the case within the barrel cortex too. This neurovascular coupling is critical for delivering the energy required for processing information (Harris et al., 2012), including the sensory information from whiskers (Cox et al., 1993). Just like the neuronal system, whisker-related vasculature is well defined and shows consistent responses in repeated longitudinal studies, producing reliable measurements in behaving mice, despite variations in locomotion (Takuwa et al., 2011). Recently, it has been suggested as a bi-directional relationship where blood vessels also send feedback signals to influence neural firing (Kumar et al., 2021). Thus, vasculature and neurovascular coupling is important to understand in both health and disease and is especially relevant in Alzheimer's disease. In Chapter 3, I studied the 3xTg-AD model of AD: literature on this model describes early morphological abnormalities and degeneration of microvascular networks, starting from 3 months of age; the onset and progression of microvascular degeneration in this model was cortical subregion-dependent (Quintana et al., 2021). Brain oxidative stress was also shown to occur in the 3xTg-AD mouse model; more specifically, antioxidant levels were decreased at 3-5 months of age (Resende et al., 2008). Any disruptions to the precise regulation of blood flow can cause energy deficits and affect the efficiency of sensory processing and should be investigated in addition to the neuronal, behavioural and muscular functioning.

#### 1.4 Musculature and fascia of the mystacial pad

A lot of work on whisker musculature was done by Haidarliu et al. (2024, 2021 and 2010). They found that whisker motor control relies not only on muscles of the mystacial pad, but also on the surrounding tissues, such as the collagenous skeleton in the snout fascia. In their 2021 study, they found the fascia to be the main tissue type of the mystacial pad, even more common than muscle, maintaining the structure and contributing to whisker movements driven by the muscles discussed in the next paragraph. The three layers of collagenous skeleton – superficial, deep spongy mesh and subcapsular fibrous mat – are interconnected. Superficial and deep spongy layers contain fascial structures that 21

transmit muscle efforts and are involved in whisking, while the subcapsular fibrous mat keeps whisker follicle spatial arrangement, responds quickly to deformation and connects the mystacial pad to the skull (Figure 1-4; Haidarliu et al., 2021).

The mystacial pad contains intrinsic and extrinsic muscles – intrinsic muscles originate within the mystacial pad, while extrinsic muscles start at the side of the skull and insert themselves into fascial structures of the mystacial pad (in mice: Dörfl, 1982; in rats: Haidarliu et al, 2010, 2024). Intrinsic muscles can be further divided into two types: sling-like intrinsic muscles that protract whiskers, and oblique intrinsic muscles that provide vibrissal torsional rotation (Haidarliu et al., 2010). One sling-like intrinsic muscle connects to one whisker follicle in the same row and were found to control the amplitude and frequency of goal-oriented whisker movements when collecting sensory information (Haidarliu et al, 2024). On the other hand, extrinsic muscles of the mystacial pad insert into the superficial fascial layer and provide whisker protraction, retraction, vertical deflection and signal translation, and thus are divided into protractors, retractors and whisker movers in the dorsal-ventral axis (Haidarliu et al., 2010). Extrinsic muscles also control the trajectories of individual whiskers, i.e., they determine the location of whisker protraction and retraction set points, and shape and position of the mystacial pad, ensuring the whisker direction and search space required (Haidarliu et al., 2024). While intrinsic muscles work to protract whiskers directly, extrinsic muscles need to either pull the superficial fascia layer caudally or pull the subcapsular fibrous mat rostrally to retract whiskers; this involves either nasolabialis and maxillolabialis muscles, or two maxillary parts and internal profunda of the nasolabialis profundus muscle, respectively (Haidarliu et al., 2010). During protraction, extrinsic muscles perform the contraction of two medial parts and the pseudo-intrinsic slips of the nasolabialis profundus muscle, which then triggers the forward movement of superficial fascia layer and distal ends of whisker follicles. Moreover, the vertical spread of whiskers is controlled by the transversus nasi muscle, which moves the dorsal whisker rows (rows A and B in Figure 1-1 and Figure 1-2) upwards, as well as the orbicularis oris part of the buccinator muscle which moves more ventral rows (C, D and E in Figure 1-1 and Figure 1-2) downwards. Alternatively, contraction of oblique intrinsic muscles can also change the vertical spread (Haidarliu et al., 2010).



Figure 1-4 A diagram depicting whisker movement. Protracted (a) and retracted (b) whiskers are shown. Panel (c) shows an overlaid image of the individual whisker movement, showing one whisker moving from position 2 to 3. Panels (d) and (c) show follicle and muscle positions corresponding to (a) and (b), respectively. (1) Tip of the nose; (2 and 3) retraction and protraction set points, respectively, of the most caudal whisker; (4) rostro-lateral translation of the corium (superficial fascia) of the mystacial pad; (5) pivot point; (6) vibrissa; (7) corium; (8 and 9) oblique and sling-shaped intrinsic muscles, respectively; (10) follicle; (11) subcapsular fibrous mat; (12) anchors of the subcapsular fibrous mat. (ε) Angle of the whisker protraction; (B1–B4) follicles; (E1 and E2) extended parts of the corium and subcapsular fibrous mat, respectively; (M) medial; (R) rostral. Green and black arrows indicate directions of the vibrissae and subcapsular fibrous mat subcapsular fibrous mat movements, respectively; red dots are centers of rotation of follicles (pivot points). Adapted from Haidarliu et al. (2024).

Therefore, for whiskers to move, there is an extensive network of muscle and fascia structures in play. As per Haidarliu et al. (2021), intrinsic muscle force is directly applied to capsules in the follicles. In the fascia, follicles span the superficial and deep spongy layers of collagenous skeleton. Additionally, extrinsic muscle force is applied to structures in the rest of the collagenous skeleton which then transmit the force to the capsules. Protraction and retraction involve the voluntary movement of superficial layer rostrally and caudally by the extrinsic muscles. Finally, upon muscle relaxation, fascial structures return whiskers to the resting position (Haidarliu et al., 2021).

Jin et al., (2004) have found that intrinsic muscles are composed mostly of fast type 2B/2D fibres. In mice, those are the only fibres present, while in rats ~10% of slow type-1 fibres were observed – this is consistent with mice performing faster whisker movements compared to rats. More than 90% of the type 2B/2D fibres in mice and rats correspond to type 2B. Type 2B fibres provide the highest twitch velocity (Bottinelli, 1991; Schiaffino and Reggiani, 1996) and in turn require 23

copious amounts of energy (Barany, 1967). This is thought to correspond to the need for fast scanning of the environment.

#### 1.5 Rhythmic whisking – a pattern generator drives muscle contraction

Whiskers evolved in many animals as a strategy for efficient exploration of their surroundings, particularly supporting nocturnal animals that cannot rely on their vision at night. The true whisker specialists are rats and mice as they are active in low light conditions and extensively rely on their whiskers. Every step taken by a mouse or a rat falls strictly within the field of their whisker reach (Grant et al., 2018), ensuring there are no obstacles in the way. To achieve this function, whiskers must sweep continuously front and back, protracting and retracting, during exploration. This is called rhythmic whisking, and, in the context of environmental scanning, it consists of large amplitude sweeps. As such, it is also referred to as exploratory whisking (Berg and Kleinfeld, 2003).

For whisking to be a rhythmic event, there is a requirement for a pattern generator in the brain. Moore et al. (2013) found five "whisking units" responsible for this rhythm in the ventral part of the intermediate band of the reticular formation (IRt) and denoted them as the vibrissa zone of the reticular formation (vIRt). The vIRT is in the brainstem, near the preBötzinger complex which generates rhythmic breathing and acts as a master clock to coordinate whisker movements with other mystacial pad and snout movements, such as breathing and sniffing, as well as bilateral whisking (Figure 1-5; Moore et al., 2013, Deschênes et al., 2016). vIRt whisking rhythm generator is unidirectionally connected to the preBötzinger complex, meaning that whisker protractions are driven by the vIRt and time-locked to inspiration, while whisker retractions are caused by the mystacial pad moving in synchrony with expiration, controlled by the Bötzinger/parafacial units (Moore et al., 2013, Deschênes et al., 2016). Additionally, to the five "whisker units" that were active during both inspiratory-locked exploratory and intervening (not associated with breath) whisks, Moore et al. (2013) found 32 units responsible for inspiration and whisker protraction, as well as another 29 units responsible for expiration and whisker retraction. Therefore, whisking is initiated by the five premotor "whisker units" in the vIRt nucleus that activate the intrinsic muscles of the mystacial pad to protract whiskers, and is phase-locked to breathing controlled by the preBötzinger complex; additional inspiratory/protraction units are activated

in the protraction phase, and expiratory/retraction units are activated in the retraction phase (Moore et al., 2013).



Figure 1-5 Model of the brain circuits generating the whisker rhythm and coordinating it to breathing centres. A – central rhythm generator is mostly inhibitory glycinergic/GABAergic neurons innervating intrinsic whisker muscles. B – the whisking reset signal comes from the breathing centre, while the medullary commissure synchronises the breathing centres on both sides of the brain. PF – parafacial neurons, FMN – facial motor nucleus, preBötC - preBötzinger complex. Adapted from Deschênes et al. (2016).

The generation of whisking rhythm is the result of a mainly inhibitory network. The majority of vIRt neurons were identified as parvalbumin expressing inhibitory (mostly glycinergic) neurons (Deschênes et al., 2016, Takatoh et al., 2022). They are the main cells that induce rhythmic whisking; silencing these neurons abolishes whisking completely, causing a sustained whisker protraction (Takatoh et al., 2022). Other types of neurons in the network seem to handle other functions; for instance, Vglut2 expressing (glutamatergic) excitatory neurons are not required for whisking rhythm generation but are likely important for whisking to be coordinated with sniffing (Takatoh et al., 2022). The overall principle of this circuit starts with an initial tonic (slow and persistent) excitation from the facial motor nucleus to the vIRt (Figure 1-6), which in turn activates 28% of vIRt cells to produce an excitatory signal. This drives the intrinsic muscle and whisker protraction. Subsequently, an inhibitory (67% of cells, glycine/GABA) signal from vIRt initiates whisker retraction and supresses the excitatory signal from facial motor nucleus. At the same time, both facial motor nucleus and vIRt receive an inhibitory reset signal from the preBötzinger complex to coordinate whisking with breathing (Deschênes et al., 2016, Takatoh et al., 2022). Moreover, locally in the vIRt, there seems to be a dense network of reciprocal inhibitory synapses, likely forming a recurrent network, as is common in other rhythmic systems (Marder and Bucher, 2001, Takatoh et al., 2022). Individual cells in vIRt do not behave cyclically at rest, but rather, the rhythm is generated as a property of the network and depends on the initial external input as well as the recurrent local inhibition (Takatoh et al., 2022).



Figure 1-6 **Whisking rhythm generator circuit in the brainstem.** The generation of whisking rhythm is the result of a mainly inhibitory network. The circuit starts with an initial tonic excitation from the facial motor nucleus to the vIRt, which activates vIRt to produce an excitatory signal driving the intrinsic muscle and whisker protraction. Then, an inhibitory signal from vIRt initiates whisker retraction and supresses the excitatory signal from facial motor nucleus. At the same time, both facial motor nucleus and vIRt receive an inhibitory reset signal from the preBötzinger complex to coordinate whisking with breathing. Exc. – excitatory, Inh. – inhibitory, vFMN - vibrissal part of the facial motor nucleus. Adapted from Takatoh et al. (2022).

# 1.6 The function of whisker movements – acquisition of sensory information and higher executive functions

Rhythmic whisking is an advantageous strategy to actively acquire lots of sensory information. The amplitude and frequency of whisking is controlled in rats and mice. It provides information about the timing (onset, duration, termination, repetition), peripheral location (deflection direction, amplitude of movement) and speed of the stimulus. Depending on the goal, exploratory whisking can be employed to actively scan the environment by protracting and retracting whiskers at lower frequencies (7-12 Hz in a rat) and larger amplitude movements (Berg and Kleinfeld, 2003). Upon encountering an object, rodents may switch to foveal whisking, where protractions occur at higher frequencies (15-25 Hz in a rat) and smaller amplitudes, while retraction is a slower and more passive process. This allows gentle palpation around an object to maximise the information collected (Berg and Kleinfeld, 2003; Grant et al., 2009).

Whisking as a behaviour does not exist on its own. It is closely related to other activities essential to survival and even to some higher executive functions. Rhythmic whisking is coupled to breathing, and, therefore, whisking is coordinated with other behaviours such as sniffing, licking, suckling and chewing (Moore et al., 2013; Ito et al., 2014; Kleinfeld et al., 2014). Because of the primary function in navigation, whisker movements have a direct impact on foraging (Anjum et al., 2012; Muchlinski et al, 2018; Grant et al., 2021), pups' feeding (Sullivan et al., 2003), and social contexts (Wolfe et al., 2011). For instance, bilateral whisker trimming in early life has been found to reduce brain oxytocin levels and impact social discrimination and social memory in adult male mice, but not object memory (Pan et al., 2022). Whisking is also coordinated with head movements; in fact, whisker movements predict the decision of the direction of turn better than eye movements (Towal and Hartmann, 2006; Bergmann et al., 2022). Additionally, the condition of whiskers is evaluated as part of the rodent grimace scale used for evaluating pain and wellbeing (Langford et al., 2010; Sotocinal et al., 2011). Whiskers are also a part of the facial expression and are correlated with emotional reactions to fear of threat and noxious stimuli (Elbaz et al., 2022). Bernhard et al. (2020) report sensory association learning to be whisker-dependent, suggesting a role in memory. Moreover, rodents actively pay attention to different environmental settings, and, in response, they change strategies of whisker touch to maximise sensory information collected (Arkley et al., 2014), offering a way to study attention without the need for stressful external motivators such as fear or food restriction. Whisker movements also guide locomotion. Grant et al. (2018) found that whiskers tend to always scan ahead of where the forefeet were positioned on the floor during forward locomotion on a flat floor, as well as during climbing (Arkley et al. 2017).

A completely new type of exploratory whisking emerges as soon as the rodent contacts an object. When touching an object, rodents tend to reduce their whisker spread, making the gaps between whiskers smaller, which is thought to increase the number of whisker contacts against a surface (Grant et al., 2009; Figure 4 in Simanaviciute et al., 2020). Once the whiskers contact a surface, they tend to decrease their retraction speeds, which is thought to increase the amount of time in contact with the object (Grant et al., 2009). The whiskers can also contact the object asymmetrically, a process termed contact-induced asymmetry. This helps to maximise touches with object, especially seen on the whisker side opposite to the

27

object (contralateral), which make large amplitude movements and are positioned far forward with larger angles. It also enables light touches, since the whiskers on the contacting side (ipsilateral to the object) gently palpate the object with low amplitude movements and small whisker angles (Mitchinson, 2007, Grant et al., 2012). Indeed, this balance of behaviours is termed 'minimal impingement, maximal contact' – whisker control serves to increase the time and number of whiskers in contact with an object, whilst at the same time enabling light, clear touches. From the positioning and focussing of the rat's whiskers onto the object, we may also infer their attention (Mitchinson and Prescott, 2013), which is a goaloriented behaviour and offers us a link to rats' cognitive abilities.

When a rat contacts an object, they may also increase the frequency of whisking, which changes the activation of both intrinsic and extrinsic muscle types to antiphase (Berg et al. 2003). However, this behaviour is not often observed, as frequency of whisking is different in rats and mice and can have multiple first order and, at times, second order harmonics (Mitchinson et al., 2011), hence, becoming difficult to model and approximate. Therefore, in my studies, frequency will not be evaluated due to how highly variable it can be and how difficult it is to reliably quantify. Moreover, this is one of the many reasons why pre-contact and during-contact values will be assessed separately.

In addition to object-related exploratory whisking, several other whisker behaviours are used to optimise navigation and orientation. When locomoting at high speeds with a risk of collision, a "look-ahead" behaviour is sometimes employed, meaning whiskers are highly protracted and whisking amplitude is decreased (Towal and Hartmann, 2006; Arkley et al., 2014). When the rodent is about to turn its head, whisker movements will precede and indicate the side of the turn by retracting to the same side - another whisker behaviour called 'head turning asymmetry' (Towal and Hartmann, 2006; Mitchinson et al., 2011). These behaviours may reveal spatial attention, especially focussing the whiskers onto an area that the animal is about to move into (Arkley et al. 2014).

#### 1.7 Methods of studying whisker movements

As whiskers have both sensory and motor aspects, there are many ways of studying them. For the sensory aspect, a neural recording is often the choice. Ever since 1969, researchers have been performing electrophysiology studies to assess what stimuli whiskers respond to by studying trimmed single-whiskers in head-fixed, anaesthetised rats (Zucker and Welker, 1969). Neural imaging has also been utilised: two-dimensional optical imaging spectroscopy recordings can be collected during mechanical whisker stimulation (Sharp et al., 2015). Similarly, functional magnetic resonance imaging recordings using air puff as a stimulus can be collected from the thalamus (Sanganahalli et al., 2022) and from the barrel cortex during whisker deflection (Lu et al., 2016).

There have been advances in naturalistic behaviour tracking and the combination of that data with invasive neuronal recordings to discover grid cells (Hafting et al., 2005), and, even quite a bit earlier, the discovery of place cells (O'Keefe and Dostrovsky, 1971). Considering locomotion and head movements are important, studies that focus on neural recordings are likely to benefit the most from the newest electrophysiological recording tools such as neuropixels (Steinmetz et al., 2021). A significant limitation of this technique is that once the implant is in the mouse brain, it cannot be removed. Supposedly, it being lighter than 10% of the mouse's body mass means that the mouse is not constrained by it, however, it may impact still their behaviour. We want to be able study freely moving, naturallylocomoting animals and connect that to sensorimotor function; however, ways of doing that are currently limited and studying whiskers could be the way forward.

More recently, specialty approaches using the newest techniques in computer vision and deep learning have been developed, which might also be interesting to adapt to study whisking. Klibaite et al. (2022) used such approach to analyse data collected in an open field for the study of repetitive behaviours in a mouse model of autism spectrum disorders. However, this has not yet been related to whisking, despite it being essential to rodent's survival and having major impact on the locomotion measures that are often estimated from pose in these machine learning methods.

#### 1.8 The challenges of developing behavioural tasks

To model human disease in laboratory animals and test all the potential symptoms of that disease, researchers have been moving from single behavioural tests to test batteries, which are more extensive tests on sensory and motor functions (Saré et al., 2021). Some of the gold standard behavioural tasks that are combined and introduced to animals in an increasing level of invasiveness include locomotion tests in the open field, rotarod, various mazes to assess anxiety levels, spatial learning test in the Morris water maze and many types of memory-focused tasks such as the novel object recognition paradigm (Pellow et al. (1985); Nicolas et al. (2006); Prut and Belzung, (2003); Asinof and Paine (2014); D'Hooge and De Deyn, (2001); Antunes and Biala (2012); Crijns and Op de Beeck (2019), Table 1-1). The more complicated the experimental question, the more controls must be introduced, and often that means habituating and training animals to perform many tasks, which takes a long time. Similarly, the more training and habituation is required, the more skilled the animal handler needs to be, and the more day-today variability is introduced by different handlers (Georgiou et al., 2022) as well as environmental, hormonal and other expected or unforeseen factors, which are extremely difficult to control for. It is important to consider that some animals will never be able to perform above chance in the more complex tasks, meaning that the sample size must be increased to account for the dropouts (which will be further discussed in Chapter 6 Discussion), resulting in more animals being used in tests. Furthermore, the data recorded tend to be either simple durations, percentages or counts of correct choices (see Table 1-1, Main measurements column), which are not highly quantitative, and may also require larger sample sizes for the analysis to be powerful enough.

Especially for the study of cognitive functioning, it can be difficult to develop a rodent task that specifically tests the one intended aspect of interest. For instance, the standard novel object recognition task can be used to assess the effect of environmental distraction on memory. However, one must change this task into the **continuous** novel object recognition (Ameen-Ali et al., 2012) to separate the effects of distraction from those of proactive interference, which is when earlier memories disrupt the formation of new memories (Landreth et al., 2021). Both distraction and proactive interference are symptoms of memory-affecting diseases such as schizophrenia and Alzheimer's disease, therefore, they must be assessed separately when looking for treatments. Likewise, when studying important aspects of executive functioning, we are not purely interested in one type of memory; we may wish to test strategy, planning, decision-making, attention, behavioural flexibility, problem solving, reaction time and choice accuracy, all aspects of cognition that can be affected by disease without visible memory deficits. To reliably test these, the experimenter must include not just the standard but also reversal tasks, as well as keep changing the goal of the task and retraining the animals. Consequently, one might wonder whether it is useful to continue with such tasks, or if a simpler approach with better quantification of behaviour and automated techniques could be useful.

In some tasks, animals were found to perform differently depending on their sex and hormonal status. An example of that is the fear conditioning test, where proestrus female rats have shorter freezing durations and longer locomotion distances, compared to male and dioestrus female rats (Pyeon et al., 2023). Similarly, female mice were found to perform better at the novel object recognition task under stress conditions (Torrisi et al., 2023), while males can perform better in spatial orientation tasks such as a water maze (Melgar-Locatelli et al., 2024).

Especially relevant for this thesis is the challenge presented by whisker trimming and barbering in the performance of behavioural tasks. As whiskers are essential in many motor, sensory and executive functions, is it not surprising that classic behavioural tests such as the open field, novel object recognition and marble burying can all be impacted by full de-whiskering or partial whisker desensitization in the C57BL/6 mouse strain, commonly used as control animals (Haridas et al., 2018). Missing the inspection of whiskers before any behavioural task can thus lead to inaccurate results, as whisker barbering is a rather common way to establish hierarchy in laboratory rodents, especially in mice housed in groups (Sarna et al., 2000).

Home cage systems (such as IntelliCage by Endo et al., 2011) offer a way to observe the animals non-invasively in their home environment, thus reducing the stress of removing them from their usual cage. However, sometimes training is still required for tasks performed in IntelliCage; otherwise, it can only provide more general locomotive and social measure. Indeed, they often don't give the same level of fine-scale movement and quantification of behaviour as whisker movement measures. However, home cage monitoring systems are constantly and consistently being developed and may be an interesting avenue of research in the future. One thing that home cages systems tend to offer is a full automation of the tasks and data analysis (Endo et al., 2011). Automation is likely to reduce variability and subjectivity in behavioural testing and may increase reproducibility of results by keeping caging and management systems common across different labs.

Table 1-1 Summary of a selection of several commonly used behavioural tasks. All tasks in the table have significant drawbacks related to restriction of movement, being invasive or stressinducing, requiring training of extensive habituation, or providing measures with a lower level of

granularity.					
Task domain	Task subdomain	Tasks	Main measurements	Drawbacks	Reference
	Anxiety-like behaviour	Elevated plus maze	Locomotion distance, time spent in the open arms, latency to enter open arms	Requires habituation, stressful	Pellow et al. (1985)
	Repetitive, compulsory- like behaviour	Marble burying	Percentage of buried area	General measures do not capture highly quantitative behaviour	Nicolas et al. (2006)
Anxiety/fear/avoidance	Anxiety, motor deficits	Open field	Locomotion distance, time spent in the centre zone, time spent on behaviours of interest such as rearing or grooming	General measures do not capture highly quantitative behaviour, unclear if really measures anxiety	Prut and Belzung, (2003)
Cognitive/executive	Attentional	5-choice- serial reaction time	Correct response ratio, speed of response and reward retrieval, number of nose pokes	Requires training, not highly quantitative	Asinof and Paine (2014)
	Spatial learning	Morris Water maze	Latency to reach the platform, total path length to platform	Requires training, highly stressful	D'Hooge and De Deyn, (2001)

platform

	Novelty / oddity recognition	Novel object / place	Time of object exploration (nose/paw touching or nose pointing towards and within 2 cm of an object) as a ratio of (time exploring the novel object minus the time exploring the familiar object / location) divided by the total time exploring both objects	Requires multiple habituation sessions for sampling, sometimes requires food restriction to encourage exploration	Antunes and Biala (2012)
Sensory	Visual	Touchscreen for visual discrimination	Percentage of correct responses is used to determine the degree of visual acuity	Requires habituation and training, food restriction	Crijns and Op de Beeck (2019)

# 1.9 Standardisation of behavioural tasks

Many scientific theories have been called into question due to an ongoing reproducibility crisis, a methodological issue where experimental results of a study cannot be replicated (loannidis, 2005). It arises from natural variation in husbandry practices and behavioural tasks between laboratories, where even having different experimenters can affect rodent behaviour (Crabbe et al., 1999; Georgiou et al., 2022). To increase internal and external validity across studies, it is important to automate tasks as much as possible (Krackow et al., 2010). Making tests quick and reducing day to day variability are all important factors too. Including general activity and behavioural measures over longer periods of time, such as home-cage monitoring, might also be useful for behavioural tasks.

Overall, there is a need for standardisation to make animal experimentation as robust as possible and reduce variation. In the first instance, this includes strict reporting of methodological details of husbandry practices and detailed experimental methods, including describing environmental factors that may affect experiments, such as noise and light levels. Sharing data to allow for easy comparisons between laboratories is also important. Considering the factors that may lead to variation in experiments and impact research reproducibility is an important first step in designing robust behavioural tasks.

Amongst many aspects of the reproducibility crisis, the 1980's shift from rat to mouse studies revealed that the behavioural differences between the two most widely used animal species in research are not to be overlooked. Additionally, there are large behavioural differences between mouse background strains, also confirmed to be the case in my previous whisker movement study (Simanaviciute et al., 2020). Any type of behavioural testing can be affected by animal handling and the experimenter, suggesting that even the most carefully controlled experiments might produce different results. The ideal behavioural study would likely include home cage monitoring as a baseline for measuring anxiety-free behaviour, and even construct a testing system by connecting it to the home cage (Voikar, 2020).

Indeed, developing robust, quantifiable measures of behaviour may also reduce variation and increase behavioural standardisation. The importance of extensive behavioural tests, including the quantification of sensory abilities and motor functions, open field locomotion, as well as monitoring of whisker appearance and whisker reflex, has been emphasised for a very long time as the main methods for reducing false positives and false negatives (Crawley, 1999). This list is quite encouraging to see, since whiskers are a non-standard method of studying behaviour, but they do fit quite well with these recommendations.

The current battery of tests used for assessing rodent behaviour consists of either expensive and intrusive methods or requires extensive animal training. They also result in only simple, low granularity behavioural measures, such as counts, durations or frequencies. I propose that measuring whisker-related exploratory movements offers an alternative way to observe highly quantitative behavioural changes in mice. Not only does it measure an intrinsically motivated exploratory behaviour which should enable universal measures despite the disease symptoms, but also takes minimal time and experimenter experience as it does not require animal training or habituation. Hence, video clip collection from animals is much faster than from habituation and training requiring tests, and there is minimal day-to-day environmental variation such as changes in handlers, noise and light levels, allowing the data to be more consistent. The low environmental variation for this method creates suitable conditions for the whisker tracking to be semi-automated today, and potentially fully automated in the future, which could speed up result collection even more. Minimal handling is also less stressful to animals than training which could take months of daily handling. This truly means minimal invasiveness and disturbance, as well as compliance with the 3Rs, especially in the refinement and reduction of animals. In fact, this method could be integrated with, or used in tandem with, other laboratory tests as it is comparatively easy to introduce the animals to, and it does not interfere with other behavioural tests, especially when done in parallel. Because this approach can work well with other behavioural tests and allows to measure sensory, motor and even some cognitive functions, it may provide the added benefit of reducing the overall number of animals used in the experiments by increasing the amount of data collected from each animal and validating the results seen in other behaviour tasks, avoiding using larger sample sizes just to reach statistically significant findings.

#### 1.10 Studying disease in the whisker system

Considering whisker movements are directly related to the facial movements, whisker tracking is particularly useful in facial nerve palsy research (Takahiro et al., 2023) and trigeminal neuropathic pain studies (Koizumi et al., 2021). Similarly, the whisker pad has been suggested as a model system for cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (de Lima et al., 2023), and cancer-induced pain (Gutierrez et al., 2021). Furthermore, the whisker system has been used as a model for studying functional hyperaemia - the activity-dependent increases in local blood perfusion (Ferris et al., 2023) - and is also a well-established model for neurovascular coupling studies (Zehendner et al., 2013; Kennerley et al., 2012). Perhaps unexpectedly, whisker follicles have been used to study gene expression in methamphetamine use disorder models (Jang et al., 2020). However, most diseases studied in the whisker system are neurological; therefore, the first versions of the protocol used in this thesis were also tested in mouse models of neurological disease. Findings from whisker movement studies in those disease models showed that:

 SOD1 mice, a model of Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, showed whisker movement differences at postnatal day 60 (~8 weeks, Grant et al., 2014);
 R6/2 (CAG250), zQ175 and Hdh (CAG250) mouse models of Huntington's disease showed whisker movement differences at 10 weeks of age (Garland et al., 2018);

3) 5xFAD mice, a model of Alzheimer's disease, showed whisker movement differences at 6 months of age (~ 26 weeks, Grant et al., 2018).

These studies were the first to demonstrate the potential of using this whisker tracking protocol in mouse models of neurological diseases affecting sensorimotor and executive functions. They also demonstrated the contact-related changes in whisker movements which are important to this protocol and will be presented in Chapter 2 General methods. Such changes are reproducible robust behaviours, and their presence or absence must be considered in studies where treatment effects are investigated. I will be referring to these behaviours throughout my experimental chapters (Chapters 3-5).

#### 1.11 My previous contributions to the field

I started out working in this field during my undergraduate placement year, when I contributed to the development of the automated rodent tracker ART, especially in its testing phase. This work was published in the Journal of Neuroscience Methods 328, entitled "Description and validation of the LocoWhisk system: Quantifying rodent exploratory, sensory and motor behaviours" by Gillespie, D., Yap, M.H., Hewitt, B.M., Driscoll, H., Simanaviciute, U., Hodson-Tole, E.F., Grant, R.A., 2019.

The tracker was then used in all my further studies, starting with my main work from the placement year, where I found differences in whisker movements in 8 different mouse models when compared to control mice. This work was published in Journal of Neuroscience Methods 331, entitled "Recommendations for measuring whisker movements and locomotion in mice with sensory, motor and cognitive deficits" by Simanaviciute, U., Ahmed, J., Brown, R.E., Connor-Robson, N., Farr, T.D., Fertan, E., Gambles, N., Garland, H., Morton, A.J., Staiger, J.F., Skillings, E.A., Trueman, R.C., Wade-Martins, R., Wood, N.I., Wong, A.A., Grant, R.A., 2020. In the article, I made recommendations for whisker tracking producing
the schema (Figure 8 in Simanaviciute et al., 2020) which is used as a starting point for this thesis.

I later continued working with the tracker and whisker protocol for my final undergraduate degree project and, for the first time, tested it in a rat model of schizophrenia. No differences in whisker movements in rats were found, but that conclusion supported the findings of the memory deficit in treated rats. This study was published in Brain and Neuroscience Advances 5, entitled "Dissociating the effects of distraction and proactive interference on object memory through tests of novelty preference", by Landreth, K.\*, Simanaviciute, U.\*, Fletcher, J., Grayson, B., Grant, R.A., Harte, M.H., Gigg, J., 2021 (\* - equal first author contribution) and highlighted the benefits of incorporating whisker measurements with other behavioural tests as well as introduced further questions about when adopting the whisker protocol is the most beneficial. These are important questions that I develop here in my PhD thesis.

Within this thesis I have developed the ARTv2 tracker to include a new quantitative measurement of whisker spread. In Chapter 3, I describe how all quantitative measures from ARTv2 tracker were validated against previous manual qualitative scoring of whisker movements. This resulted in all qualitative scoring being replaced by the quantitative measures produced by the semi-automated ARTv2 tracker.

# 1.12 Areas to develop to improve the adoption of whisker behaviour for the study of rodent neurological symptoms

At the beginning of this project, I proposed that measuring whisker-related exploratory movements could offer an alternative way to observe highly quantitative behavioural changes in mice. I had previously demonstrated this by assessing whisker movement differences in mouse models of a wide range of neurological disorders. However, whisker movements had never been studied in tandem, nor compared to, other established laboratory tests. Some aspects of the protocol were still manual (Figure 1-7, the two qualitative scoring steps in the open field and the object exploration task) and would have benefited from automation. The protocol thus far had only shown significant whisker movement differences in mice; therefore, I also needed to show whether it could reveal whisker movement deficits in other species, specifically, rats. The protocol had been used in studies that included male and female mice (Grant et al., 2018, Simanaviciute et al., 2020) and sex was shown to affect whisker movements. Therefore, I suggested that both male and female animals should be included where possible and further statistical considerations might need to be applied when using the protocol. In addition, this method had only been validated in open field and in one type of novel object exploration task. To be more adaptable to many different disease models and laboratory set ups, this method needed to integrate with other types of tasks and provide additional general locomotor-exploratory measures. These were missing at the time as the focus was mostly placed on high-resolution whisker movements without the context of the general animal movement and behaviour.

Questions that especially needed to be addressed included:

- How could we move towards a standard test of whisker movements?
- We did not always see differences in whisker movements, so which models would I recommend to study?
- How did whisker movement fit with other behavioural tests?

# 1.13 Thesis aims and objectives

In this thesis, I will make recommendations for the application of whisker movement measures for the study of rodent models of neurological disease; focussing on elements that I have drawn out my literature review, including:

# i) Standardisation

Especially adding a quantifiable whisker spread measure to the normal measurements and standardising statistical methods for all future studies.

# ii) Automation

By removing and replacing elements of manual qualitative scoring, presented in the first two steps of the workflow in Figure 1-7.

# iii) Integration

Integrating whisker movements with other behavioural tasks and placing them within the context of general exploratory behaviour.



Figure 1-7 **The current** (based on Simanaviciute et al., 2020) **recommendations for whisker tracking, depending on the symptoms exhibited.** Includes qualitative (manual) and quantitative (automatic) measures. The open field test is suggested as the standard, while the novel object exploration test is currently recommended as an optional test for revealing sensory and cognitive deficits.

# 1.14 Structure of this thesis

My thesis will consist of three experimental chapters, using three rodent models, including:

Chapter 3: 3x-AD mice

The triple transgenic (3xTg-AD) mouse model of Alzheimer's Disease is important in biomedical research as these mice develop both neuropathological and behavioural phenotypes. However, their behavioural phenotype is variable, with findings depending on the specific task, as well as the age and sex of the mice. I examined whisker movements in 3, 12.5 and 17-month-old female 3xTg-AD mice and their B6129S/F2 wildtype controls.

#### Chapter 4: MIA rats

The maternal immune activation (MIA) rat, induced by an environmental risk factor polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (Poly I:C), is a model of neurodevelopmental disorders. Their behavioural symptoms are diverse; they are often variable and reduce in severity or disappear when offspring reach adulthood. Measuring whisker movements presents an opportunity to study innate exploratory rodent behaviour in these animals, resulting in highly quantitative, robust measurements of sensory, motor and cognitive behaviours. However, measuring whisker movements has not yet been proven to work in rat models. In this study, I investigated whisker movements in adult male and female offspring of MIA-exposed rat dams and compared to age-matched offspring of control (vehicle) dams.

#### Chapter 5: Reeler mice

Reeler mice have been suggested as a model for several disorders, including the developmental disruption of cortical layers, lissencephaly type 2 and perhaps even epilepsy. Homozygous reeler mice have a complex behavioural phenotype and few studies have revealed robust behavioural and cognitive deficits in these mice, despite their neuroanatomical disruptions. Using the standard whisker protocol, only one whisker measure – pre-contact spread - was found to be affected by genotype. Further testing revealed that previous exposure to the arena might influence whisker measures obtained using the standard protocol. Additional testing was performed where whisker movements were filmed in an open field environment and during a further habituation period of five sessions.

#### Chapter 6: Discussion

My findings and observations from these three studies will come together in the discussion chapter of my thesis. I will make recommendations for future work and present a workflow for robustly and repeatedly studying whisker movement measures in rodent models.

# **CHAPTER 2 GENERAL METHODS**

#### 2.1 Data collection

During my PhD studies, I travelled to three different animal facilities at Dalhousie University in Halifax (Canada), the University of Manchester in Manchester (UK), and the University of Göttingen in Göttingen (Germany), to setup the same equipment in all those laboratories and run my experiments. The studies were run within the animal facilities and animals were not moved outside of those facilities; however, I did not handle the animals myself and was not allowed inside the housing facilities due to local licensing and animal welfare rules. Furthermore, as I was a short-term visitor at these facilities, I had no control of the animals available to me, which is why Chapter 3 only includes female mice.

For the work described in this thesis, Chapters 4 and 5 contain data which are the direct results of my travels and my own data collection in the UK and Germany, respectively. While I did travel to the same laboratory at Dalhousie University to collect similar data for a different mouse model not included in this thesis, the dataset used in Chapter 3 was collected prior by my PhD supervisor using the same method.

Due to the limited time available at each of the institutions I travelled to, the focus was on setting up the experiment and collecting the data. While the original ARRIVE guidelines from 2010 (Kilkenny et al., 2010) stated that details on bedding material should be reported, the data in this thesis were collected between 2016 and 2021 and, at that time at the facilities I was visiting, recording information on handling and bedding practices was not yet commonplace. Cupping (mostly mice) and handling by the scruff (mostly rats) was used, while tail handling was not used. In all studies, nesting material was provided, such as soft-wood shavings. However, the exact brands and quantities were not recorded, and I am not able to provide the exact information in this thesis, nor to compare them between the facilities I visited. In Chapter 6 Discussion, I recommend details on animal handling and bedding are reported in future behavioural studies.

With the publication of the ARRIVE 2.0 guidelines in July 2020 (Sert et al., 2020), the importance of why and an example of how such information should be reported were provided. In support of my observations, the authors of ARRIVE 2.0 also admit the impact of the first edition was limited and a revision was necessary to make it easier for researchers to adopt. To improve the quality, reproducibility and translatability of animal studies, it is not only important to follow ARRIVE reporting guidelines but also the more recent complementary PREPARE guidelines for study planning (Smith et al., 2018). Hence, in Chapter 6 Discussion, I recommend both ARRIVE (last step in Section 6.1 Findings – The protocol) and PREPARE (pre-step in Section 6.1 Findings – The protocol) guidelines are followed in all future animal studies.

For filming whisker movements, animals were placed in a transparent Perspex rectangular arena (30 × 50 × 15 cm) which was lit from below by an infra-red light box (LEDW-BL-400/200-SLLUB-Q-1R-24 V, PHLOX) in Chapters 3 and 5, or by a visible white light box (60 cm × 85 cm, MiniSun LightPad). The lights used did not produce any observable temperature changes, although this was not measured and may be a potential confound when compared between the beginning and the end of the experiment. The rectangular arena was cleaned with a 70% ethanol spray after each animal to remove any olfactory cues. Once in the arena, animals were filmed from above using a digital high-speed video camera (Phantom Miro ex2) recording at 500 frames per second with a shutter-speed of 1 ms and resolution of 640 × 480 pixels. Multiple 1.6 s video clips (800 frames) were collected opportunistically (by manual trigger) when the animal moved into the camera's field of view. The aim was to collect 10 to 15 videos per animal. However, animals were removed from the testing arena after 15 min, independently of the number of videos collected.

During the video collection for the study described in Chapter 5, I noticed for the first time that the animals were distracted by the experimenter in the room, hence, the sides of the arena were covered in light brown paper. It may be beneficial to choose opaque sides for the testing arena. Existing literature suggested that mice and rats perceive red colour as dark, making it a logical choice for this setup.

However, the specific colour choice may require further experimentation: for example, Gjendal et al. (2018) state that mice prefer not to stay in coloured shelters, and when they do choose, blue and amber colours are preferred over red. As my setup aims to encourage exploration, it is not clear if red arena walls would be more appropriate than, for example, blue.

# 2.2 Video processing

Video clips were selected for qualitative (Chapter 3 only) analysis based on the criteria developed by Grant et al. (2014). These criteria were: i) the head of the animal was clearly in the frame; ii) both sides of the face were visible; and iii) the head was level with the floor (no extreme pitch or yaw).

For quantitative analysis (Chapters 3 to 5) of whisker movements and locomotion in tasks involving objects, video clips were manually divided into pre-contact (PC) and during object contact (DC). Therefore, the clip selection criteria were amended to also include i) the animal must be travelling toward the object in the PC section of the clip; and ii) the whiskers were only contacting the object and not the vertical arena walls, in the DC section of the clip. In this way, general whisker movements could be assessed for motor behaviour in the PC section of the clip (like an open field), and object exploration could be assessed in the DC section of the clip. Only clips that had both considerable PC and DC segments (>0.2 s) were included in this guantitative analysis. The clips were tracked using the Automated Rodent Tracker, version 2 (ARTv2), which was validated as comparable in accuracy to other software and manual trackers on the market (Gillespie et al., 2019). This used image processing to automatically locate the snout, for whisker parameters, and the centroid of the animal, for *locomotion speed* calculations. A ruler was filmed at the start of each episode of data collection to enable a calibrated measure of locomotion speed in metres per second.

The whisker detector program (ARTv2) automatically found the orientation and position of the snout, and the whisker angles (relative to the midline of the head) of each identified whisker. The ARTv2 program is only able to detect whiskers and does not maintain the identity of the whisker between frames (i.e., tracking); rather, a mean angle is calculated from each frame using all detected whiskers. Larger whisker angles represent more forward-positioned whiskers. If whiskers are occluded (such as by whisker crossing) the software will not detect them; therefore, the number of whiskers detected can vary from frame to frame, with a total of 2–12 whiskers detected in each frame (with around 10–12 whiskers being usual, 5–6 on each side). Whisker detection was validated by manually inspecting the software annotations overlaid onto the video frames.

Our laboratory has been developing whisker trackers for many years: it started with a manual whisker tracker (Hewitt et al., 2016), then an automated rodent 43

head and body tracker (ART, Hewitt et al., 2018), and finally produced ARTv2 which tracks both body and whisker movements and was used in this thesis.

At the time of ARTv2's development, there were some trackers available, but they did not fit the needs of this experimental setup. Many of these existing trackers were, and still are, either setup for head-fixed, close-up whisker movements with no background changes, and not optimised for object contact (Whisk developed by Clack et al., 2012; WhiskEras developed by Betting et al., 2020; an automated homecage system developed by Bernhard et al., 2020; DeepLabCut used by Sehara et al., 2021) or tuned for body tracking and are thus not as accurate at tracking whiskers (EthoVision, Spink et al., 2001). My videos capture body and whisker movements, and as such needed a tracker which could handle both simultaneously.

When ARTv2 was in development, BWTT (Percon et al., 2011) was the best tracker available. However, it relied on a MATLAB interface which is not used by evey laboratory, and personal observations had shown that BWTT does not work as well when tracking whiskers contacting objects, which is a crucial part of my experiments. As part of ARTv2 development, it was validated against both BWTT and Whisk - ARTv2 was found to perform as well as BWTT and significantly better than Whisk (Gillespie et al., 2019). Overall, the open-source nature and the functionalities of the ARTv2 tracker made it the obvious choice for my studies. It is worth noting that these considerations do not mean that deep-learning methods such as DeepLabCut could not be used to train a neural network to work in studies such as mine.

#### 2.3 Whisker parameters

Mean whisker angle was calculated by taking the mean of all the detected whiskers on each side, on a frame-by-frame basis. The following variables were then calculated from the mean whisker angles: *mean angular position* (the average whisker angle), *amplitude*  $(2\sqrt{2^*}$  the standard deviation of whisker angles, to approximate the range of whisker movements), *asymmetry* (the difference in whisker angles between the left and right sides), and the *mean angular retraction* and *protraction speeds* (calculated as the average speed of all the backward (negative) and forward (positive) whisker movements, respectively).

For the first time in a mouse model study (Chapter 3), whisker spread was also quantified and continued to be measured throughout the thesis. Mean angular position and spread are considered the two most informative parameters to assess in whisking (Grant et al. 2009), thus this was an important quantitative metric to supplement the qualitative scoring of spread reduction that is usually measured. *Spread* was scored as the standard deviation of all tracked whisker angular positions. For mean angular position, amplitude, whisker speed and spread, the mean values for right and left whisker measurements were used to give one value per video clip.

Table 2-1 shows the definitions of these whisker variables and predicted PC-DC results based on previous observations. In short, it is expected to see whisker amplitude and asymmetry to all increase following a whisker contact, whereas whisker speeds and spread will decrease following a whisker contact. These behaviours all represent a pattern of the animal to increase the number of whisker contacts (increasing protraction angles and decreasing whisker spread), while ensuring light whisker contacts (increasing asymmetry) over a longer period, by reducing whisker speeds (Grant and Goss, 2022).

Table 2-1 Whisker parameters measured in this thesis, pre-contact (PC) and during-contact (DC). Predicted and defined contact-related modifications in whisker movements and related (PC-DC) values are summarised, based on Grant et al. (2018) and Simanaviciute et al. (2022). Arrows correspond to an  $\uparrow$  - increase or a  $\checkmark$  - decrease of that whisker variable during-contact, compared to pre-contact. Additionally, to these whisker parameters, locomotion speed was measured in mice (Chapters 3 and 5), but not in rats (Chapter 4).

Whisker parameter	Measurement (defined in PC stage)	Predicted contact-related changes from pre-contact (PC) to during-contact (DC) values	Resulting predicted (PC-DC) values
Locomotion speed (m/s)	Average speed of the centroid of the animal's body.	↓ Decrease locomotion speed during contact	Negative
Amplitude (degrees)	Standard Deviation of the angular positions, multiplied by 2x√2.	↑ Increase amplitude during contact	Negative

Asymmetry (degrees)	Left minus right whisker mean angular position.	↑ Increase asymmetry during contact	Negative
Retraction speed (degrees/s)	Average speed of whiskers moving backwards.	↓ Decrease retraction speed during contact	Positive
Protraction speed (degrees/s)	Average speed of whiskers moving forward.	↓ Decrease protraction speed during contact	Positive
Spread (degrees)	Measures how spread out the whiskers are on average (lower for whiskers bunched up close together, higher for whiskers that are more spread out). The standard deviations of all tracked whisker angular positions, excluding frames that have 0-1 tracked whiskers.	↓ Decrease spread during contact	Positive

# 2.4 Data analysis

I was always blind to the treatment groups throughout the video collection and analysis process. For object exploration studies, quantitative measures of the precontact (PC) whisker variables were first analysed. Then, the changes in whisker measurements during object exploration were analysed by subtracting the duringcontact measures from the pre-contact measures (PC-DC), as per Simanaviciute et al. (2022). This technique was shown to robustly reveal contact-related whisker control behaviours during object exploration and have been described in previous studies (Grant et al., 2018, Simanaviciute et al., 2022).

PC-DC was chosen, rather than DC-PC, as it is more intuitive to identify increases in variables during contact as positive, and reductions as negative; in addition, many of the whisking parameters were expected to be higher in PC. For the first time in a mouse model study (Chapter 3), a Linear Mixed-Effects Model was constructed using the package Ime4 (Bates et al., 2015) in R Studio (version 1.1.456) to analyse fixed effects on all PC and PC-DC whisker variables and continued to be used throughout the thesis.

Since the animals were filmed repeatedly exploring an object or the open field, and every subsequent video clip was different, with them acquiring increasingly more information about their environment, each video clip was treated as a within variable, but the degrees of freedom and F-statistics were approximated using a Kenward-Rodger's method (Kenward and Rodger, 1997). This method takes account of uneven and low sample numbers (such as from the 3-month-old 3xTg-AD animals). The degrees of freedom were automatically determined to be anywhere between the number of animals and number of video clips for each particular measurement analysed. Habituation effects within a single session are a potential confound which could be explored by future studies, especially if a different statistical approach is taken; however, this is unlikely to occur in the 10-15 min time frame.

P-values in pairwise comparisons were adjusted with Tukey's method. A significance value of p < 0.05 was used throughout. Significant pairwise comparison results are indicated on all figures with one or more asterisks (\*). The Kenward-Rodger's approximation is the preferred method of approximating degrees of freedom over Satterthwaite's method (Satterhwaite, 1946; Schaalje et al., 2002), and of reporting p-values over likelihood ratios and Wald t-values (Luke, 2017). It also produces acceptable Type 1 error rates in smaller sample sizes in models fitted with restricted maximum likelihood (Luke, 2017). Satterthwaite's method was also tested to approximate F-tests and degrees of freedom on the quantitative measures. Significant results identified from this method were less conservative than those calculated by the Kenward-Rodger's approach, therefore, increasing the confidence in the chosen statistical reporting. The video data that support the findings of this study will remain indefinitely available from the Manchester Metropolitan University upon request.

# CHAPTER 3 ABNORMAL WHISKER MOVEMENTS IN THE 3XTG-AD MOUSE MODEL OF ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

This chapter has been published as a peer-reviewed journal article and included in the appendix of the thesis:

Simanaviciute, U., Brown, R.E., Wong, A., Fertan, E. and Grant, R.A., 2022. Abnormal whisker movements in the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Genes, Brain and Behavior, 21(8), p.e12813.

#### Chapter summary

Alzheimer's disease is the most frequent form of dementia in elderly people. The triple transgenic (3xTg-AD) mouse model of Alzheimer's Disease is important in biomedical research as these mice develop both neuropathological and behavioural phenotypes. However, their behavioural phenotype is variable, with findings depending on the specific task, as well as the age and sex of the mice. Whisker movements reveal motor, sensory and cognitive deficits in mouse models of neurodegenerative disease. Therefore, whisker movements were examined in 3, 12.5 and 17-month-old female 3xTg-AD mice and their B6129S/F2 wildtype controls. Mice were filmed using a high-speed video camera (500 fps) in an open arena during a novel object exploration task. Genotype and age differences were found in mice exploring the arena prior to object contact. Prior to whisker contact, the 3-month-old 3xTg-AD mice had smaller whisker angles compared to the wildtype controls, suggesting an early motor phenotype in these mice. Pre-contact mean angular position at 3 months and whisking amplitude at 17 months of age differed between the 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice. During object contact 3xTg-AD mice did not reduce whisker spread as frequently as the wildtype mice at 12.5 and 17 months, which may suggest sensory or attentional deficits. This study shows that whisker movements are a powerful behavioural measurement tool for capturing behavioural deficits in mouse models that reveal complex phenotypes, such as the 3xTg-AD mouse model.

# 3.1 Introduction

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is an age-related progressive neurodegenerative disorder, and the most frequent form of dementia in elderly people (Fiest et al., 2016; Lane et al., 2018; Scheltens et al., 2021). Mouse models are essential for improving our understanding of the neural and behavioural changes that occur during AD progression, and to develop novel therapeutic targets (Scearce-Levie et al., 2020, Fertan et al., 2019a). The triple transgenic (3xTg-AD) mouse model is considered to have high validity as these mice develop both A<sup>β</sup> plaques and tau tangles (Oddo et al., 2003), as well as cognitive deficits (Filali et al., 2012; Jankowsky and Zheng 2017). The 3xTg-AD mice have altered performance on sensory tasks involving vision (King et al., 2018), olfaction (Roddick et al., 2016), and touch (Simanaviciute et al., 2020), as well as motor (Stover et al., 2015; Garvock-de Montbrun et al., 2019) and cognitive tasks (Stevens and Brown, 2015; Gür et al., 2019a; Fertan et al., 2019a, b). The 3xTg-AD mice generally perform worse than their wildtype controls in spatial learning and memory tests (Davis et al., 2013; Fertan et al., 2019b). They have a complex motor phenotype and have even shown an enhanced motor phenotype at 6 and 16 months of age (Stover et al., 2015; Garvock-de Montbrun et al., 2019). They show higher frailty measures (Kane et al., 2018) and have a shorter lifespan than their wildtype background strain. Male 3xTq-AD mice also have a shorter lifespan than females (Rae and Brown, 2015), as well as altered immune function and gene expression (Fertan et al., 2019c).

Behavioural studies have shown quite variable outcomes with these mice, especially in motor and cognitive tasks, such as spatial learning and memory (Fertan et al., 2019b; Stover et al., 2015). Age, sex, experimental apparatus and test design all impact the performance of 3xTg-AD mice during behavioural tasks (Kane et al., 2018; Fertan et al., 2019b; Gür et al., 2019b). Therefore, a better understanding of the behavioural manifestations that occur in this model of AD is needed. I suggest that measuring whisker movements in mouse models is an easy and robust way to capture elements of sensory, motor and cognitive deficits in 3xTg-AD mice.

Previous whisker-related studies in the 3xTg-AD mice show that 17-month-old females had smaller whisker angular positions and retraction speeds compared to wildtype controls when moving around their environment without object contacts

(Simanaviciute et al., 2020). However, it is important to measure these changes at different age points to assess when deficits related to AD can be detected and whether the disease progress can be measured. Moreover, whisker movements should be measured during object contact to better understand the sensory and cognitive deficits in whisker movements in this mouse model, considering that open field or pre-contact studies mostly inform about motor deficits. Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate whisker movements in the 3xTg-AD mouse model at different ages, before and during object exploration. The hypothesis of this work is that AD can be detected at an early age and monitored throughout the different life stages by measuring whisker movements. This study was designed based on the recommendations of Simanaviciute et al. (2020) as shown in Chapter 2 Figure 2-9. To detect sensory, motor, and/or cognitive deficits in the 3xTg-AD mouse model, I tested for all the suggested steps in Figure 2-9. Whisker movements were scored prior to object contact and during object exploration using both qualitative and quantitative measures to detect any deficits in whisking behaviour in the 3xTg-AD mice.

#### 3.2 Materials and methods

#### Animals

A total of 38 female mice were used in this cross-sectional study: 17 transgenic (3xTg-AD, JAX # 004807) mice (3 at 3 months, 6 at 12.5 months, 8 at 17 months) and 21 wildtype (B6129S/F2 WT, JAX# 101045) mice (8 at 3 months, 7 at 12.5 months, 6 at 17 months). All mice were born in-house at Dalhousie University from breeding pairs purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbour, Maine USA). The 3xTg-AD mice were engineered by injecting APPSwe and tauP301L transgenes into single-cell embryos of homozygous PS1M146V knock-in mice. This causes A $\beta$ 42 aggregation in the frontal cortex and the hippocampus at around 3 months of age, extracellular plaques in the frontal cortex and the hippocampus at 12 months of age (Oddo et al., 2003). This study spans these changes by observing mice from 3 to 17 months of age. Due to increased mortality in male mice by 17 months of age (Rae and Brown, 2015), only female mice were included in this study.

Mice were weaned at 21 days of age, their ears were punched for individual identification, and they were housed in same sex groups of 2–4 in  $30 \times 18 \times 12$  cm translucent polycarbonate cages with wire lids and microisolator tops. Cages contained woodchip bedding (Fresh Bed, Shaw Resources, Nova Scotia, Canada) and a 4×7 cm polyvinyl chloride tube for enrichment. They were kept in a climate controlled ( $22^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}C$ ) vivarium on a reversed 12-hour light:dark cycle with lights off at 09:45 am. All behavioural testing was completed during the dark (active) portion of the light:dark cycle. Mice had ad libitum access to Purina Laboratory Rodent Chow #5001 (Agribrand Purina, Strathroy, Ont., Canada) and tap water. Mice were treated in accordance with the regulations set forth by the Canadian Council on Animal Care and the experimental protocol was approved by the Dalhousie University Committee on Animal Care and the local ethics committee at Manchester Metropolitan University (reference no. 2019-11562-7372).

#### Experimental procedures

All experiments were conducted in the animal facility at Dalhousie University, Canada, in the same room with the same experimenter. A Pyrex glass bottle stopper (Figure 3-1A) was placed inside the arena as an object to explore. For all other methods which remain unchanged across the experimental Chapters, please refer to Chapter 2 General methods.

#### Video analysis: qualitative whisker scores

*Whisking* by mice was scored on a four-point scale from no whisking (0), to only retractions (1), only protractions (2) or both retractions and protractions (3). To qualitatively assess whisker behaviours and exploratory strategies, all of the video clips that met the above criteria were scored based on a system developed by Grant et al. (2012; 2018a), in which *contact-induced asymmetry*, *spread reduction*, and *head turning asymmetry* were measured (Mitchinson et al., 2011; Towal and Hartmann, 2006). When the mouse was contacting an object with their whiskers, *contact-induced asymmetry* (CIA) was scored on a three-point scale from absent (0), to showing increased contralateral protraction (1), reduced ipsilateral protraction (2) and both increased contralateral protraction and reduced ipsilateral protraction (3). Object-directed whisker *spread reduction* was scored as absent (0) or present (1) when whisker spread decreased following object contact. *Head* 

*turning asymmetry (HTA*) was scored as present (1) or absent (0), during a head turn.



Figure 3-1 **Data collection and video analysis.** Panel A shows the glass bottle stopper object used in the experiments; Panel B illustrates the filming set-up, the object size and location in relation to the Perspex box, and the distance between the arena and high-speed video camera. The field of view in light grey corresponds to the video still in c) showing an example video clip. ARTv2 LocoWhisk software was used to automatically locate the mouse centroid (red point, yellow line), nose tip (red point, blue line) and whiskers (coloured lines), and detects them on a frame-by-frame basis.

## Video analysis: quantitative analysis of locomotion and whisker movements

From 1 to 12 video clips per mouse were included in data analysis (Table 3-1), resulting in a total of 183 whole clips, all of which contained both PC and DC sections. PC sections ranged from 100 to 600 frames per clip, whereas DC

sections ranged from 100 to 625 frames. For the first time in a mouse model study, whisker spread was quantified.

Mouse ID	Age (months)	Genotype	No. of clips
3591	3	tg	10
3592	3	tg	3
3600	3	tg	1
3667	3	wt	7
3668	3	wt	2
3670	3	wt	6
3669	3	wt	8
3671	3	wt	2
3677	3	wt	11
3678	3	wt	5
3679	3	wt	12
3351	12.5	wt	4
3352	12.5	wt	3
3353	12.5	wt	4
3354	12.5	wt	5
3355	12.5	wt	1
3356	12.5	wt	7
3365	12.5	wt	7
3369	12.5	tg	4
3370	12.5	tg	1
3371	12.5	tg	1
3379	12.5	tg	2
3380	12.5	tg	1
3381	12.5	tg	3
3160	17	tg	3
3161	17	tg	5
3162	17	tg	6
3166	17	tg	6
3167	17	tg	5
3168	17	tg	5
3193	17	tg	7
3194	17	tg	7
3170	17	wt	8
3174	17	wt	7
3173	17	wt	3
3237	17	wt	5
3180	17	wt	5
3181	17	wt	1
38 total			183 total

Table 3-1 Number of video clips per mouse included in quantitative analyses. Genotypes abbreviated: wt – wildtype, tg – 3xTg-AD mice.

#### Statistical analyses

For all qualitative and quantitative whisker measurements, each variable was compared between wildtype and 3xTg-AD mouse, at each age (3, 12.5 and 17 months). Qualitative scores of whisking behaviours were analysed using the Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's post-hoc tests using GraphPad Prism 8 software, as these were on ordinal scales and not normally distributed.

For quantitative measures, for the first time in a mouse model study, a Linear Mixed-Effects Model was constructed to analyse the effect of age and genotype on all PC and PC-DC whisker variables. The model computed *F* tests on the fixed effects of age and genotype and provided p-values using a type III ANOVA, as well as interaction effects (although all the interaction effects were not significant and will not be referred to further in the main text, though, see Table 3-3 and Table 3-4 for more detail).

#### 3.3 Results

#### Qualitative whisker behaviour

The whisking scores from the qualitative measures show that, while all wildtype mice whisked, with median score 3, the 3xTg-AD mice had lower scores with medians of 2 - 3 (H (5, 183) = 39.9, p < 0.001; Figure 3-2A). At 12.5 months (p = 0.008) and 17 months (p < 0.001) of age the 3xTg-AD mice had significantly reduced whisking scores compared to the age-matched wildtypes, revealing more whisking movements which were only protractions in the 3xTg-AD mice, rather than the protractions and retractions associated with whisking in the wildtype mice. The whisking scores of the 17-month-old 3xTg-AD mice (p = 0.020). There were no significant differences in HTA scores between 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice (H (5, 101) = 6.74, p = 0.241, Figure 3-2B). During object exploration there were significant differences in spread reduction (H (5, 183) = 20.6, p < 0.001) and CIA (H (5, 183) = 26.4, p < 0.001) between 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice. The 12.5-month-old 3xTg-AD mice were also lower than the values than their wildtype controls (p = 0.008), and these were also lower than the values

for 3-month (p = 0.003) and 17-month (p = 0.002) 3xTg-AD mice (Figure 3-2C). The CIA scores of the 3-month-old wildtype mice were significantly higher than the age-matched 3xTg-AD mice (p = 0.008) and the 12.5-month wildtype mice (p < 0.001, Figure 3-2D). Detailed statistical information for every comparison in qualitative analyses can be found in Table 3-2.



Figure 3-2 Qualitative whisker behaviour scores for (A) whisking, (B) head turning asymmetry (HTA), (C) spread reduction, (D) contact-induced asymmetry (CIA). The bars indicate the proportion of clips where the behaviour occurred or did not occur, with confidence intervals. † indicates n=3 mice.

			5		1	,1		<i>,</i> <b>1</b>		
	Main effect df <sub>1</sub> = 5, df <sub>2</sub> , H, p	3mon Wt vs 3mon Tg Z, p	12.5mon Wt vs 12.5mon Tg Z, p	17mon Wt vs 17mon Tg Z, p	3mon Wt vs 12.5mon Wt Z, p	3mon Wt vs 17mon Wt Z, p	12.5mon Wt vs 17mon Wt Z, p	3mon Tg vs 12.5mon Tg Z, p	3mon Tg vs 17mon Tg Z, p	12.5mon Tg vs 17mon Tg Z, p
Whisking scores	183 39.90 <0.001 ***	1.40 1.000	3.47 0.008 **	4.51 <0.001 ***	2.91 0.054	2.25 0.370	0.57 1.000	2.40 0.247	3.18 0.022 *	0.010 1.000
CIA	183 26.40 <0.001 ***	3.47 0.008 **	0.14 1.000	0.20 1.000	4.21 <0.001 ***	1.75 1.000	2.16 0.467	0.36 1.000	2.26 0.360	1.69 1.000
Spread reduction	183 20.60 <0.001 ***	0.28 1.000	3.48 0.008 **	0.23 1.000	0.89 1.000	0.28 1.000	0.54 1.000	3.73 0.003 **	0.65 1.000	3.89 0.002 **
НТА	101 6.74 0.241	0.53 1.000	0.17 1.000	1.80 1.000	0.81 1.000	1.42 1.000	2.00 0.683	1.19 1.000	0.80 1.000	0.62 1.000

Table 3-2 **Summary statistics for qualitative data.** Kruskal-Wallis test and Dunn's post-hoc. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *$ .  $p \le 0.01 = **$ .  $p \le 0.001 = ***$ .

#### Pre-contact (PC) quantitative whisker and locomotion movements

For pre-contact whisker amplitude, there were significant main effects of both genotype (F (1, 29.36) = 12.43, p = 0.001) and age (F (2, 27.08) = 4.06, p = 0.029). Specifically, pre-contact whisker amplitude was lower in 3xTg-AD mice than in the age-matched wildtype mice (Figure 3-3A). Pairwise tests show that these differences were significant in 17-month-old mice (p = 0.013). These differences can also be seen in the pre-contact whisker traces in Figure 3-4. Furthermore, there was a difference in pre-contact whisker amplitude between 3 and 17-month wildtype mice (p = 0.042) as whisker amplitude increased with age.

For the pre-contact whisker angular position, there were significant main effects of genotype (F (1, 32.82) = 20.38, p < 0.001) and age (F (2, 32.66) = 6.96, p = 0.003). The pre-contact whisker angular position was consistently lower in the 3xTg-AD mice compared to the wildtype mice (Figure 3-3B), especially at 3 months of age (p = 0.040). These results are supported by the video stills (Figure 3-5) and the whisker traces (Figure 3-4), where pre-contact mean whisker angles were lower in the 3xTg-AD mice than the wildtype mice. Wildtype mice at 3

months of age also had larger pre-contact mean angular positions than wildtype mice at 12.5 months (p = 0.038) and 17 months of age (p = 0.006).

In the pre-contact whisker spread, there were significant main effects of genotype (F (1, 32.83) = 10.62, p = 0.003) and age (F 2, (32.67) =5.61, p = 0.008). However, pairwise tests did not reveal any significant differences (Figure 3-3C). There were no significant differences in pre-contact whisker movements in locomotion speed, asymmetry, retraction speed and protraction speed (Figure 3-6). Detailed statistical information for every comparison in PC quantitative analyses can be found in Table 3-3.



Figure 3-3 **Mean angular position, amplitude and spread are affected by genotype and age.** All significant differences are between 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice, unless otherwise specified. Panel A: Significant age and genotype effects were found in pre-contact mean angular whisker positions. Pairwise comparisons showed a significant difference in the 3-month age group. Panel B: Significant age and genotype effects were found in pre-contact whisker amplitudes. Pairwise comparisons showed a significant difference in the 3-month age group. Panel B: Significant age and genotype effects were found in pre-contact whisker amplitudes. Pairwise comparisons showed a significant difference in the 17-month age group between 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice, as well as between 3 and 17-month wildtype mice. Panel C: Significant age and genotype effects were found in pre-contact whisker spread. Age and genotype effects were found in contact-related (PC-DC) spread. Pairwise comparisons showed a significant difference in the 17-month age group in (PC-DC) spread as well as between 12.5 and 17-month wildtype mice. The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with standard error bars. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *$ ,  $p \le 0.01 = **$ ,  $p \le 0.001 = ***$ . Data points show mean values for individual mice, indicated by circles for 3-month mice, squares for 12.5-month mice, triangles for 17-month mice. PC = pre-contact, DC = during contact, PC-DC = contact related behaviours.  $\dagger$  indicates n=3 mice.



Figure 3-4 **Example whisker angle traces of wildtype and 3xTg-AD mice at each age.** Raw data points are shown in fine lines, and smoothed data (2nd order, 15 neighbours) are presented in thicker lines. Red colour traces are from the whiskers on the left side, and blue from the right side. 0 msec is the point of contact on the x-axis; therefore, left from the Y-axis is PC and right from the Y-axis is DC.



Figure 3-5 Whiskers are more spread out in 3xTg-AD mice during object contact. Video stills of representative mice are shown contacting the object, where whiskers are at maximum protraction. Whiskers of the wildtype mouse are positioned more forward towards the object and less spread out, compared to the 3xTg-AD mouse, especially at 3 and 17 months.



Figure 3-6 Other locomotion and whisker variables tested: (A) locomotion speed, (B) asymmetry, (C) retraction speed and (D) protraction speed. There were no significant effect of age or genotype on any of these variables. The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with standard error bars. Data points show mean values for individual mice, indicated by circles for 3-month mice, squares for 12.5-month mice, triangles for 17-month mice. PC = pre-contact, DC = during contact, PC-DC = contact related behaviours. † indicates n=3 mice.

Table 3-3 Summary statistics for quantitative pre-contact data. Linear mixed effect model and pairwise comparisons with Tukey's adjustment. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *$ ,  $p \le 0.01 = **, p \le 0.001 = ***$ .

PC	Genotype	Age	Genotype:	Post-hoc:	Post-hoc:	Post-hoc:
	effect	effect	Age	Tg vs Wt	Tg vs Wt	Tg vs Wt
			interaction	3mon	12.5mon	17mon
	df <sub>1</sub> = 1,	df <sub>1</sub> = 2,	df <sub>1</sub> = 2,	df,		
	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	t-ratio,	df,	df,
	F,	F,	F,	р	t-ratio,	t-ratio,
	р	р	р		р	р
Locomotion	33.09	32.99	32.99	30.40	42.60	27.80
speed	0.079	0.88	0.36	-0.21	0.86	-0.16
(m/s)	0.780	0.426	0.697	1.000	0.954	1.000
Amplitude	29.36	27.08	27.08	5.10	66.30	25.70
(degrees)	12.43	4.06	1.57	-0.54	-2.60	-3.27
	0.001	0.029	0.227	0.994	0.113	0.033
	**	*				*
Mean	32.82	32.66	32.66	28.90	44.90	27.20
angular	20.38	6.96	0.61	-3.15	-2.21	-2.42
position	< 0.001	0.003	0.549	0.040	0.255	0.184
(degrees)	***	**		*		
Asymmetry	29.65	27.75	27.75	16.30	63.70	25.60
(degrees)	0.55	0.30	0.28	0.48	-0.12	1.13
	0.463	0.743	0.754	0.996	1.000	0.866
Retraction	31.01	30.34	30.34	21.70	54.70	25.80
speed	0.74	2.37	1.01	0.66	-1.18	-1.15
(degrees/s)	0.398	0.110	0.377	0.985	0.845	0.854
Protraction	29.94	28.34	28.34	17.30	61.60	25.60
speed	0.011	2.54	2.92	1.72	-0.59	-1.69
(degrees/s)	0.916	0.097	0.071	0.538	0.992	0.551

Spread	32.83	32.67	32.67	28.90	44.9	27.20
(degrees)	10.62	5.61	3.22	2.91	-0.20	3.05
	0.003	0.008	0.053	0.069	1.000	0.051
	**	**				

#### Contact-related (PC-DC) quantitative whisker and locomotor movements

Both wildtype and 3xTg-AD mice showed robust changes in whisker movements in response to object contact at all ages as indicated by a reduction in locomotion speed (Figure 3-6A), retraction and protraction speeds (Figure 3-6C and D), and an increase in whisker asymmetry (Figure 3-6B) and amplitude (Figure 3-3A) following an object contact (PC-DC). The whisker traces (Figure 3-4) show this increase in asymmetry as the left (red) and right (blue) traces separate following object contact in all examples. Since these behaviours were robust in all mice, there were no significant effects of genotype or age in the contact-related (PC-DC) variables of whisker amplitude (Figure 3-3A), whisker angular position (Figure 3-3B), locomotion speed, whisker asymmetry, retraction speed and protraction speed (all Ps>0.05, Figure 3-6A-D). However, in (PC-DC) whisker spread, there were significant main effects of genotype (F (1, 29.79) = 4.60, p = 0.040) and age (F (2, 28.04) = 6.79, p = 0.004) as (PC-DC) whisker spread was significantly higher in the 3xTg-AD mice than the wildtype mice at 17 months of age (p = 0.041; Figure 3-3C and Figure 3-5). There was also a significant difference between 12.5month and 17-month transgenic mice, with the 17-month transgenic mice reducing their spread more upon contact (p = 0.007) than the 12.5-month mice. Detailed statistical information for every comparison in PC-DC quantitative analyses can be found in Table 3-4.

Table 3-4 Summary statistics for quantitative contact-related (PC-DC) data. Linear mixed effect model and pairwise comparisons with Tukey's adjustment. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *, p \le 0.01 = **$ .

PC-DC	Genotype	Age	Genotype:	Post-hoc:	Post-hoc:	Post-hoc:
	effect	effect	Age	Tg vs Wt	Tg vs Wt	Tg vs Wt
			interaction	3mon	12.5mon	17mon
	df <sub>1</sub> = 1,	df <sub>1</sub> = 2,				
	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>1</sub> = 2,	df,	df,	df,
	F,	F,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	t-ratio,	t-ratio,	t-ratio,
	р	р	F,	р	р	р
			р			
Locomotion	32.36	32.10	32.10	26.70	47.80	26.60
speed	1.07	0.25	0.020	0.49	0.73	0.59
(m/s)	0.309	0.777	0.981	0.996	0.977	0.991
Amplitude	30.19	28.82	28.82	18.30	60.00	25.60
(degrees)	0.014	2.49	0.57	0.84	-0.16	-0.64
	0.907	0.101	0.572	0.956	1.000	0.986
Mean	32.61	32.41	32.41	27.90	46.30	26.90
angular	0.028	3.12	1.54	0.75	0.66	-1.46
position	0.869	0.058	0.230	0.973	0.986	0.691
(degrees)						
Asymmetry	32.04	31.68	31.68	25.40	49.60	26.40
(degrees)	0.66	1.22	0.21	0.078	0.38	1.13
	0.421	0.308	0.815	1.000	0.999	0.866
Retraction	29.97	28.40	28.40	17.40	61.40	25.60
speed	0.49	0.97	2.46	2.02	-1.12	0.37
(degrees/s)	0.489	0.391	0.104	0.369	0.871	0.999
Protraction	29.22	26.71	26.71	14.50	67.70	25.70
speed	0.50	0.48	1.68	1.80	-0.17	-0.57
(degrees/s)	0.485	0.624	0.206	0.493	1.000	0.992

Spread	29.79	28.04	28.04	16.80	62.70	25.60
(degrees)	4.60	6.79	2.00	1.26	-0.16	3.16
	0.040	0.004	0.155	0.800	1.000	0.041
	*	**				*

# 3.4 Discussion

Whisker tracking is not directly translatable to humans and one particular type of AD-like mutation in mice is not a full representation of that disease in humans. Thus, no comparisons to human symptoms will be made in this discussion. As hypothesized, the 3xTg-AD mice differed from age-matched wildtype mice in their whisker movements, both prior to and during object exploration. Specifically, I observed significant genotype differences in pre-contact whisking scores, mean angular position and whisking amplitude, as well as during-contact whisker spread, spread reduction scores and contact-induced asymmetry scores. I suggest that these observations may correspond to a whisker motor phenotype in 3xTg-AD mice from 3 months of age and a sensory or attentional deficit, associated with contact-related whisker movements, at 12.5 and 17 months of age.

## Pre-contact movements

Prior to any object contact, the whisking movements of the 3xTg-AD mice differed from the wildtype mice. The qualitative whisking scores showed that 12.5 and 17-month 3xTg-AD mice did not always make full retraction movements during whisking compared to the wildtypes (Figure 3-2A). Whisker tracking revealed that mean angular positions of 3xTg-AD mice were consistently lower than the wildtype mice, and significantly so at 3 months (Figure 3-3B). Moreover, pre-contact amplitude was significantly lower in 17-month-old 3xTg-AD mice compared to the wildtypes. These findings suggest the presence of a motor phenotype in 3xTg-AD mice, from perhaps as early as 3 months of age. However, the exact age of this phenotype is unclear from this data and is likely to depend on the exact measure, since it varies between the measures of whisking, whisker angle and amplitude.

The 3xTg-AD mice are known for complex age-related motor abnormalities. The 3xTg-AD mice often perform better than non-transgenic mice in rotarod tasks (Blanchard et al., 2010 at 6-7 months; Filali et al., 2012 at 12-14 months; Chen et al., 2014 at 6 months; Stover et al., 2015 at 6 months; Garvock-de Montbrun et al., 2019 at 16 months) and have longer stride lengths during locomotion (Stover et al., 2015). However, other studies have shown that the stride length (Setogawa et al., 2014; Filali et al., 2012), walking speed (Setogawa et al., 2014; Stover et al., 2015) and rotarod performance (Sterniczuk et al., 2010; Setogawa et al., 2014) can also be unaffected in 3xTg-AD mice. Indeed, locomotion speed was not significantly affected in these mice. However, it is worth noticing that locomotion speed was only measured in several frames as the mouse approached an object, therefore, it is not comparable to the gait analysis or rotarod and balance beam set-ups used by other studies. Some studies have even shown a reduced motor phenotype in 3xTg-AD mice. For instance, Garvock-de Montbrun et al. (2019) showed that, despite the enhanced rotarod performance, 3xTg-AD mice at 16 months of age display a reduction in walking distance and speed compared to the wildtype mice in a balance beam task, suggesting an age-related decline in motor performance. Orta-Salazar et al. (2019) also found a reduction in locomotion distance and time in 11-month 3xTg-AD mice in an open field test. Overall, no evidence of an enhanced motor phenotype in the 3xTg-AD mice was observed. In fact, these results are more in favour of a reduced motor phenotype, starting from reduced whisker angles at 3 months, and then seeing changes in whisking capacity at 12.5 and 17 months, later also showing up as reduced whisker amplitude at 17 months. One issue in the analysis of motor phenotypes in the 3xTg-AD mice is the background strain used. Background strains can have a significant effect on behavioural phenotypes (Fertan et al., 2021) and the 3xTg-AD mice are available from the JAX Labs on three different backgrounds: B6;129 (Stock No. 004807), 129S4 (Stock No. 0319881), and C57BL/6J (Stock No. 033930). Recent research (Castillo-Mariqueo and Giménez-Llort, 2021) suggests that the motor phenotype of the 3xTg-AD mice on the C57Bl6 background differs from that of the mice on the B6129 background that was used here.

I observed variation in whisker movements between wildtype mice of different ages. Specifically, pre-contact whisker amplitude was significantly higher in 17month wildtype mice compared to 3-month wildtype mice, and pre-contact mean angular position was significantly higher in 3-month wildtype mice compared to older mice. Very young mice (10-13-days-old) also have smaller whisker amplitudes than weaned (21-days-old) mice (Grant et al., 2012). Therefore, there might be a tendency for pre-contact whisker amplitude to increase with age in wildtype mice. Although studies of age-related changes in whisker movements are few, Garland et al. (2018) show a visible amplitude increase in older wildtype mice when testing Q175, Hdh Q150 and Hdh Q250 mouse models of Parkinson's disease (all mice tested at 10, 20 and 90 weeks, Hdh Q150 and Hdh Q250 mice also tested at 55 weeks; amplitude increasing at every age). They also show decreasing mean angular position in wildtype mice when testing the R6/2 CAG250 mice (decreasing from 8 to 10 weeks and from 12 to 18 weeks). However, these age-related changes were not statistically evaluated in their work. Investigating the changes in whisker movements over an animal's lifecycle would be a useful addition to this work.

Data from 17-month-old mice analysed by Simanaviciute et al. (2020) agreed with this study, as they found that 17-month-old female 3xTg-AD mice had lower whisker angular positions than wildtype mice. However, they also found that retraction speed was significantly lower in the 3xTg-AD mice. While retraction speed was consistently lower in 3xTg-AD mice compared to the wildtype mice (Figure 3-6C) in this study, this difference was not statistically significant. Simanaviciute et al. (2020) used per-clip measures for statistical analyses, whereas here a stricter linear mixed effect model was used. In statistical analyses, treating every trial as an independent data point can lead to pseudo-repetition (Lazic et al., 2018) and inflate the power of the statistical test. Therefore, per-trial, or, in this case, per-clip measures should not be used as independent data points, despite this often occurring in animal studies, especially where the sample size drops due to unforeseen experimental circumstances or data quality issues. In this case, it is recommended to use a mixed-effect model that automatically

determines degrees of freedom for the dataset instead of using standard parametric and non-parametric tests (Boisgontier and Cheval, 2016; Judd et al., 2012), which has informed the approach used here.

#### Contact-related movements

The 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice at all ages made robust object contact-related whisker movements, as indicated by a decrease in whisker speeds, spread, and increased amplitude and asymmetry following whisker contact (Figure 3-3B and 4C for amplitude and spread; Figure 3-6 for all other parameters). Contact-related spread was affected in the 3xTg-AD mice, compared to the wildtype control mice. In the qualitative scoring, 12.5-month 3xTg-AD mice reduced whisker spread following contact less often than the controls. In the quantitative tracking, contact-related whisker spread was significantly higher in the 3xTg-AD mice than wildtypes at 17 months. 17-month 3xTg-AD mice also reduced their whisker spread following contact nore than 12.5-month 3xTg-AD mice. It is unknown exactly what the sensory implications are of reducing whisker spread following contact, although it seems to play a role in increasing the number of whiskers contacting an object (Grant et al., 2009). Why there is a difference in age in the spread reduction upon contact is not clear and demonstrates the need for more research in this field.

While some of these contact-related changes tend to be robust across animals (Simanaviciute et al., 2020), some are still relatively variable and do not occur on every object contact. For example, 3-month-old wildtype mice show CIA significantly more often than other wildtype or 3xTg-AD mice (Figure 3-2D), and HTA seems to be quite variable (Figure 3-2B). The reason for this is unknown, although it is likely due to variation in behaviour and motivation between individuals. Spread reduction, HTA and CIA have all been associated with orienting of the whiskers towards a region in space or an object, and hence with the animal's attention (Mitchinson and Prescott, 2013). Contact-related whisker movement deficits observed in whisker spread and spread reduction could, therefore, imply an attentional deficit in 3xTg-AD mice. Attentional deficits have previously been documented in these mice in a visual task (Romberg et al., 2011),

although in any sensory task it is challenging to separate attentional and sensory deficits (Romberg et al., 2011). Overall, the results suggest that contact-related sensory or attentional whisker movement deficits are likely to be present in 12.5 and 17-month-old 3xTg-AD mice.

#### Placing whisker movements into findings from other tests

I further compare these findings with those of other studies involving behavioural and cognitive tasks in Table 3-5. Overall, in this study, and those of Stevens and Brown (2015) and Fertan et al. (2019), there is an early behavioural phenotype at 2-4 months old. This age group shows the most deficits in working memory and spatial learning (Stevens and Brown 2015; Fertan et al. 2019), despite being at the early stage of Alzheimer's disease. The current study shows contact-related whisker movement differences at this age too - especially in contact-induced asymmetry scores and asymmetry, which may be associated with attentional or cognitive disturbances. An early motor phenotype was also described, with precontact whisking amplitude significantly affected in these young mice. The 6month group, which was not tested here, did not show any differences in the previous studies (Stevens and Brown 2015; Fertan et al. 2019b); however, they observed some significant differences in working memory and spatial learning in the 12–13-month-old mice (Table 3-5). Differences were also observed in contactrelated spread reduction and in pre-contact whisking scores at this age, perhaps indicating both motor and cognitive deficits at this age. Surprisingly, deficits observed in 12–13-month-old mice were not maintained in older animals at 15 months in the studies by Stevens and Brown (2015). The 15-month-old animals were not tested here; however, at 17 months, mice showed differences in both contact related and pre-contact measures, with whisking scores being maintained from the 12-13-month-old group. This suggests that in later stages of the disease, whisker movement measurements might be a better test to adopt than other, more standard behavioural tasks.

Table 3-5 The comparison between the findings in whisker movements of this study and other behavioural and cognitive studies conducted in the same laboratory.  $\dagger$  - 3-month 3xTg-AD group n = 3, number of clips is 14. Asterisk (\*) indicates assessment of working memory and spatial learning. Dash (-) – not applicable which means it was not tested, as opposed to n.s. which indicate that the measure was tested but was not significantly different from controls. A tick ( $\checkmark$ ) corresponds to significant differences in the results.

Measure where 3xTg female mice show differences from controls	2-4mon	6-7mon	12-13mon	15mon	17mon	Reference
More working memory errors in radial maze	~	n.s	$\checkmark$	n.s	-	Stevens and Brown 2015
More reference memory errors in radial maze	✓	n.s	n.s	n.s	-	Stevens and Brown 2015
Less correct entries in the first four arms in radial maze	~	n.s	n.s	n.s	-	Stevens and Brown 2015
More total arm entries in radial maze	~	n.s	n.s	n.s	-	Stevens and Brown 2015
More errors in hard Hebb-Williams maze*	n.s	n.s	$\checkmark$	-	-	Fertan et al., 2019c
Shorter latencies in easy Hebbs-Williams mazes*	✓	n.s	$\checkmark$	-	-	Fertan et al., 2019c
Shorter latencies in intermediate Hebbs- Williams mazes*	✓	n.s	n.s	-	-	Fertan et al., 2019c
Reduced whisking scores	n.s	-	$\checkmark$	-	$\checkmark$	Current study results
Lower spread reduction scores	n.s	-	$\checkmark$	-	n.s	Current study results
Lower contact-induced asymmetry scores	<b>√</b> †	-	n.s	-	n.s	Current study results
Lower pre-contact whisker amplitude	n.s	-	n.s	-	$\checkmark$	Current study results
Lower pre-contact whisker angular position	<b>√</b> †	-	n.s	-	n.s	Current study results
Higher during-contact whisker spread	n.s	-	n.s	-	$\checkmark$	Current study results

#### Limitations and future recommendations

After the data selection process using previously validated criteria, only three mice could be included in the 3-month 3xTg-AD group. This sample size is low; however, the data was kept with additional indication for a low sample size in figures and figure captions. Moreover, the statistical method selected is appropriate to make the most of the uneven sample sizes. The difficulty of including more clips from this group might indicate that the 3-month 3xTg-AD mice behave differently from the other groups, since their clips did not often fit the selection criteria, while a lot more clips were able to be included from their control group. This could mean that the data collection method needs to be refined to focus on collecting more clips from the young mice, given that in the previous studies from this laboratory (Stevens and Brown 2015; Fertan et al., 2019c) as well as this study, the young female mice seem to be affected the most.

Following recommendations from Fertan et al. (2019b), I observed the mice at different time points to examine age-related behavioural changes. However, since behavioural measures can be relatively variable, observing the same mice at each time point in a longitudinal study might be more beneficial than observing different groups of mice in a cross-sectional study. Nevertheless, it is rather difficult to conduct such a study, especially to 17 months, due to the increased mortality rates in older 3xTg-AD mice (Rae and Brown, 2015). In addition, repeat testing of the same animal can impact behavioural tasks, as animals will habituate and learn tasks over time, which may affect their behaviour (van Heusden et al., 2021). Indeed, it has been previously shown that a mouse model of anxiety has different whisker movements to control mice (Grant et al., 2016); therefore, an altered sensitivity to stress is likely to affect this study's results. The lack of automation of the set-up may also confound testing over different ages, while in this study all data was collected over a period of just a few days, with all the equipment kept the same throughout.

As there are clear sex differences in the behaviour (Fertan et al., 2019b; Kane et al., 2018) as well as in the vasculature of 3xTg-AD mice (progressive from 4-6
months of age, Jullienne et al., 2022), and we know that whisker movements differ between sexes in other mouse models (Garland et al., 2018; Grant et al., 2018b; Simanaviciute et al., 2020), investigating whisker movements in male 3xTg-AD mice at different ages would be beneficial. It would also be interesting to investigate whether the amyloid quantity in the barrel cortex is related to whisking impairment in 3xTg-AD mice. It has been previously demonstrated that models of cortical development disorders have whisker movement deficits (in Robo3R3–5-CKO and RIM-DKOSert models), suggesting that cortical differences can affect whisker movements (Simanaviciute et al., 2020). However, previous studies have also shown differences in whisker movements in non-neurodegenerative mouse models (MCAO model of stroke and heterozygous Reeler mice, Simanaviciute et al., 2020), which would suggest that whisking impairment is not specifically related to neurodegeneration and amyloid levels in the cortex, but likely caused by many changes in the brain.

In agreement with Simanaviciute et al. (2020), measuring whisker movements is a quick, robust and semi-automated way to capture motor, sensory and cognitive behaviours in rodents. While the qualitative scoring of whisking, spread reduction, CIA and HTA were valuable at assessing whisker behaviour, they require manual scoring and are relatively time-consuming to complete. I wanted to assess whether measuring spread automatically was a more sensitive method than manual scoring, and it has shown differences at more advanced disease stages than were found by manual scoring. Therefore, it might be worth developing ARTv2 to measure these qualitative scorings automatically – developments I describe in Section 3.5. Developing quantitative data and better analytical methods will improve the robustness of repeated testing. These findings differed from Simanaviciute et al. (2020), probably due to the difference in statistical methods. Using a linear mixed effect model is suggested for future analyses (package lme4 in R-studio, Bates et al., 2015) as was done here, which makes the most of smaller and uneven sample numbers, without assuming per-clip or per-trial independence. Small improvements in automation and analysis techniques will also help to develop whisker movements as a powerful behavioural measurement

tool, with particular benefits in capturing behavioural deficits in mouse models that reveal complex or subtle phenotypes, such as in the 3xTg-AD mouse model. Indeed, the barrel cortex has been found to contain amyloid plaques in several mouse models of AD, including Tg19959 mice at 3 months (Tampellini et al., 2010), APP transgenic mice Tg2576 at 17.5 months (Bero et al., 2011) and APP/PS1 mice at 19.5-21 months of age (Beker et al., 2012). To understand the relationship between amyloid levels and whisker movement impairments, it would be beneficial to study whisking in these mouse models.

## 3.5 Method development: qualitative measure replacement

Video clips which pass the criteria developed by Grant et al. (2014) are normally scored for whisking, contact-induced asymmetry, spread reduction, head turning asymmetry and look-ahead behaviours (Table 3-6), as per recommendations in Simanaviciute et al. (2020). As the scoring is done manually for each video clip, it is a time-consuming task. Therefore, these measures should be made more automated and quantitative. To adapt this scoring system, I systematically examine every qualitative measure to better understand which of these measures provide additional information to the quantitative measurements already in place, and whether those selected measures can be automated and quantified.

Whisking (Grant, 2012)	Contact-induced asymmetry (CIA, Grant, 2012)	Spread reduction (Grant, 2012)	Head turning asymmetry (HTA, (Grant, 2012)	'Look-ahead' (Arkley et al., 2014)
(0) No whisking	(0) None	(0) Absent	(0) Absent	(0) Absent
(1) Retraction	(1) Increased contralateral	(1)	(1) Whisker asymmetry before	(1) Push-forward whiskers at
only	protraction	Reduce	a head turn	higher speeds
(2) Protraction only	(2) Reduced protraction ipsilateral to the contact	spread on contact	1	
(3) Retraction and protraction	(3) Both contralateral and ipsilateral			

Table 3-6 **Qualitative scoring behaviours and score description.** CIA and HTA are only scored in clips of object exploration.

# 'Look-ahead' and HTA

During the process of qualitative scoring of the 3xTg-AD mouse data set, it was difficult to find video clips that demonstrate the 'look-ahead' and HTA behaviours. It is not too surprising, considering that 'look-ahead' requires high-speed running behaviour and, so far, has only been shown in rats (Arkley et al., 2014) and European dormouse (*Muscardinus avellanarius*), Etruscan shrew (*Suncus etruscus*), wood-mouse (*Apodemus sylvaticus*) and yellow-necked mouse (*Apodemus flavicollis*) species (Grant et al., 2018a), but not in house mouse (undetected in Simanaviciute et al., 2020). The current protocol of object exploration encourages mice to approach the object and that naturally slows them down, therefore, 'look-ahead' will not be present in these clips. It is more likely to detect 'look-ahead' behaviour in the open field clips, but the probability is still low as only a little over a second of footage is collected, and mice are not trained to run in the current set up – unlike the protocol of Arkley et al. (2014), who trained rats to run around a looped experimental arena.

Similarly, HTA is not encouraged by this protocol, as the focus is placed on capturing mice walking straight to the object rather than turning. Both 'look-ahead' and HTA were scored prior to contact in Simanaviciute et al. (2020) in a wide range of mouse models, yet these were removed from their analyses due to being not common. There were no occurrences of 'look-ahead' and no differences in HTA found in the 3xTg-AD mice compared to the wildtype mice. Therefore, I suggest that 'look-ahead' and HTA are not the most important measures to focus on while using the current protocol of whisker tracking and do not warrant the effort of manual scoring or quantification of these behaviours. From now on 'look-ahead' and HTA are not included in the analyses within this thesis.

#### Spread reduction

This 3xTg-AD dataset is the first time where spread was fully quantified in the whisker detecting software ARTv2 (Gillespie et al., 2019). Spread reduction behaviour can then be quantified by calculating (PC-DC) spread, which shows the change in spread from pre-contact to during-contact. In the 3xTg-AD mice data set, most mice consistently reduced spread upon contact (the expected behaviour, 95.58% of clips) and, therefore, spread reduction score 0 (not reduced, n=8 clips) and 1 (reduced, n=173 clips) cannot be statistically compared. However, I am confident in quantifying spread reduction this way, because it shows that 12.5month mice are not always reducing the spread compared to other ages - Figure 3-7, in agreement with the qualitative data in Figure 3-2. Interestingly, quantifying spread reduction reveals that there might not be such a significant difference between the 12.5-month wildtype and transgenic mice, as suggested by manual scoring in Figure 3-2C, and perhaps also a stronger difference between genotypes at 17 months. However, it is difficult to know with this data set having so few clips where spread was not reduced. It would be beneficial to test if the (PC-DC) spread corresponds to the spread reduction scores in another data set where spread reduction occurs less; perhaps in a DAT knockout mouse model of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder, which was found to exhibit hyperactivity in an open field as well as working memory and reversal learning deficits (Kantak, 2022). Studying

whisker movements in DAT knockout mice and investigating spread reduction measure could help to distinguish between attentional and memory deficits found by other behavioural tasks.



77

Figure 3-7 (A) (PC-DC) spread reduction by score compared to (B) (PC-DC) spread means **per mouse.** In (A), bars consist of (PC-DC) spread separated for spread reduction score 0 and 1 and n number indicates the number of clips in each score group. In (B), bars show the mean (PC-DC) spread per mouse with individual data points. Error bars show standard error of the mean in both graphs.

If spread is reduced upon contact (score 1), (PC-DC) spread values will be higher and positive, while if spread is not reduced (score 0), (PC-DC) spread is expected to be closer to 0 or even negative. Figure 3-7A shows that (PC-DC) spread is negative or very close to 0 in at least 7 out of 10 video clips where spread was scored as not reduced, and all score 1 values are positive. The same (PC-DC) spread, but per mouse, is visualised in Figure 3-7B, demonstrating a quantitative approach to studying spread reduction. This figure shows the few mice that did not reduce spread or reduced the spread only slightly were from the 12.5-month group, in both wildtype and transgenic mice. I recommend quantifying spread reduction as (PC-DC) spread and graphing the values per mouse, which allows to see any outliers and the exact number of mice in the group that are consistently not reducing the spread.

#### Contact-induced asymmetry

CIA can be a useful measure to score as seen in the 3xTg-AD dataset (Figure 3-2 for CIA, Figure 3-6 for quantitative asymmetry) as well as in Simanaviciute et al. (2020) that there can be differences in CIA which are not picked up in the quantified asymmetry measure. However, CIA is more complicated than other qualitative measures because not every contact can be scored for this behaviour. To determine CIA score, the contact must be unilateral (Mitchinson et al., 2007, 2011), meaning it needs to clearly come from one side rather than from straight ahead. However, I observe that contacts tend to be bilateral in most cases (53%). Therefore, a lot of the clips collected are not suitable for CIA scoring, because the set up encourages clip collection when mice to go straight to the object. Since CIA is contact-related behaviour and can only be scored in the object exploration task, there are generally not enough clips to reliably perform statistical analysis on, whether that is analysing qualitative scores or trying to quantify CIA. Moreover,

quantifying CIA requires additional input of the side of contact to determine whether the contralateral angle increased and ipsilateral angle decreased. Considering all the points raised, I suggest that CIA is not a great measurement to be used with the current tracking protocol and that any additional differences found in CIA scores that do not show up in quantitative measures can be inaccurate, depending on the set up and the experience of the scorer.

#### Whisking scores

The whisking scores applicable to my research are often only scored 2 and 3, as score 1 (retractions only) occurs mostly in very young mice which are not fully developed (Grant et al., 2012), while score 0 has never occurred in the datasets before (including in Simanaviciute et al., 2020). Nevertheless, I considered quantifying whisking scores as they have previously revealed differences between transgenic or surgery-induced disease models; specifically, R6/2 CAG250 mouse model of Huntington's disease was different from all other disease models tested in Simanaviciute et al. (2020). It is expected that score 2 would show higher minimum angles and score 1 would show lower maximum angles than the "mean" angle. However, the threshold mean angle for these comparisons would have to be determined for each data set. I have compared the minimum and maximum angles in scores 2 and 3 to identify any obvious measures that might show differences between these scores (Figure 3-8A-B). The minimum whisker PC angle revealed significant difference between whisking score 2 and 3 in the 17month transgenic mice, suggesting that the minimum whisker angle could be used to describe whisking capacity in quantitative terms. Alternatively, PC whisker amplitude and mean angular position together can be a good proxy for evaluating whisking capacity and does show very similar differences as the qualitative whisking score.

Furthermore, Simanaviciute et al. (2020) report that transgenic R6/2 CAG250 mice, which had reduced whisking scores compared to other transgenic mice, also had increased PC whisker mean angular position and smaller amplitudes (Garland et al., 2018), supporting the suggestion that amplitude and mean angular position

can be used together to replace the current whisking scoring. In the current data set of 3xTg-AD mouse model, the 17-month transgenic mice show reduced whisking scores (Figure 3-2A, Figure 3-8B) and reduced PC amplitude as well as PC mean angular position (Figure 3-8C-D). Unfortunately, there are not enough video clips to show this in the 12.5-month group as the 12.5-month wildtype mice whisked fully in 30 out of 31 clips and it was not possible to run any statistical analysis with such low sample size. However, Figure 3-8A-B shows that the 12.5-month transgenic group had more 2 scores than 3 scores and that would naturally be significantly different from the wildtype group, as evident when looking at the quantified PC amplitude and PC mean angular position (Figure 3-8C-D). Hence, whisking scores can be assessed accurately by looking at the quantitative measures of amplitude and mean angular position, and it is not recommended for manual scoring in future studies.



Figure 3-8 Maximum (A) and minimum (B) whisker PC angles in comparison with PC amplitude (C) and PC mean angular position (D). The minimum PC whisker angles show significant difference between scores 2 and 3 in the 17-month transgenic mice, suggesting that more mice in that group had reduced whisking capacity. The same can be seen by studying PC amplitude and PC mean angular position.

## Relationship between the quantitative whisker measurements

To understand if all quantitative whisker parameters provided by the ARTv2 tracker are necessary to include in analysis, I performed a correlation analysis on whisker parameter data (without locomotion speed) from Chapter 3, using the *cor* function from the R *stats* package. In the resulting correlation matrix, where each whisker variable is compared to another (e.g. PC spread from all mice against PC asymmetry from all mice), several correlations appeared. For example, PC spread was correlated with PC amplitude but not to PC asymmetry. Meanwhile, DC spread was correlated to both DC asymmetry and DC amplitude (Figure 3-9). From the correlation matrix, the following relationships stood out due to their low p-values and high correlation coefficients:

- PC spread vs PC amplitude, p < 0.001, negative correlation, coefficient = -0.616;
- DC asymmetry vs DC spread, p < 0.001, negative correlation, coefficient = -0.574;
- DC asymmetry vs DC amplitude, p < 0.001, positive correlation, coefficient = 0.627.

Thus, I looked at these same correlations in more detail, this time plotting them per animal. The linear model analysis (*Im* function, R *stats* package) confirmed the existence of a relationship between these variables as indicated by the p-values. However, the adjusted  $R^2$  values were close to 0, suggesting a linear model is not the best fit for these relationships (Figure 3-10, Figure 3-11 and Figure 3-12).

Hence, the answer to whether two whisker variables are linearly related to each other in the same animal is not straightforward. Naturally, as these parameters all stem from whisker angles and distances, they are overall correlated. However, they are not always correlated in the same animal, as showed by the linear models; for example, a high DC asymmetry value does not always correspond to a low DC spread value (Figure 3-9).



Figure 3-9 **Correlation matrix for all whisker parameters measured in Chapter 3.** The matrix shows all p-values for the correlation between the corresponding parameter pairs. A significance value of p < 0.05 was used. If p < 0.01, it is shown as zero. The colour scale uses a correlation coefficient between -1 and 1. Positive linear correlation is represented with shades of blue, with a coefficient of 1 and dark navy shade illustrating a perfect positive linear relationship; negative linear correlation is represented with shades of red, with a coefficient of -1 and dark red shade illustrating a perfect negative linear relationship. The zero value on the colour scale, corresponding to the colour white, illustrates no correlation.







Figure 3-10 **The correlation between whisker parameters per animal.** A - PC amplitude vs PC spread, *adjusted*  $R^2 = 0.3588$ ; B – DC asymmetry vs DC spread, *adjusted*  $R^2 = 0.307$ ; C - DC symmetry vs DC amplitude, *adjusted*  $R^2 = 0.373$ . Values are plotted for each animal (represented with +). The red line shows a linear model fitted to the data – all *p values* < 0.001. This plot includes all animals studied in Chapter 3: female control and 3xTg-AD mice of 3-, 12.5- and 17-month age groups; *n* = 38.

From these results, I recommend that all whisker parameters are continued to be measured, and I do so in this thesis, until more detailed studies show otherwise, and provide which measurements are strongly related and if any may be unnecessary. Specifically, relationships should be tested in both pre-contact and contact-related whisker parameters, as this preliminary analysis shows correlations differ between the two. Moreover, I acknowledge that my chosen approach is not the only option and other methods, such as clustering analysis, could be used, as mentioned in Chapter 6 Discussion – Limitations and future work.

## 3.6 Conclusion

I have validated the current protocol in a challenging mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. This work has, for the first time, established statistical analysis methods that are more suitable for the measures captured by the protocol. I have also introduced an additional quantitative measure of whisker spread and replaced qualitative scoring of spread reduction and whisking with a quantitative (PC-DC) spread measure, PC whisking amplitude and PC mean angular position. This results in a more streamlined process of whisker tracking and analysis and makes the process more quantitative and objective. The work in this chapter contributes to the first two aims of the PhD – standardisation and automation.

# CHAPTER 4 MATERNAL IMMUNE ACTIVATION AFFECTS FEMALE OFFSPRING WHISKER MOVEMENTS DURING OBJECT EXPLORATION IN A POLY I:C RAT

This chapter has been published as a peer-reviewed journal article and included in the appendix of the thesis:

Simanaviciute, U., Potter, H.G., Hager, R., Glazier, J., Hodson-Tole, E., Gigg, J., Grant, R., 2024. Maternal immune activation affects female offspring whisker movements during object exploration in a rat model of neurodevelopmental disorders. Brain, Behavior, & Immunity - Health 39, 100807.

#### Chapter summary

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) can be highly disabling, causing reduced life expectancy and disturbing physical and cognitive symptoms. The maternal immune activation (MIA) rat model, induced by an environmental risk factor polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (Poly I:C), is a model of neurodevelopmental disorders. The behavioural symptoms of this model are diverse; they are often variable and reduce in severity or disappear when offspring reach adulthood. It is important to select a robust behavioural test to identify such subtle phenotypes, track progression into the long-term and develop treatments. Measuring whisker movements presents an opportunity to study innate exploratory rodent behaviour, resulting in highly quantitative, robust measurements of sensory, motor and cognitive behaviours but it is missing cross-species validation. Tracking whisker movements in adult MIA offspring may offer further detail and reveal robust and long-lasting behavioural deficits. In this study, whisker movements were investigated in adult male and female offspring of MIA-exposed rat dams and compared to age-matched offspring of control (vehicle) dams. Rat offspring were filmed using high-speed videography in a sequential object exploration task with smooth and textured objects. Poly I:C treatment effects were found in female offspring who did not increase whisker mean angular position during object exploration, indicating an attentional deficit. Sex differences and object type were

also found to significantly affect whisker movements; for example, female offspring had more symmetric whiskers on the smooth object, compared to the textured object, while male offspring did not increase their whisker mean angular positions during contact with the smooth object, as they did on the textured object. Whisker tracking in rats is demonstrated here, for the first time, during sequential object exploration as a useful, non-invasive tool, with no animal training required. I show here that it is powerful enough to detect both treatment and sex effects into adulthood, in a model of NDDs caused by MIA.

## 4.1 Introduction

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs), including schizophrenia, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autism spectrum disorder, affect the development of the nervous system and normal brain function. This can have wide ranging consequences, impacting emotions, learning, self-control and memory. Schizophrenia is one of the more severe NDDs, where patients not only die on average 20 years earlier than the general population (Laursen et al., 2014) but are also affected by chronic psychosis. NDDs also affect males and females differently. For example, the age of schizophrenia onset is earlier in men, and they are more likely to experience negative symptoms and deficits in social functioning (Li et al., 2016; da Silva et al., 2023). In women, oestrogen seems to play a role; although women are generally less likely to develop schizophrenia, a second peak of onset coincides with menopause, and is also likely to be more severe (Li et al., 2916; da Silva et al., 2023).

There is currently no cure for NDDs, and a lot of effort is put into trying to understand this disease group to develop better treatments. The cause of NDDs likely involves an interaction between genetic and environmental risk factors (such as viral and bacterial infections, taking antiepileptic valproic acid and consuming alcohol, Santos-Terra et al., 2021), which affect early neurological development and result in pathological changes (Owen and O'Donovan, 2017). Epidemiological studies have shown that, in humans, prenatal exposure to inflammation *in utero* is associated with the development of NDDs in offspring, including schizophrenia and autism, (Atladóttir et al., 2010; Brown, 2012; Jiang et al., 2016; Han et al., 2021).

## Animal models

Rodent models, including rats and mice, are particularly useful in identifying symptoms and developing treatments for many neurological conditions because of their genetic similarity to humans. Historically, mice have been the preferred rodent model for most conditions, since they breed quicker and are smaller, therefore can be stored more efficiently and thus reduce the costs of research projects. However, rats tend to be favoured over mice when no genetic manipulation is involved, especially in cognitive studies as they tend to take less time to learn a task (Elenbroek and Youn, 2016). Their social behaviour is also simpler, they are less aggressive, less hierarchical and less territorial than mice, which might make them better suited for modelling diseases that affect social behaviour (Elenbroek and Youn, 2016). Particularly for neuropsychiatric disorders, the 5-HT6 subtype of serotonin receptors in areas related to the affected behaviour is more similar in rats to that of humans, compared to in the mouse brain (Elenbroek and Youn, 2016). Additionally, in rats but not in mice, 5-HT6 receptors bind some antagonists with high affinity. This is more similar to that in humans and makes rats a more translatable model animal for treatment development (Elenbroek and Youn, 2016).

In pre-clinical studies, maternal immune activation (MIA) rodent models of NDDs have been reported to be particularly strong in constructive and face validity, suggesting they reflect the natural pathogenesis of the NDDs and their symptoms (Woods et al., 2021). Recently, research using a rat MIA model has shown that placental amino acid transport function is dysregulated and may contribute to the abnormalities reported in foetal brain development, which associate with increased risk of NDDs in the offspring (Kowash et al., 2022). A widely used method to induce MIA and mimic viral infection during pregnancy is the gestational exposure to the viral mimetic and Toll-like receptor 3 agonist polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (Poly I:C, Bucknor et al., 2022).

In Poly I:C models, offspring have demonstrated behavioural deficits in sensorimotor gating, selective attention, social behaviour, exploratory behaviour, working memory, cognitive flexibility and have increased sensitivity to psychotomimetic drugs (Meyer, 2014; Potter et al. 2023). Due to the successful replication of these cognitive and behaviour outcomes in such models, there has been considerable interest in elucidating the biological and molecular mechanisms underpinning NDDs, with the Poly I:C model already being used to explore possible therapeutic treatments (Piontkewitz et al., 2009; 2011), as recently reviewed in (Bergdolt and Dunaevsky, 2019), making it a particularly relevant model of clinical interest at this time. However, while the Poly I:C model may be preferable for developmental studies, it is a challenging behavioural model, as findings can vary depending on the various factors including the rodent genetic background, source of Poly I:C, dose and gestational timing of treatment (Mueller 2018; Kowash et al. 2019; Murray et al. 2019). Even the choice of caging system can affect maternal behaviour and the behaviour of adult offspring, including deficits in working memory, social interaction and sensorimotor gating (Mueller et al., 2018). The symptoms exhibited by offspring of MIA-affected dams in this model are diverse, but include sensory, motor and cognitive components, suggesting it could act as a more general model of NDDs. Consequently, it is imperative to select a robust and highly quantitative behavioural test to identify complex or subtle phenotypes (Simanaviciute et al., 2022), to reliably detect symptoms, track their progression and develop treatments.

#### Measuring whisker movements

I hypothesize that measuring whisker movements offers a robust test as a valuable alternative for studying multi-modal deficits of MIA models that are particularly difficult to detect in adulthood using standard behavioural tests. Indeed, measuring rodent whisker movements has previously revealed motor, sensory and cognitive deficits in mouse models of neurodegenerative disease (Grant et al., 2014; Garland et al., 2018; Simanaviciute et al., 2020). Whisker movements are especially useful at identifying behavioural deficits in challenging rodent models with complex behavioural phenotypes, such as the 3xTg Alzheimer's Disease mouse model (Simanaviciute et al., 2022 and Chapter 3 of this thesis), and has been found to identify behavioural phenotypes earlier than any other behavioural test, e.g. in a R62 Huntington's Disease mouse (Garland et al. 2018).

Measuring whisker movements during object exploration provides a tool which can identify sensory and attentional deficits, previously documented in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease (5xFAD mice in Grant et al. 2018; 3xTg-AD mice in Simanaviciute et al., 2022 and Chapter 3). Whisker positioning is thought to effectively reflect an animal's attentional state (Mitchinson et al., 2007; Arkley et al. 2014) and impaired attention has been suggested as a subtype of schizophrenia for genetic studies (Cornblatt et al., 2001). Most standard behavioural tasks that measure attention involve extensive training of animals and use food as motivation, whereas whisker tracking allows the measurement of attention and sensorimotor functions as part of an animal's innate exploratory behaviour, without any previous training. Therefore, measuring whisker movements offers a quantitative, relatively non-invasive and quick method to assess behavioural deficits. However, rat models have not been investigated so far, apart from in the sub-chronic PCP rat model of schizophrenia (Landreth et al., 2021) where their whisker movements were not found to be impacted.

Whisker movements have also revealed sex differences in previous studies in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease (Grant et al., 2018) and Huntington's disease (Simanaviciute et al., 2020), which makes it especially aligned for the study of NDDs. Indeed, Lins et al. (2019) recommend investigating sex by treatment analyses in MIA research, not only because it is important to include both males and females in all preclinical research, but also because NDDs exhibit sex-dependent phenotypes in rat models (Snigda et al., 2011, Leger and Neill, 2016; Nikolić et al., 2017; Casquero-Veiga et al., 2023, Potter et al., 2023) and in humans (Li et al., 2016; May et al., 2019; Bucci et al., 2023; da Silva et al., 2023; Bölte et al., 2023). Therefore, whisker tracking could be a valuable tool for identifying sex differences in NDD rodent models.

This study aims to test and validate the established mouse whisker measurement protocol (Simanaviciute et al., 2020; 2022) in the rat Poly I:C model, to investigate the effects of *in utero* exposure to MIA on whisker movements in adult offspring. The inclusion of a larger sample size of males and females is important for the method development due to generous size differences between the sexes. The use of a sequential object study, as was performed in mice in Grant et al. (2018), allows to explore how the order or texture of objects can influence whisker movements.

Whisker movements were investigated before and during object exploration, and differences were examined by treatment, sex and responses to object textures. I predict that measures of whisker movements will be sensitive enough to detect treatment and sex effects in this adult behavioural model of NDD.

## 4.2 Materials and methods

#### Animals

The rat MIA model used here has recently been described in Potter et al. (2023). Specifically, pregnant Wistar female rats (Charles River Laboratories, UK) were injected with 10 mg/kg bodyweight low molecular weight poly I:C (InvivoGen, France, catalogue code tlrlpicw) or equivalent volume of endotoxin-free physiological 0.9 % saline on gestational day 15, where the day of mating (indicated by visualisation of the copulation plug) was designated as gestational day 1. This source of poly I:C (Kowash et al., 2019) and genetic background (Murray et al., 2019) were found to produce the most robust maternal inflammatory phenotypes (Lorusso et al., 2022; Kowash et al., 2022, Potter, 2023). Dams were pseudo-randomised to treatment group using a random number generator (Excel v2004, Microsoft, USA). MIA effect was validated by taking a tail vein blood sample at 3 h post-treatment and plasma samples analysed as per Kowash et al., (2022). The offspring of these rats were assessed for whisker movements once they reached early adulthood at around postnatal day (PD) 50 (47-53), with a bodyweight of  $162 \pm 3$  g for males and  $142 \pm 2$  g for females (measured at PD35, n = 25 for both males and females, mean ± SEM, Table 4-1). At this age, rat whisker movements are considered to be adult-like (Grant et al. 2012). From a total of 24 MIA offspring rats, 11 were female and 13 male, and from 26 control rats, 14 were female and 12 male. Both control and poly I:C rat offspring came from 11 dams each. Sample sizes were calculated using the statistical package G\*Power v3.1.9.2 (Germany, Faul et al. 2007), based on similar previous studies (Potter et al. 2023). Half of the rats were cross fostered as part of a satellite study measuring effects of cross fostering (randomised using a random number generator); however, this had no significant effect on whisker measures (Supplementary material, Table 4-5 and 3-7) nor on other adult behaviours (Potter, 2021). Therefore, data were combined, and cross-fostering status was not included in analyses. Adult offspring were housed in cages of up to 3 females or 5 males, in environmentally enriched, individually ventilated cages (GR1800 DoubleDecker Cage, Tecniplast, UK, temperature  $21^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}C$ , humidity  $55 \pm 5\%$ ) with *ad libitum* access to standard rodent chow (Special Diet Services, UK) and water.

#### Experimental procedures

All experimental procedures were carried out at the University of Manchester Biological Services Facility, on the 12-hour light:dark cycle, lights on at 7:00am). Experiments were performed under Home Office UK project licence (number P473EC3B1) in accordance with the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act UK 1986. This study was approved by the University of Manchester Animal Welfare and Ethical Review Body as well as the local ethics committee at Manchester Metropolitan University (reference number 2022-46121-37567). Before being involved in this study, all animals had been exposed to other tasks at PD35 (~15 days before this study, as described in Potter et al., 2023), including novel object recognition (NOR), elevated plus maze and social interaction tasks; although these tasks all used different arenas and objects to those adopted in this study.

Rats explored two different objects sequentially for 5 minutes each. Firstly, the smooth plastic toy brick (14.3 cm × 6 cm × 3 cm; Figure 4-1B) was placed inside the arena for exploration, then later exchanged for the textured toy brick (identical to smooth object but covered in textured painter's tape). This order was kept throughout the experiments and from here onwards, the first object is described as 'smooth' and the second as 'textured'. For all other methods which remain unchanged across the experimental Chapters, please refer to Chapter 2 General methods.

#### Video clip analysis of whisker movements

When using this set up in mice, locomotion speed can be estimated by tracking the centroid of the body. However, due to the larger size of rats compared to mice, there were very few frames where the rat's full body was in view; therefore, the centroid position was not accurate, and locomotion speed was not analysed in this study. Rats have up to double the whisker length compared to mice; whisker morphologies are heavily correlated to the head size and the distances between facial features, which are approximately 2.03 times larger in rats compared to mice (Bresee et al., 2023). While I did not measure whisker or body lengths in my studies, rats in Chapter 4 were visually more than double the size and length than mice in any earlier study I conducted. Moreover, there was a 6-10-time difference in body weight between control female mice in Chapter 3 (~22g at 10 weeks old, The Jackson Laboratory, n.d.) and control female rats in Chapter 4 (~144g 15 days before filming whisker study, see Table 4-1; ~264g at the end of the study as in Potter et al. 2023). There are also camera and tripod length limitations that need to be mentioned as I did not try to use a different camera or tripod to record the rats - this may be a solution for the future. The 6-10-time body mass difference compared to up to 2 times whisker length difference can explain why it was difficult to keep the focus on rat whiskers and consistently include the whole of rat's body in the field of camera's view. Hence the centroid speed was excluded from the measurements.

1-4 video clips per rat were included in data analysis (Table 4-1), giving a total of 114 clips, which included both PC and DC sections. PC sections ranged from 100 to 291 frames per clip, whereas DC sections ranged from 100 to 459 frames.



Figure 4-1 **Data collection and video analysis.** A) Filming set-up illustrating the object size and location in relation to the Perspex box, and the distance between the arena and high-speed video camera. B) Smooth and textured plastic bricks that were used as objects in the experiments; C) A video still of an example clip where ARTv2 LocoWhisk software was used to automatically locate the rat centroid and nose point which are marked by the two red points. The paths taken by these two points over the clip duration are shown in yellow (centroid) and blue (nose point) lines. The software also detected whiskers (shown with coloured lines). The field of view shown in A in light grey corresponds to this video still.

dams used in the study (induces the MIA model). Note that the smooth object was also alwa							
t	the first object, and the textured object was always the second object presented to rats.						
	Rat ID	Sex	Treatment	Body weight at	Clips with	Clips	
				PD35 (g)	smooth	with	
					object	textured	
						object	
	551	F	Poly I:C	136.2	0	1	
	552	F	Poly I:C	148.3	1	2	
	553	F	Poly I:C	138.5	2	1	
	554	F	Vehicle	134.5	2	2	
	601	М	Poly I:C	133.3	0	2	
	602	М	Vehicle	166.3	0	2	
	603	М	Vehicle	167.7	4	1	
	604	М	Vehicle	164.2	0	1	
	431	F	Poly I:C	148.6	1	1	
	555	F	Vehicle	172.3	1	2	
	611	М	Poly I:C	167.4	3	0	
	561	F	Vehicle	133.1	0	3	
	562	F	Poly I:C	125.8	0	2	
	563	F	Vehicle	123.5	1	0	
	612	М	Vehicle	192.0	0	1	
	613	М	Poly I:C	150.6	1	1	

Table 4-1 **Number of videos per rat included in analyses.** Sex abbreviated: F – female; M - male. Treatment: Vehicle - injection of 0.9 % saline; Poly I:C - injection of polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid to rat dams used in the study (induces the MIA model). Note that the smooth object was also always the first object and the textured object was always the second object presented to rats.

614	Μ	Vehicle	148.2	1 0	
621	М	Poly I:C	152.4	0 1	
632	M	Poly I:C	168.9	2	
564	F	Vehicle	161.8 0		2
565	F	Vehicle	161.2 1		0
573	F	Vehicle	139.3 0		2
574	F	Poly I:C	148.7	1	1
622	М	Vehicle	177.0	1	2
623	М	Poly I:C	146.0	0	2
633	М	Vehicle	186.7	1	0
634	М	Poly I:C	140.9	0	4
571	F	Vehicle	147.4	1	3
581	F	Vehicle	142.5	2	0
624	M	Vehicle	157.8	1	1
631	M	Poly I:C	161.0	2	0
642	M	Vehicle	158.1	2	0
575	F	Vehicle	142.1	1	2
582	F	Vehicle	134.2	0 1	
583	F	Poly I:C	139.8	1	0
641	M	Poly I:C	182.5	0	1
643	M	Vehicle	153.1	1	2
644	M	Poly I:C	149.5	3	1
584	F	Poly I:C	138.6	0	1
585	F	Poly I:C	131.5	0	4
591	F	Vehicle	133.4	0 1	
592	F	Vehicle	145.4	1	0
593	F	Poly I:C	138.6	2	2
594	F	Vehicle	139.4	0	3
595	F	Poly I:C	153.1	0	2
651	M	Vehicle	173.2	0	1
652	M	Poly I:C	164.3	0	1
653	M	Poly I:C	157.7	2 1	
654	M	Vehicle	161.7	2 1	
655	M	Poly I:C	169.9	1	3
	Total rats: 50		Mean weight	Total clips	: 114
	MIA offspring rats		(g):	I	
	n = 24	1 40	Control female	45 clips	69 clips
	(11 fer	nale, 13	143.6 ± 3.6;	(29 rats)	(40 rats)
	male)			with	with
	control rats		$107.2 \pm 3.8$ ;	smooth	textured
	11 - 20   (14 for	nalo 12		<sup>;</sup> object object	
			$\begin{bmatrix} 140.7 \pm 2.3 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$		
	male)		157 3 ± 2 8		
			107.0 ± 0.0		

#### Statistical analyses

Linear Mixed-Effects Models were constructed to analyse the effect of Poly I:C treatment, sex and object texture or order on all PC and (PC-DC) whisker variables. The model computed F tests on the fixed effects of treatment, sex and object texture or order and provided *p*-values using a type III ANOVA, as well as interaction effects. The degrees of freedom were automatically determined to be anywhere between the number of rats (n = 50) and the number of video clips (n = 114) for each measurement analysed. The effect of Poly I:C treatment and sex, as well as their interaction, was investigated first. Then, males and females were assessed separately for the effect of treatment and object texture.

## 4.3 Results

#### Robust behaviours displayed by both MIA and control offspring rats

In analyses with males and females combined, both MIA-treated and control rat offspring exhibited the predicted, robust contact-related behaviours that have been previously observed in mice (as described in Table 2-1). During contact with an object, whisker retraction speed, protraction speed and spread were consistently reduced (Figure 4-2C, D, and E, respectively, indicated by the difference between PC and DC values), while amplitude and asymmetry increased (Figure 4-2A, B, respectively, indicated by the difference between PC and DC values). It is important to consider the presence or absence of these behaviours when interpreting any significant differences caused by the treatment, sex, or object texture in PC-DC measures.







Figure 4-2 Poly I:C treatment, sex and object texture (or order) did not have significant effects on whisker amplitude, asymmetry, protraction speed, retraction speed or spread, when analysed with male and female rats combined. The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with bars representing SEM. Data points show mean values for individual rats, indicated by open circles for male rats investigating smooth (first) object, filled circles for male rats investigating textured (second) object, open squares for female rats investigating smooth (first) object, and filled squares for female rats investigating textured (second) object. PC = pre-contact, DC = during contact.

Next, Poly I:C treatment and sex effects were tested. There was no effect of treatment, but a sex effect in PC mean angular position was detected (Figure 4-3A, Table 4-2). Female rats had higher PC mean angular positions than male rats (treatment: F (1, 41.224) = 2.446, p = 0.125; sex: F (1, 41.224) = 5.240, p = 0.027; interaction: F (1, 41.224) = 1.034, p = 0.315), although post-hoc analyses were not significant. There were no further significant effects of treatment or sex found in any of the other whisker variables (PC amplitude, PC asymmetry, PC spread, PC retraction speed or PC protraction speed, nor (PC-DC) mean angular position, (PC-DC) asymmetry, (PC-DC) spread, (PC-DC) retraction speed or (PC-DC)

protraction speed, Figure 4-2 for all whisker parameters, Table 4-2 for PC measures, Table 4-3 for (PC-DC) measures).

#### MIA treatment effects in female offspring rats

Since there was a sex effect in the above tests, the effect of treatment and object texture (or order) was then investigated in males and females separately. In female rats, there was no significant effect of treatment nor object texture on any PC whisker metrics, however, contact-related mean angular position was significantly different. Specifically, (PC-DC) mean angular position in females revealed a treatment effect, object texture effect, as well as the effect of treatment by texture interaction (treatment: F (1, 20.750) = 5.454, p = 0.030; texture: F (1, 51.992) = 4.573, p = 0.037; interaction: F (1, 51.992) = 4.338, p = 0.042, Figure 4-3B, Table 4-4). Post-hoc comparisons showed that female MIA offspring rats contacting the smooth (first) object had significantly higher (PC-DC) mean angular positions compared to female control rats contacting the same (smooth) object (p = 0.049) and MIA offspring rats contacting the textured (second) object (p =0.034). The higher and positive (PC-DC) mean angular position of female MIA offspring rats contacting the smooth object shows the opposite of the predicted contact-related changes in their whisker angular position (i.e., defined in Table 2-1), as illustrated in Figure 4-4 where female MIA offspring rat whiskers were more symmetric and less protracted during object contact, especially when contacting the smooth (first) object (B). In contrast, MIA offspring rats contacting textured object, and control rats contacting smooth object showed the predicted patterns and pushed their whiskers more forward during contact, leading to negative values of (PC-DC) mean angular positions (Figure 4-3B, Table 4-4). These results are also supported by the example whisker traces in Figure 4-5 (corresponding video clip in Supplementary Video Clip), where the mean angular position is represented as the average line, smoothed and separated to left and right whisker sides. Figure 4-5B shows an example whisker trace from a female MIA offspring rat offspring contacting a smooth object, where mean angular position does not increase from before contact (before 0 ms) to during contact (after 0 ms).

Meanwhile, the example whisker traces of a MIA female rat offspring contacting a textured object (panel D) and control female rat offspring contacting a smooth object (panel A) both displayed increased mean angular positions during contact.

# Object texture effects in female rats

There was no treatment effect, but a texture (or order) effect was found in (PC-DC) asymmetry in female rats (treatment: F (1, 20.750) = 0.086, p = 0.772; texture: F (1, 51.992) = 4.274, p = 0.044; interaction: F (1, 51.992) = 0.061, p = 0.806, Figure 4-3C, Table 4-4). While all other female rats (control rats on smooth object, control and MIA offspring rats on textured object) increased their whisker asymmetry during object contract, female MIA offspring rats contacted the smooth object more symmetrically, as indicated by positive (PC-DC) values in Figure 4-3C and a larger separation between red and blue traces in Figure 4-5B. Both female MIA offspring and female control rats contacting the smooth (first) object tended to have more symmetric whiskers (higher PC-DC values in Figure 4-3C, right), which shows the opposite of the predicted contact-related changes (in Table 2-1); however, pairwise comparisons showed no significant differences between the groups (p values > 0.05).



Figure 4-3 MIA offspring rat mean angular position (A and B) and asymmetry (C) are affected by treatment and object texture. A) Significant sex effects were found in PC whisker mean angular position and object texture effects were found in (PC-DC) mean angular position. B) In males, there was a main effect of object texture in (PC-DC) mean angular position. In females, there were effects of treatment, object texture and their interaction in (PC-DC) mean angular position, while pairwise comparisons showed that MIA offspring rat smooth texture group was significantly different to control rats exploring the smooth object and MIA offspring rats exploring the textured object. C) There was a significant effect of object texture in (PC-DC) asymmetry in females, independent of treatment. Males and females were analysed together in A and separately in B and C. The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with error bars representing SEM. Data points show mean values for individual rats, indicated by open circles for male rats investigating smooth object, filled circles for male rats investigating textured object, open squares for female rats investigating smooth object, and filled squares for female rats investigating textured object. PC = pre-contact, DC = during contact, (PC-DC) = contact related changes. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *$ ,  $p \le 0.01 = **$  and n.s. is not significant.



Figure 4-4 Video stills of female offspring exploring an object. Control female rats (A and C) show predicted object-related whisker behaviours, indicated by asymmetric positioning of the whiskers, and high whisker angular positions (e.g., more forward-reaching whiskers) following an object contact. However, the female MIA offspring rat whiskers were more symmetric and less protracted during object contact, especially when contacting the smooth (first) object (B). Video stills were selected when the whiskers were contacting the object at their maximum protraction.



Figure 4-5 Example whisker angle traces of female control and MIA offspring rats exploring smooth (first) and textured (second) objects. Raw data points are shown in fine lines, and smoothed data (2nd order, 15 neighbours) are presented in thicker lines. Red colour traces are from the whiskers on the left side, and blue from the right side. 0 ms is the point of contact on the x-axis; therefore, left from the Y-axis is

during contact in panels A, C and D, but not B, and an increase in mean angular position during contact in A and D but not B.

pre-contact (PC) and right from the Y-axis is during-contact (DC). Traces show an increase in asymmetry

# Object texture effects in male rats

There were no treatment or object texture (order) effects in male MIA offspring rats in any PC and most (PC-DC) whisker measures. There was no treatment effect in male rat (PC-DC) mean angular position, but object texture (or order) was significantly different (treatment: F (1, 19.980) = 0.307, p = 0.586; texture: F (1, 53.768) = 6.856, p = 0.012; interaction: F (1, 53.768) = 1.517, p = 0.223, Figure 4-3B, Table 4-4). While all other male rats (MIA offspring rats on smooth object, control and MIA offspring rats on textured object) pushed their whiskers more forward during object contact, male control rats on smooth object reduced their mean angular positions, as indicated by positive (PC-DC) values; however, this was not significant in further post-hoc comparisons (p values > 0.05). Nevertheless, the figures show a tendency for higher (PC-DC) mean angular position in male rats exploring smooth (first) object (Figure 4-3B male, as shown on left) compared to the textured (second) object.

Table 4-2 **Summary statistics for pre-contact data.** Linear mixed effect model and pairwise comparisons with Tukey's adjustment. Treatment, Sex and Treatment:Sex interaction columns are reported from Treatment\*Sex tests, and Texture column is reported from Treatment\*Texture tests. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *$ 

	Treatment	Sex effect	Treatment:Sex	Texture (order)		
	effect			effect		
PC whisker	$df_1 = 1,$	df <sub>1</sub> = 1,	df <sub>1</sub> = 1,	df <sub>1</sub> = 1,		
parameters	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,		
	F,	F,	F,	F,		
	р	р	р	р		
	13	13	13	100		
Amplitude	43	45	40	100		
(degrees)	2.2	0.74	1.8	0.29		
(degrees)	0.15	0.39	0.19	0.59		

Mean angular	41	41	41	110
position	2.5	5.2	1.0	3.6
	0.13	0.027	0.32	0.059
(degrees)		*		
Asymmetry	43	43	43	110
(de grace)	1.4	0.75	0.74	2.0
(degrees)	0.25	0.39	0.40	0.16
Retraction speed	38	38	38	110
(degrees/s)	0.098	0.31	0.63	0.62
	0.76	0.58	0.43	0.43
Protraction	36	36	36	110
speed	0.19	3.3	0.31	0.88
	0.67	0.076	0.58	0.35
(degrees/s)				
Spread	36	36	36	110
	0.14	2.5	1.8	0.40
(aegrees)	0.71	0.12	0.19	0.53
Table 4-3 **Summary statistics for contact-related (PC-DC) data.** Linear mixed effect model and pairwise comparisons with Tukey's adjustment. Treatment, Sex and Treatment:Sex interaction columns are reported from Treatment\*Sex tests, and Texture column is reported from Treatment\*Texture tests. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.01 = **$ .

(PC-DC) whisker parameters	Treatment effect $df_1 = 1,$ $df_2,$ F, p	Sex effect $df_1 = 1,$ $df_2,$ F, p	Treatment:Sex $df_1 = 1,$ $df_2,$ F, p	Texture (order) effect $df_1 = 1,$ $df_2,$ F, p
Amplitude	38	38	38	110
(degrees)	0.0036	0.72	0.065	1.1
	0.95	0.40	0.80	0.31
Mean angular	36	36	36	110
position	0.42	0.38	2.9	7.1
(degrees)	0.52	0.54	0.10	0.0090 **
Asymmetry	36	36	36	110
(dogroop)	0.017	0.042	0.22	1.9
(degrees)	0.90	0.84	0.64	0.18
Retraction speed	36	36	36	110
(dogroop/p)	0.66	0.11	0.29	0.055
(degrees/s)	0.42	0.75	0.59	0.82
Protraction	36	36	36	110
speed	1.6	0.0012	0.00050	0.024
(degrees/s)	0.22	0.97	0.98	0.88

Spread	41	41	41	110
(de graee)	0.059	0.59	0.0049	2.2
(degrees)	0.81	0.45	0.94	0.14

Table 4-4 **Significant whisker parameters in detail.** Here, female and male MIA rats here were analysed separately. Linear mixed effect model and pairwise comparisons with Tukey's adjustment. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *$ .

					Post	t-hoc	
	Treatment	Texture	Treatment:	MIA vs	MIA vs	smooth	smooth
	effect	(order)	Texture	control	control	(first) vs	(first) vs
		effect	(order)	smooth	textured	textured	textured
Whisker			interaction	(first)	(second)	(second)	(second)
parameters						MIA	control
	df <sub>1</sub> = 1,	df <sub>1</sub> = 1,	df <sub>1</sub> = 1,	df₁,	df1,	df₁,	df₁,
	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	t-ratio,	t-ratio,	t-ratio,	t-ratio,
	F,	F,	F,	р	р	р	р
	р	р	р				
Male	20	54	54	33	37	54	53
(PC-DC)	0.31	6.9	1.5	-1.2	0.39	1.1	2.5
mean	0.59	0.012	0.22	0.64	0.98	0.70	0.073
angular		*					
position							
(degrees)							

Female	21	52	52	44	25	52	52
(PC-DC)	5.5	4.6	4.3	2.7	0.20	2.8	0.042
mean	0.030	0.037	0.042	0.049	1.0	0.034	1.0
angular	*	*	*	*		*	
position							
(degrees)							
Male	17	52	52	26	41	48	54
(PC-DC)	0.17	0.014	0.22	0.045	-0.64	0.29	-0.38
asymmetry	0.69	0.91	0.64	1.0	0.92	0.99	0.98
(degrees)							
Female	21	52	52	44	25	52	52
(PC-DC)	0.086	4.3	0.061	0.33	0.038	1.5	1.4
asymmetry	0.77	0.044	0.81	0.99	1.0	0.42	0.52
(degrees)		*					

# 4.4 Discussion

# Main findings

This study applied the established mouse whisker measurement protocol to rat offspring of the Poly I:C model to measure whisker movements before and during object exploration. Alterations in whisker movements were investigated in response to treatment, sex and object texture differences and showed that female MIA offspring rats had significant deficits in whisker movements, especially in contact-related mean angular position when contacting the smooth object. While other animals (female control rats on smooth object, male MIA offspring rats on smooth object, male and female control rats on textured object, male and female MIA offspring rats on textured object) increased their whisker mean angular position during object contract, female MIA offspring rats reduced their mean angular positions (as supported by statistical interaction tests in Table 4-4).

Additionally, sex differences prior to contact were observed, with female rats having larger PC mean angular positions than male rats, suggesting that their whiskers were positioned more forwards prior to contact. This has been documented in mice before, where female mice had larger differences between pre-contact and during-contact values in mean angular positions than males and, because of that, were also analysed separately (Figure 2 in Grant et al., 2018). The object itself also affected whisker movements. Female rats had more symmetric whiskers on the smooth object, compared to the textured object, while male rats did not increase their whisker mean angular positions during contact with the smooth object, as they did on the textured object. These results suggest that whisker tracking is sensitive enough to identify both sex differences and treatment effects caused by the Poly I:C treatment.

#### Poly I:C treatment effects

Firstly, when male and female rats were grouped, no effect of Poly I:C treatment was seen on any of the PC or (PC-DC) whisker metrics (Figure 4-2). In a study with a similar experimental design with respect to MIA induction, housing, and caging systems, Potter et al. (2023) also found no effect of Poly I:C treatment in adolescent or adult male or female rats in a NOR task used to assess visual learning. Similarly, in male and female adolescent or female adult rats (adult males were not tested) there was no treatment effect in an elevated plus maze task used for measuring anxiety-related behaviour (Potter et al., 2023). Therefore, the behavioural deficits in these adult animals are recognised as only subtle, but they can be detected with a quantitative test, such as the whisker measurement protocol adopted here.

Subsequently, treatment effects were observed in contact-related (PC-DC) whisker measures when the data set was separated into males (n = 25) and females (n = 25). Specifically, female MIA offspring rats were found not to increase

their mean angular position during contact with the smooth (first) object, implying they did not engage in the predicted contact-related behaviours (e.g. defined in Table 2-1). In contrast, control rats increased their whisker position (positioned them more forward) during contact, demonstrating the predicted contact-related behaviour. This more forward whisker positioning during object contact is associated with focussing of attention (Arkley et al., 2014; Mitchinson et al., 2007), which was absent in the MIA female offspring rats contacting the smooth object, and may, therefore, suggest attentional deficits in MIA female offspring. Potter et al. (2023) also found multiple deficits in attention and problem solving in female MIA offspring rats as tested by the attentional set-shifting task (males were not tested) and significantly more errors were made in the radial arm maze task, suggesting that their spatial working memory is impacted by the Poly I:C treatment (males were not tested; Potter et al., 2023). Lins et al. (2019) found an impairment in an odd (dissimilar) object recognition task which relies on the ventral visual stream. By measuring the exploration time in an arena with three identical and one odd object, they found that both male and female MIA offspring rats explored the odd object for less time than the control group. Different tests by Lins et al. (2019) showed that both visual object recognition memory in males and females, as well as cross-modal (visual and tactile) object recognition memory in males were affected by Poly I:C treatment, while tactile-only object recognition was unaffected. However, their tactile object recognition task only measures the duration of exploration (timings), rather than the highly detailed and quantitative measurements of whisker movements used in this study; this might account for the different results. To fully understand the potential of whisker tracking as a measure of attention, it would be beneficial to directly compare it to a gold-standard task that measures attentional deficits, such as the five-choice serial-reaction time task (Robbins, 2002, Young et al., 2009a, Lustig et al., 2013).

## Sex effects

While sex as a biological factor is important to consider in any research, it is especially relevant when modelling NDDs, which affect males and females

differently (Kokras and Dalla, 2014). Combining data from males and females, rather than testing each sex separately can mean loss of granularity, as natural biological sex-dependent differences can mask the effect of treatment. Hence, it is important to include both sexes and assess the effects of treatment on them separately, as was done here (sex-based reporting, Yoon et al., 2014, Miller et al., 2017).

A general sex effect in PC mean angular position was found, where female rats had larger (more forward) whisker positions before contact, compared to male rats. When analyses of males and females were conducted separately, more object texture differences were found in female than in male rats. Potter et al. (2023) also found several sex-specific effects in MIA offspring rats, mainly in pups, where female MIA offspring gained less weight in the early postnatal period, compared to males. Female MIA offspring pup solicitation behaviours (ultrasonic vocalisations) and grooming were also affected by the Poly I:C treatment up to PD14. However, Potter et al. (2023) did not find an effect of sex in either adolescence or adulthood on the NOR task used to assess visual learning. In Lins et al. (2019), visual object recognition memory and cross-modal object recognition memory were also not directly affected by sex. Tracking whisker movements quantitatively may provide a more sensitive description of sex differences, since a significant difference in mean angular position before object contact was observed, a parameter that the previously mentioned object recognition tasks did not measure. Several differences in treatment related deficits have been observed between male and female rats in Lins et al., 2018 and 2019. While oddity preference and visual object recognition memory were affected in both males and females (Lins et al., 2018 and 2019), the cross-modal object recognition memory was only impaired in males (Lins et al., 2018). It is not wholly clear why in their study male rats were affected more, compared to this study and Potter et al. (2023) studies where female rats displayed more effects of Poly I:C treatment. However, the dose of Poly(I:C), its gestational timing and the background strain of the rat will all contribute towards this variability between studies.

#### Object texture or sequential order effects

To really understand if the object differences seen in this study were caused by the order of object presentation or their texture, the order should have been randomised and any similar studies in the future should do so. As it was not done this time, the texture effect referred to in this section may actually be an order effect.

For the first time, significant differences between treatments were observed in whisker movements during a sequential object task. Specifically, when data from male and female rats were separated, significant differences were identified between female MIA offspring rats contacting smooth and textured objects. Female MIA offspring rats contacting the smooth object did not increase the mean angular position of their whiskers during contact, whereas female MIA offspring rats contacting the textured object and control rats touching the smooth object all did increase their mean angular position during contact. Moreover, both MIA and control female offspring rats contacting the smooth object tended to engage in contact-induced asymmetry less than male rats (Figure 4-4, Figure 4-5). Increases in forward whisker mean angular positions and asymmetry during contact are most typically observed (Berg and Kleinfeld 2003, Grant et al., 2009; Mitchinson et al., 2007, 2011). The absence of these behaviours on the smooth object may suggest an abnormal behaviour and lack of focussing of the whiskers on to this particular object (Arkley et al., 2014; Mitchinson et al., 2007). Therefore, female MIA rat offspring may have attentional deficits, that especially manifest during whisker exploration of this first object presented to them.

The sequential object exploration task is related to memory and, considering that the objects were very similar and only differed in colour and texture (Figure 4-1), the novelty of the second object is not especially pronounced. However, for the first time, a treatment effect was detected in whisker-related measures in this task. Specifically, whisker movement deficits were present in contacts with the first object and not the second object. An identical sequential object exploration task was used by Landreth et al. (2021) in a sub-chronic PCP rat model of schizophrenia and did not reveal any differences between the smooth and textured objects. Grant et al. (2018) also used a sequential object exploration task with two different objects in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease, and while all mice showed differences between contacting the first and the second object, with smaller whisker amplitudes during contact with the second object, there were no treatment differences, but a significant sex effect was present. Treatment effects were found in this study during whisker contacts with the smooth (first) object, but not the textured (second) object. Therefore, the number, type (or texture) and novelty of objects used in exploration tasks can be important when looking for MIA treatment effects.

The sequential object exploration task is probably the most similar to a NOR task, one of the gold-standard behavioural tests, suggested to be translatable to human symptoms (Young et al., 2009b). Only NOR and social tasks rely on innate behaviour, while other cognitive tasks require training and motivation by either food or aversion. It has been shown several times (Arkley et al., 2014; Grant et al., 2016, 2018; Simanaviciute et al., 2022) that whisker tracking during novel object exploration (NOE), as opposed to during a recognition task, can also assess attention, but without any training or habituation. The work presented here shows that the sequential object exploration task can also be used for the same purpose, and that the addition of a second object, like a NOE task, allows assessment of attention in more detail depending on the choice of objects. It might be beneficial to combine whisker tracking with the classic NOR task, to study the object contact in more detail and to incorporate the memory aspect when assessing these measures with novel and familiar objects. Indeed, whisker movements can be measured during most tasks and can offer a refinement to animal testing by providing highly quantitative data, without the need for training, reward, or habituation.

## 4.5 Method development

The whisker measurement protocol is usually carried out in mice. In this chapter, the protocol was tested and for use in rats, including both males and females and provides evidence that it is possible to adapt the set up for rats - the second largest group of animals used in laboratory experiments throughout the world. This is a great advantage for neuroscience researchers that prefer using rats, especially for cognitive and aging studies.

An additional component to the usual experimental procedures is the addition of a sequential object task, so two objects were used rather than the usual one. This revealed significant effects in MIA female offspring on the smooth object, but not the textured one. Object selection and object comparisons might be a useful tool in future studies. However, since the objects are very similar, only differing in texture, habituation to the object and the arena might also be a factor that is worth exploring too. I will investigate arena habituation in my next chapter, Chapter 5.

For the first time, following my method development and considerations in the previous chapter (Chapter 3), I also did not include any qualitative scoring - looking to the quantitative measurements of mean angular position, amplitude, asymmetry and spread, instead of scores of whisking, spread reduction and CIA. This has significantly reduced the time associated with processing and scoring videos and removed the main manual element of the process. Therefore, replacing with qualitative scoring with the quantitative metrics will be continued into Chapter 5.

The next step to developing this method further is to incorporate a second camera to allow the validation of whisker behaviour against general locomotor behaviour throughout the trial.

# 4.6 Conclusion

By testing the protocol in rats and including male and female animals, this study further contributed to my first PhD objective which is the standardisation of this method. Female offspring of MIA-induced rat dams revealed deficits in contactrelated whisker movements, suggesting an attentional deficit caused by the Poly I:C treatment. Whisker tracking is suggested as a useful tool to assess attentional deficits in models of NDDs. For the first time, treatment effects were revealed by a sequential object exploration task, which allows to also study the effect of object type or order and contributed to the third PhD aim, which is integration with other behavioural tasks. This is especially important when deficits in whisker movements occur, but only when interacting with one type of object and not another. Additionally, the importance of including both male and female animals and evaluating their neurological symptoms separately is emphasised, as treatment effects can be masked by innate sex differences. Overall, measuring whisker movements is demonstrated here as a quick, non-invasive, quantitative tool that is sensitive enough to identify treatment effects and sex differences during object exploration in an adult offspring model of NDDs caused by MIA.

# 4.7 Supplementary materials

# Cross-fostering

Table 4-5 Summary statistics for cross-fostering effects on pre-contact data. Linear mixed effect model and pairwise comparisons with Tukey's adjustment. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *$  and n.s. is not significant. All post-hoc tests were not significant.

PC whisker parameters	Treatment effect $df_1 = 1,$ $df_2,$ F, p	Cross-fostering effect $df_1 = 1,$ $df_2,$ F, p	Treatment: Cross-fostering interaction $df_1 = 1$ , $df_2$ , F, p
	44	44	44
	1.5	4.2	0.86
Amplitude	0.23	0.047	0.36
(degrees)		*	
		- all n.s. in post-	
		hoc tests	
Mean angular	43	43	43
position	1.4	0.028	0.21
(degrees)	0.24	0.87	0.65
Asymmetry	44	44	44
(degrees)	1.1	0.012	0.16
(degrees)	0.30	0.91	0.69
Retraction speed	41	41	41
(dogroop(c)	0.0079	0.55	1.8
(degrees/s)	0.93	0.46	0.19

Protraction speed (degrees/s)	41 0.0046 0.95	41 0.091 0.77	41 0.29 0.59
Spread (degrees)	41 0.0027 0.96	41 2.0 0.17	41 0.35 0.56

Table 4-6 Summary statistics for cross-fostering effects on contact-related (PC-DC) data. Linear mixed effect model and pairwise comparisons with Tukey's adjustment. All post-hoc tests were not significant.

(PC-DC) whisker parameters	Treatment effect $df_1 = 1,$ $df_2,$ F, p	Cross-fostering effect $df_1 = 1,$ $df_2,$ F, p	Treatment: Cross-fostering interaction $df_1 = 1$ , $df_2$ , F, p
Amplitude (degrees)	41 0.033 0.86	41 1.5 0.23	41 0.22 0.64
Mean angular position (degrees)	40 0.43 0.52	40 0.29 0.59	40 0.0047 0.95
Asymmetry (degrees)	40 0.0047 0.95	40 0.35 0.56	40 0.019 0.89
Retraction speed (degrees/s)	40 0.38 0.54	40 0.16 0.670	40 1.8 0.019
Protraction speed (degrees/s)	40 1.6 0.22	40 1.4 0.25	40 1.2 0.28
Spread (degrees)	42 0.38 0.54	42 3.9 0.056	42 0.0036 0.95

# Whisker movements

Table 4-7 **Summary statistics for Treatment\*Texture effects.** Linear mixed effect model and pairwise comparisons with Tukey's adjustment. Texture effect is reported in Tables 3-3 and 3-4. Males and females analysed together.

Whisker parameters	Treatment effect df <sub>1</sub> = 1, df <sub>2</sub> , F, p	Treatment:Texture effect $df_1 = 1,$ $df_2,$ F, p
PC amplitude (degrees)	46 2.5 0.13	100 3.0 0.090
PC mean angular position (degrees)	45 1.4 0.24	110 0.070 0.79
PC asymmetry (degrees)	44 1.3 0.26	110 0.20 0.65
PC retraction speed (degrees/s)	39 0.14 0.71	110 0.021 0.89
PC protraction speed (degrees/s)	38 0.010 0.92	110 1.4 0.24

PC spread (degrees)	40 0.0035 0.95	110 0.015 0.90
(PC-DC) amplitude (degrees)	40 0.0042 0.95	110 0.35 0.56
(PC-DC) mean angular position (degrees)	38 0.82 0.37	110 0.047 0.83
(PC-DC) asymmetry (degrees)	38 0.0044 0.95	110 0.058 0.81
(PC-DC) retraction speed (degrees/s)	38 0.83 0.37	110 0.080 0.78
(PC-DC) protraction speed (degrees/s)	38 2.3 0.14	110 1.4 0.24
(PC-DC) spread (degrees)	43 0.32 0.58	110 1.9 0.17

# CHAPTER 5 HOMOZYGOUS REELER MICE REVEAL WHISKER MOVEMENT DEFICITS PRE-CONTACT WITH A NOVEL OBJECT AND DURING AN OPEN FIELD HABITUATION TASK

#### Chapter summary

Reeler mice have been suggested as a model for several disorders, including the developmental disruption of cortical layers, lissencephaly type 2 and perhaps even epilepsy. Homozygous reeler mice were chosen here since they have a complex behavioural phenotype and few studies have revealed robust behavioural and cognitive deficits in these mice, despite their neuroanatomical disruptions. Using the standard whisker protocol, only one whisker measure - pre-contact spread was found to be affected by genotype. Moreover, an infrared 30 fps camera was paired with a high-speed camera to record the whole object exploration experiment, rather than just the small periods of exploration that are usually captured. This showed that reeler mice spent the same length of time around the object as wildtype mice. Further testing revealed that previous exposure to the arena might influence whisker measures obtained using the standard protocol. Additional testing was performed where whisker movements were filmed with the high-speed camera in an open field environment and during a further habituation period of five sessions. Whisker movements were compared in the open field as well as in the first and fifth habituation sessions. Habituation affected locomotion speed, whisker amplitude, mean angular position and spread. Then, high-speed video clips captured during novel object recognition task were revisited to measure the nose to object distance. Statistically, the distance from object was not different, although reeler mice were generally further from the object. I posit distance from the object might have influenced the number of clips that were included in the original analysis. Whisker movements remain a powerful behavioural measurement tool; however, the usual protocol might not suit all mouse models, especially if their impairment does not allow for a close contact with the object.

## 5.1 Introduction

Reeler mice (Falconer, 1951) have a mutation in the reelin gene responsible to produce the reelin protein, which is involved in cerebral cortex development and the formation of cortical layers (D'Arcangelo et al., 1995). Reelin gene mutation results in mice with visible motor impairment (ataxia, dystonia) and cerebral cortex abnormalities, specifically the absence of layers in the somatosensory cortex, where neurons would normally stack up into 6 layers (D'Arcangelo et al., 1995; see Figure 1-2 of this thesis) and differences in vasculature architecture (Inoue, 1990). Hence, homozygous reeler mice are used as a model for the developmental disruption of cortical layers. They have also been proposed as a model of lissencephaly type 2, a rare human developmental disease characterised by abnormal brain pathology and congenital muscular dystrophy (Lossi et al., 2019). Homozygous reeler mice have also been found to display epileptic seizures during recovery from isoflurane anaesthesia, while their wildtype counterparts did not (Kopjas et al., 2006); however, a reeler mouse model of epilepsy is still in its development (Lossi et al., 2019).

Up until recently, it has been thought that layers have an important function in how neurons are connected and work in the brain. Therefore, it was surprising to see that reeler mice have only a slight cognitive impairment in spatial memory and executive function (Goldowitz and Koch, 1986). New studies have since challenged the idea of layers being a mandatory component of a normally functioning brain, mostly from studying reeler mice, where brain plasticity has enabled reeler mouse neurons to be almost as functional and connective as those of wildtype mice, despite their distorted brain structure (Guy and Staiger, 2017, see Figure 1 of the paper referenced for how cortical layers of a control mouse look like next to the absence of lamination in a reeler mouse). For example, the topological whisker representations like that of wildtype mice (Guy et al., 2015). Additionally, the basic visual abilities in reeler mice are unaffected, but the more complex perception tasks, such as orientation discrimination, are compromised; interestingly, reelin deficiency seems to enhance the juvenile visual plasticity

levels into the late adulthood age (Pielecka-Fortuna et al., 2015). In terms of motor disturbances, homozygous reeler mice not only exhibit ataxic gait but also have a deficit in forepaw dexterity, including paw guiding and grasping movements, as well as an increase in the threshold of currents required to evoke forelimb movements from an intracortical microstimulation (Nishibe et al., 2018).

Reeler mice are of particular interest in my thesis because they lack layers in the barrel cortex (does not have the standard structure as in Figure 1-2 C), which contains the structural representation of whiskers. They also have reduced inputs to the motor cortex, increased inputs to the contralateral barrel cortex, as well as a larger corpus callosum from more callosal projection neurons (Hafner et al., 2021) which may also impact whisker movements. For example, I might expect that the increased projections to the corpus callosum may affect bilateral whisker behaviours, such as contact-induced asymmetry. Reeler mice have major motor disturbances, including ataxic gait and extrapyramidal tics; however, most behavioural studies in reeler mice do not reveal significant cognitive disturbances (Guy and Staiger, 2017).

The tactile sensory function of reeler mice has not been extensively studied before, although I have previously found differences between heterozygous reeler and wildtype male mice in the whisker mean angular position at 7-9 months (Simanaviciute et al., 2020). However, a more extensive study is needed to truly understand whether whisking in reeler mice is different between male and female mice, as well as whether there are any differences in homozygous reeler mice. The aim of Chapter 5 is to validate the whisker tracking protocol against common measures of exploration, which addresses my third PhD objective – including time spent in the arena at the walls, centre and object. Homozygous reeler mice were chosen for investigation here, since they have a complex behavioural phenotype, and few findings have shown strong behavioural and cognitive deficits, despite their neuroanatomical disruptions (Guy and Staiger, 2017). In this chapter, I first investigate whisker movements before and during novel object exploration as well as in an open field to study the motor, sensory and attentional phenotype of reeler mice. I then further develop the protocol by introducing an additional overhead

camera to find out if such integration is feasible and advantageous. Habituation to the arena will then be investigated in additional open field sessions, in combination with the current whisker tracking protocol, to understand if the method can be applied in rodent disease models where the approach to an object is affected.

#### 5.2 Materials and methods

#### Animals

Reeler mice in this study were genetically designed to be able to visualise three neuronal populations in their brain - vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), somatostatin (SOM) and vasopressin (VP) - for parallel brain anatomy studies. The behaviour of reeler mice from different lines was not expected to be different, but it was tested before combining all reeler mice together. The reeler line (B6C3Fe a/a-ReInrl/J, The Jackson Laboratory) was crossed with the VIP-Cre, SOM-Cre and PV-Cre lines to breed VIP-Cre/reeler, SOM-Cre/reeler and PV-Cre/reeler mice heterozygous for reelin mutation. These animals were then crossed to generate VIP-Cre/reeler, SOM-Cre/reeler and PV-Cre/reeler mice, all homozygous for reelin knockout. To visualize the population of VIP, SOM and PV cells, the VIP-Cre/reeler, SOM-Cre/reeler and PV-Cre/reeler line were crossed with the Ai9 tdTomato reporter line (B6.Cg-Gt(ROSA)26Sortm9(CAGtdTomato)Hze/J, The Jackson Laboratory) to achieve tdTomato expression in VIP, SOM and PV neurons. Wildtype littermates were used for comparison in the experiments. Mice were housed in groups in standard cages in a reversed 12-hour light/dark cycle (lights on from 7 pm to 7 am) and with ad libitum access to food and water. All experimental procedures were performed in accordance with German laws on animal research. The experimental protocol was approved by the local ethics committee at the University of Göttingen and at Manchester Metropolitan University (reference no. 2019-11562-7372).

Due to the low survival rate in reeler mice, it is difficult to produce mice in specific age groups. Mice in these experiments included both males and females aged between 2 and 8 months of age. 25 animals undertook the novel object exploration and open field experiments. However, in the open field and object exploration task,

6 mice were previously exposed to the test arena for 5 open field habituation sessions (10 minutes each) and 1 texture recognition task (10 minutes) where mice explored two objects different from the object used in this study. Even though the final exposure to arena was less than 24 hours before the main experiment, they were found not to behave any differently from naïve mice in the open field, so they were included in the open field tasks. After clip selection (see criteria below), 22 mice were included in the open field study, which included naïve and previously exposed mice (Table 5-1, Open field).

Open field				
Genotype	12 reeler	10 wildtype		
Sex	13 male	9 female		
Line	6 VIP	6 SOM	10 VP	
Age	8 mice	4 mice	6 mice	4 mice
	2 months	3 months	4.5 months	8 months
Previous exposure	18 naïve	4 previously		
		exposed		
Novel object explora	ition			
Genotype	9 reeler	9 wildtype		
Sex	12 male	6 female		
Line	3 VIP	5 SOM	10 PV	
Age	8 mice	4 mice	5 mice	1 mouse
	2 months	3 months	4.5 months	8 months
Previous exposure	18 naïve	0 previously		
		exposed		
1 <sup>st</sup> Habituation				
Genotype	10 reeler	11 wildtype		
5 <sup>th</sup> Habituation				
Genotype	9 reeler	8 wildtype		

Table 5-1 **Animal numbers** for each task, including the breakdown for genotype, sex, line, age and previous exposure to the arena.

Unlike the open field, the novel object exploration study brought out significant differences in whisker movements of mice that were previously exposed to the test arena, compared to those of naïve mice (data presented in 5.3 Results and 5.4 Discussion). Hence, for further analysis, the 6 previously exposed mice were removed from the object exploration study, leaving 18 mice for inclusion following clip selection (Table 5-1, Novel object exploration). The habituation study started off with 24 mice and after clip selection ended up with 21 mice in the 1<sup>st</sup> habituation and 17 mice in the 5<sup>th</sup> habituation. The breakdown of genotype, sex, line, age and previous exposure status can be found in Table 5-1.

#### Experimental procedures

A Pyrex glass bottle stopper (Figure 5-2A) was placed inside the arena to facilitate exploratory behaviour for 5-10 mins and then taken away for another 5-10 minutes of open field exploration. For this part of the study, all mice were filmed on the same day. For all other methods which remain unchanged across the experimental Chapters, please refer to Chapter 2 General methods.

An additional overhead infrared camera (DVcam) was introduced to record the whole session of the exploratory task at 30 frames per second with a resolution of 1920 × 1080 pixels. This was the first time another camera was introduced alongside high-speed video filming. For part two of this study, the same mice were placed in the same arena for additional habituation trials. This time, mice were tested on different days from part one of the study. Up to 6 mice per day were habituated 5 times for 10 minutes each. The 1st and the 5<sup>th</sup> habituation sessions were captured using the same videography techniques as the first part of the study. Both parts of the study are illustrated in Figure 5-1 with references to animal sample sizes at each stage.



Figure 5-1 A scheme showing the sequence of experiments in Chapter 5 and animal numbers at each stage.



Figure 5-2 **Experimental set up.** Panel A shows the glass bottle stopper object used in the novel object exploration task; Panel B illustrates the filming set-up, the object size and location in relation to the Perspex box and the distance between the arena and high-speed video camera. The field of view in light grey corresponds to the video stills in Panel C showing an example high-speed video clip. ARTv2 LocoWhisk software was used to automatically locate the mouse centroid (red point, yellow line), nose tip (red point, blue line) and whiskers (coloured lines), and detects them on a frame-by-frame basis. Panel D shows the set up with both the highspeed and overhead camera placement.

# High-speed video analysis

1-9 clips per mouse were included in data analysis; a total of 110 open field clips and 73 (without previously exposed mice) object exploration clips were included in the analysis. In the habituation study, 1<sup>st</sup> habituation had 189 video clips, and the 5<sup>th</sup> habituation included 106 clips. For nose to object analysis 152 clips were included.

# Nose to object distance and general behaviour

Novel object exploration clips were revisited to investigate if reeler mice got as close to the object as wildtype mice. The tape measure tool in Tracker (6.1.5) was used to manually measure the shortest distance from the tip of the nose to the object, once per video clip, when the mouse was the closest to the object. This allowed the assessment of video clips that normally would be removed due to the clip selection criteria for the DC part, such as when whiskers were not contacting the object, or the mouse did not orient and further explore the object. Data points were averaged per mouse for analysis.

For general behaviour, mice were manually timed using BORIS software (v.8.20, Friard and Gamba, 2016) in the overhead infrared video clips. Mice were recorded throughout the whole duration of the novel object exploration and open field trial. Durations were measured for the time spent around the arena walls, in the middle of the arena and around the object, giving one data point for each mouse per arena position.

# Histology and cell count

Two mice (1 reeler 5-month-old female and 1 wildtype 6.5-month-old male) were euthanised via an approved schedule 1 procedure and perfused. The brain was removed and then sectioned on a vibratome (VT 1200 S, Leica) into 100 µm thick coronal sections rostral and caudal to the barrel cortex (like Hafner et al., 2021). Free-floating slices were stained for VGAT (1:1500), VGLUT1 (1:1000) and DAPI following a standard immunohistochemistry protocol, as per the antibody manufacturer recommendations. VGAT (Synaptic Systems, Germany) is a monoclonal antibody which identifies glycine and GABAergic connections, while VGLUT1 (Synaptic Systems, Germany) is a polyclonal antibody used to identify glucose transporter proteins. Sections were also stained with DAPI, diluted 1:1000 in TRIS buffer solution (TB, consisting of 20 mM Tris, pH 7.2, 150 mM NaCL), which stains cell nuclei blue. After several washes in TB, sections were mounted in Aqua-Poly-Mount (Polysciences) and coverslipped.

Images of the slides were acquired as z-stacks using Leica fluorescence Thunder Imager with a x63 oil immersion objective. The Mouse Brain Atlas (Paxinos and Franklin, 2013) was used to identify the regions of interest: corpus callosum (CC), motor cortex (M1) and primary somatosensory cortex barrel field (S1BF). 32 images were captured from wildtype mice and 28 images from reeler mice. On review of the histology, the VGAT and VGLUT1 stains had not penetrated the whole slide, therefore these were not included in further analyses and cell counts were conducted on the DAPI stained nuclei only.

## Statistical analyses

For all whisker and locomotion measurements, each variable was compared between wildtype and transgenic mice. Checks for differences between sex, age, line and previous exposure and graphs for object exploration and habituation studies were produced in GraphPad Prism 9. All other statistical tests were run in R Studio. A Linear Mixed-Effects Model (LMEM) was to analyse the effect genotype, line, age and sex on all PC and PC-DC whisker variables. The model computed F tests on the fixed effects and provided p-values using a type III ANOVA.

The nose distance and neuroanatomical data were analysed using unpaired t-tests and graphed in Microsoft Excel (version 2308). The overhead video clips were analysed as percentage of time spent in the areas of arena and statistically evaluated using Pearson's Chi-squared test.

# 5.3 Results

Significant differences were found between the previously exposed and naïve animals (unpaired t-tests, GraphPad Prism) in PC asymmetry (df = 22, t = 2.168, p= 0.0413), PC spread (df = 22, t = 2.113, p = 0.0462) and PC-DC protraction speed (df = 22, t = 3.118, p = 0.0050). Therefore, the 6 previously exposed mice were removed from further novel object exploration analyses and the results in this chapter only include naïve mice. Data from previously exposed mice are, however, included in the figures (Figure 5-3 and Figure 5-4) separately from naïve mice but were not analysed due to being such a small sample size. Main results from LMEM models are reported in Table 5-2.

# Pre-contact (PC) quantitative whisker and locomotion movements

A genotype effect was found in PC whisker spread when testing Genotype by Sex (genotype: F (1, 12.057) = 5.4403, p = 0.03781; sex: F (1, 12.057) = 0.2001, p = 0.66254; interaction F (1, 12.057) = 2.5175, p = 0.13845), Figure 5-3, sex effects not shown, Table 5-3). However, pairwise comparisons showed no significant differences in post-hoc tests (p values > 0.05). The same PC whisker spread measure was not significantly different when tested in Genotype by Age (genotype: F (1, 9.2176) = 1.1135, p = 0.3182; age: F (3, 9.1696) = 0.5064, p = 0.6873; interaction F (2, 9.3618) = 0.0885, p = 0.9160), Table 5-3) nor in Genotype by Line (genotype: F (1, 9.4032) = 2.9525, p = 0.1184; line: F (2, 9.5170) = 2.1930, p = 0.1647; interaction F (2, 9.5170) = 0.0677, p = 0.9350).

There were no genotype nor sex differences in other PC metrics, including PC amplitude (genotype: F (1, 11.585) = 0.5489, sex: F (1, 11.585) = 0.1817; interaction F (1, 11.585) = 0.3880), PC mean angular position (genotype: F (1, 10.54) = 1.9549; sex: F (1, 10.54) = 3.3027; interaction F (1, 10.54) = 4.0765), PC asymmetry (genotype: F (1, 10.54) = 1.7344; sex: F (1, 10.54) = 2.3691; interaction F (1, 10.54) = 1.4471, all p > 0.05, Figure 5-3, Table 5-3), PC locomotion speed (genotype: F (1, 11.427) = 2.7201, sex: F (1, 11.427) = 0.0806; interaction F (1, 11.427) = 0.6950), PC retraction speed (genotype: F (1, 10.54) = 0.5499; interaction: F (1, 10.54) = 1.3600) and PC

protraction speed (genotype: F (1, 10.54) = 0.2877; sex: F (1, 10.54) = 0.8972; interaction: F (1, 10.54) = 0.8442, all p > 0.05, Figure 5-4, Table 5-3).



Figure 5-3 Angular whisker movement measurements: mean angular position, spread, amplitude and asymmetry. Note the increase in amplitude (C), asymmetry (D) and a decrease in spread (B) from PC to DC part of the video clips representing the robust contact-related changes in naïve mice. The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with error bars representing SEM. Data points show mean values



for individual mice, indicated by open circles for naïve mice and open squares for mice previously exposed to the arena. PC = pre-contact, DC = during contact.

Figure 5-4 Speed-based measures: whisker retraction speed, whisker protraction speed and average centroid (locomotion) speed. Note the decrease in all speeds from PC to DC as a representation of the robust contact-related behaviours in naïve mice. The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with error bars representing SEM. Data points show mean values for individual mice, indicated by open circles for naïve mice and open squares for mice previously exposed to the arena. PC = pre-contact, DC = during contact.

# Contact-related (PC-DC) quantitative whisker movements

The predicted robust contact-related behaviours (Table 2-1) were present in both reeler naïve and wildtype naïve mice, including an increase in amplitude and asymmetry (Figure 5-3C-D), and a decrease in locomotion speed, retraction speed, protraction speed (Figure 5-4) and spread (Figure 5-3B).

There were no genotype nor sex differences in (PC-DC) metrics, including (PC-DC) amplitude (genotype: F (1, 11.706) = 1.4368; sex: F (1, 11.706) = 0.1276; interaction F (1, 11.706) = 0.5044), (PC-DC) mean angular position (genotype: F (1, 10.831) = 0.0028; sex: F (1, 10.831) = 1.5706; interaction F (1, 10.831) = 0.3062), (PC-DC) asymmetry (genotype: F (1, 10.54) = 1.7784; sex: F (1, 10.54) = 0.3957; interaction F (1, 10.54) = 0.5683), (PC-DC) spread (genotype: F (1, 11.303) = 1.1233; sex: F (1, 11.303) = 0.2862; interaction F (1, 11.303) = 0.3334, all p > 0.05, Figure 5-3, Table 5-3), (PC-DC) locomotion speed (genotype: F (1, 10.556) = 2.8249; sex: F (1, 10.556) = 0.3091; interaction F (1, 10.54) = 0.0354; interaction speed (genotype: F (1, 10.54) = 0.3659; sex: F (1, 10.54) = 0.0354; interaction: F (1, 10.54) = 0.4862), (PC-DC) protraction speed (genotype: F (1, 10.55) = 1.9474; sex: F (1, 10.55) = 0.7139; interaction: F (1, 10.55) = 0.2288, all p > 0.05, Figure 5-4, Table 5-3).

## Habituation effect

Since there were no significant genotype effects observed in the novel object exploration task, I further investigated whisker movements in the open field over a period of five habituation sessions. Genotype (F (1, 21.83) = 4.3695, p = 0.04845), habituation (F (2, 392.30) = 27.0910, p < 0.001) and their interaction (F (2, 392.30) = 3.7679, p = 0.02394) affected whisker mean angular position. Not only was the open field different from the 1st and 5th habituation in both reeler and wildtype mice, but also the 1st and 5th habituation in reeler mice was significantly different. Specifically, open field mean angular positions were higher than those during the 5th habituation in reeler (p < 0.0001) and wildtype (p = 0.0009) mice. Similarly, open field mean angular positions were higher compared to the 1st habituation in both reeler (p = 0.0251) and wildtype (p < 0.0001) mice. Additionally, whisker

mean angular position was lower during the 5th habituation compared to the 1st habituation in reeler mice (p = 0.0132), Figure 5-5, Table 5-2).

Habituation (F (2, 389.35) = 52.7808, p < 0.0001), but not genotype (F (1, 21.93) = 2.8127, p = 0.1077) nor habituation and genotype interaction (F (2, 389.35) = 0.5817, p = 0.5594), affected locomotion speed. Specifically, locomotion speed in the 1st and 5th habituation was significantly higher than in the original open field in both reeler and wildtype mice (5th habituation compared to open field in reeler mice, p = 0.0001; 1st habituation compared to open field in reeler mice, p = 0.0001; 1st habituation compared to open field in reeler mice, p < 0.0001, as well as 5<sup>th</sup> habituation compared to open field in wildtype mice, p < 0.0001, Figure 5-6, Table 5-2). Similarly, habituation, but not genotype nor habituation and genotype interaction had a general effect on whisker amplitude (genotype: F (1, 21.69) = 0.2716, p = 0.60756; habituation: F (2, 394.77) = 3.4589, p = 0.03242; interaction: F (2, 394.77) = 0.8637, p = 0.42241), but posthoc tests were not significant (Figure 5-5, Table 5-2).

There was no effect of genotype (F (1, 21.99) = 0.0310, p = 0.86182), but an effect of habituation (F (2, 386.93) = 100.0567, p < 0.001) and interaction (F (2, 386.93) = 3.4591, p = 0.03243) on whisker spread. Spread was higher in open field compared to the 1st and the 5 habituations, in both reeler and wildtype mice (all p< 0.0001). Furthermore, spread was lower during the 5th habituation compared to the 1st habituation in reeler mice (p = 0.0001, Figure 5-5, Table 5-2). There were no genotype nor habituation differences in asymmetry (genotype: F (1, 20.31) = 0.6419; habituation F (1, 358.90) = 0.5191; interaction F (1, 358.90) = 0.2078, Figure 5-5, Table 5-2), retraction speed (genotype: F (1, 21.00) = 2.0899; habituation: F (2, 392.58) = 2.8176; interaction: F (2, 392.58) = 0.7124) or protraction speed (genotype: F (1, 20.94) = 0.3760; habituation: F (2, 391.32) = 0.5017; interaction: F (2, 391.32) =0.3051), all p > 0.05 (Figure 5-6, Table 5-2).

	3		I,	r
	Genotype	Habituation	Genotype:	Significant post-hoc test results
	effect	effect	Habituation	
			interaction	
	df <sub>1</sub> = 1,	df <sub>1</sub> = 2,	df <sub>1</sub> = 2,	
	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	df <sub>2</sub> ,	
	F,	F,	F,	
	р	р	р	
Locomotion	21.93	52.7808	389.35	TG: 1st habituation > OF
speed	2.8127	389.35	0.5817	TG: 5th habituation > OF
(m/s)	0.1077	< 0.0001	0.5594	WT: 1st habituation > OF
		***		WT: 5th habituation > OF
Amplitude	21.69	394.77	394.77	All n.s.
(degrees)	0.2716	3.4589	0.8637	
	0.60756	0.03242	0.42241	
		*		
Mean	21.83	392.30	392.30	TG: 1st habituation < OF
angular	4.3695	27.0910	3.7679	TG: 5th habituation < OF
position	0.04845	< 0.0001	0.02394	WT: 1st habituation < OF
(degrees)	*	***	*	WT: 5th habituation < OF
				TG: 1st habituation > 5th
				habituation
Asymmetry	20.31	358.90	358.90	All n.s.
(degrees)	0.6419	0.5191	0.2078	
	0.4323	0.5955	0.8125	
Retraction	21.00	392.58	392.58	All n.s.
speed	2.0899	2.8176	0.7124	
(degrees/s)	0.16303	0.06096	0.49110	

Table 5-2 **Habituation effects.** TG = reeler, WT = wildtype mice, OF – open field. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *, p \le 0.001 = ***$ .

Protraction	20.94	391.32	391.32	All n.s.
speed	0.3760	0.5017	0.3051	
(degrees/s)	0.5463	0.6059	0.7372	
Spread	21.99	386.93	386.93	TG: 1st habituation < OF
(degrees)	0.0310	100.0567	3.4591	TG: 5th habituation < OF
	0.86182	< 0.0001	0.03243	WT: 1st habituation < OF
		***	*	WT: 5th habituation < OF
				TG: 1st habituation > 5th
				habituation



Figure 5-5 Habituation effects on angle-based whisker measures. Significant habituation effects were found in mean angular position (A) and spread (B). The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with error bars representing SEM. Data points show mean values for individual mice, indicated by open circles for naïve mice and open squares for mice previously exposed to the arena. OF = open filed, HAB1 = first habituation, HAB5 = 5<sup>th</sup> habituation. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *, p \le 0.001 = ***$ .



Figure 5-6 Habituation effects on speed-based whisker and body measures. Significant habituation effects were found in average centroid speed (C). The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with error bars representing SEM. Data points show mean values for individual mice, indicated by open circles for naïve mice and open squares for mice previously exposed to the arena. OF = open filed, HAB1 = first habituation, HAB5 = 5<sup>th</sup> habituation. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.001 = ***$ .

## Nose to object distance and general behaviour

As the usual novel object exploration task resulted in additional observations of some mice not coming close enough to the object for it to be considered as contact (Figure 5-7), causing those video clips to be removed from the usual analysis, a nose-to-object distance and general arena position behaviour was measured further to investigate this. There were no significant differences between reeler and wildtype mice in the nose to object distance measure (t-test, df = 14, t = -1.0919, p = 0.2933, Figure 5-8), analysed per mouse, even though the reeler mouse nose to object distance was higher than the wildtype mice (Figure 5-8). There was also no significant difference in the percentage of time spent around the object, around the walls, or in the middle of the arena between reeler and wildtype mice in the overhead infrared video clips (Pearson's Chi-squared test, df = 2, X-squared = 0.84438, p = 0.6556, Figure 5-8).



Figure 5-7 The distance to object of wildtype (A) and reeler (B) mice during a novel object exploration task. Both pictures show whiskers at their maximum protraction.



Figure 5-8 **Nose distance and general behaviour.** Nose distance measures: n = 7 wildtype and n = 9 reeler; time measures n = 12 wildtype and n = 11 reeler. Percentage of time around the object was calculated only when object was present, while time in the middle of arena and around the walls was calculated as part percentage of time in the open field and in object presence.

## Neuroanatomy

There were no significant differences between reeler and wildtype mice in cell counts for sensory cortex barrel field (S1BF, t-test, df = 21.338, t = -0.27015, p = 0.7896, Figure 5-9) and corpus callosum brain areas (CC, t-test, df = 16.417, t = 1.1107, p = 0.2827, Figure 5-9). However, the cell count in motor cortex brain area
was significantly lower in reeler mice, compared to wildtype mice (M1, t-test, df = 9.9309, t = 2.8451, p = 0.01751, Figure 5-9).



# Wildtype M1



Figure 5-9 Reeler mice have significantly lower cell count in the motor cortex (M1). S1BF: primary somatosensory area barrel field; CC: corpus callosum. Bottom panels show an example image of M1 area. The image was taken with a x63 oil immersion objective and blue colour represents the cell nuclei. Imaging was done throughout all layers and it is not clear which cortical layer the two example pictures are from, especially in the reeler brain which did not have layers.

#### 5.4 Discussion

#### Summary

Using the standard whisker protocol, only one whisker measure – pre-contact spread - was found to be affected in Genotype and Sex comparisons, without any significant differences revealed in post-hoc tests. Additional observations suggested that reeler mice often did not contact the novel object, resulting in a reduced number of contact-related clips in reeler mice, limiting the sample sizes of the during-contact (DC) whisker metrics. Habituation to the experimental arena without an object had a significant effect on locomotion speed, whisker amplitude, mean angular position and spread, although genotype differences were only observed in mean angular position, which was lower during the 5th habituation compared to the 1st habituation in reeler mice. Further experiments determined that reeler mice did not significantly differ from wildtype mice in time spent in the middle of arena, around the walls or around the object. While the nose to object measurement in reeler mice was nearly twice that of wildtype mice, this was not statistically significant either.

#### Novel object exploration task: previous exposure differences

There were significant differences between naïve mice and those that have been previously exposed to the testing arena. Namely, the previously exposed mice had lower PC asymmetry, higher PC spread and lower (negative) PC-DC protraction speeds, meaning that protraction speed was not reduced following a contact. The expected behaviour of a mouse upon contacting a new object is to increase whisker asymmetry and reduce whisker spread and whisking speeds (Mitchinson et al., 2007; Grant et al., 2009; Grant et al., 2018a). Here, the naïve mice followed these patterns, but the mice previously exposed to the arena did not. These whisking strategies enable mice to collect more sensory information and the focusing and positioning behaviours are also related to attention (Arkley et al., 2014; Mitchinson and Prescott, 2013). Because the mice were exposed to the arena for three consecutive days on the day before the novel object exploration

task, I assume they became habituated to the environment. However, only one out of six sessions throughout the three days involved objects, and the objects used in those sessions were different in size, texture and shape from the glass bottle stopper used in the novel object exploration study. It is not clear why the behaviour of mice would differ significantly in this case and why these differences would only manifest in the novel object exploration task and not the open field task. Perhaps habituation to arena has a significant impact on many behaviours and could be a useful tool when looking for differences in mouse behaviour. This will be further reviewed in the Discussion chapter of this thesis (Chapter 6).

#### Pre-contact whisker movements

I previously assessed the whisking and exploratory behaviours of reeler mice in the pre-contact portion of the novel object exploration task (Simanaviciute et al., 2020) and found that the PC mean angular position was significantly higher in heterozygous reeler than in wildtype mice. PC mean angular position was not significantly affected in the reeler mice in this current study, however, the age and genetics of the mice here were different from those in the previous one, where I tested heterozygous reeler mice of 7-9 months of age. Rather, here, I found that PC whisker spread may be significantly affected in the reeler mice and whisker spread was not measured in the previous paper (Simanaviciute et al., 2020).

Indeed, it is surprising that such disrupted brain anatomy in the reeler mice (Hafner et al., 2021) can give rise to only subtle behavioural differences. When I examined the brain anatomy of the whisker-related areas M1, S1BF and CC, significant reductions were found in cell counts in the motor cortex, as supported by Hafner et al. (2021) study which involved larger sample sizes and expert neuroanatomical methods. While ablation of the motor cortex has been found to affect whisker asymmetry, amplitude and speeds (Gao et al. 2009), I found genotype differences in PC spread and in mean angular position in the open field habituation studies. Perhaps much of the motor cortex is left intact in reeler mice, despite the reduction in cell counts, and compensatory brain mechanisms could

also probably protect the whiskers from being largely impacted, since they are such an important sense in mice.

#### Contact-related whisker movements

There were no significant effects of genotype (reeler vs. wildtype) in the PC-DC measures. It is exceedingly rare to not find an effect in these metrics and thus far has only occurred in scPCP rats (Landreth et al., 2021). There are, however, multiple mouse models that do show differences between the model and wildtype mice in this exact set up and task, such as 5xFAD model of Alzheimer's disease (Grant et al., 2018b) and 3xTg-AD model of Alzheimer's disease (Simanaviciute et al., 2022).

Since there were lower sample numbers in the object exploration task for reeler mice (27 clips), compared to the wildtype mice (46 clips), it introduced a question of whether reeler mice were avoiding or not getting close enough to the object which would result in a reduced sample size after clip selection. To address this, a new behavioural set-up was developed by the addition of an overhead camera. Using this, I found that reeler mice spent the same length of time around the object as control mice. However, the distance to the object measure from the high-speed video footage showed that reeler mice tended not to get as close to the object as wildtype mice, although this was not statistically significant. Small changes in distance to the object are likely to increase the chances of the animals not touching the object with their whiskers (Figure 5-7) and that could still affect which clips were included in the usual analysis, despite that measure not being statistically different. This is an important consideration for standardising the protocol and will be further reviewed in this chapter in 5.5 Method development section.

#### Open field

Due to the visible ataxia and motor impairments that reeler mice exhibit, it was surprising to see no differences between reeler and wildtype mice neither in locomotion speed nor in any whisking behaviours in the open field. There is a possibility of a bias when selecting the video clips for those mice that have severe motor disturbances, especially in reeler mice, known for reeling behaviour. One of the selection criteria for open field clips is that mice must keep their head in level with the floor and the clips captured were just over one second long. This presents the possibility that only lesser-impacted episodes made it to the open field analysis, and hence the differences captured in the analysis were not significant. While reeler mice did not show impacted whisker and locomotor behaviour in the open field arena, many mouse models have shown significant differences between the model and wildtype mice in the same open field set-up, including the SOD1 model of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis, R6/2 model of Huntington's disease (with sex differences in protraction and retraction speeds) and MCAO model of ischaemic stroke (Simanaviciute at al., 2020).

#### Habituation effect

To build on my observation that whisker movements were affected by previous exposure to the arena, mice were filmed with a high-speed camera during a further habituation period. Habituation was found to affect mean angular position and spread in reeler mice, where during the 1st habituation both mean angular position and spread were higher than in the 5th habituation. As for most (18) mice the open field session happened before the additional habituation sessions, it is also worth looking at the changes occurring from open field to the 1st habituation to then the 5th habituation. With that in mind, additional habituation affected both wildtype and reeler mice with mean angular position, spread and locomotion speed all generally decreasing over the habituation period. This means that, following habituation, animals were moving slower, they were holding their whiskers further back and more spread out, which might suggest that the animals were not as motivated to explore the arena. In particular, whisker angular position in reeler mice decreased consistently between the open field and the 1st and 5th habituation, suggesting that they were less focused on the area ahead of themselves as they got more familiar with the environment (Arkley et al., 2014). The effect of habituation on whisker movements has not really been investigated before, although Arkley et al.

(2014) found that, in sighted rats, increasing familiarity of the experimental set up while training to perform a task resulted in increased locomotion speed, more forward whiskers and increased whisker amplitude. This is the opposite of my findings of decreased locomotion speed and angular position and likely points to the behavioural differences that occur between tasks. For example, Arkley et al. (2014) trained rodents using food rewards to complete a specific task in a changing environment, while results discussed in this chapter came from tasks without animal training and no environmental changes. Nevertheless, running multiple sessions and observing whisker movement changes during a habituation period might be a useful task to add to our usual procedures. This will be an important consideration for the protocol standardisation further detailed in the Discussion Chapter 6 of this thesis.

#### **5.5 Method development**

Since the usual object exploration task only revealed genotype effects on the PC measure of spread, and no genotype effects on any contact-related (PC-DC) whisker movements, I conducted a supplementary study looking at habituation to the arena. This identified an additional genotype effect in mean angular position and spread, and habituation effects in many of the whisker variables. This is the first study to look at habituation in whisker movements and is an exciting avenue for future research. I suggest that the standard whisker measurement protocol should be adapted to incorporate other tasks to suit the specific rodent model, especially if there are no significant findings in the usual task, and if observations during the usual task can provide evidence for an additional measure. For example, here I saw that animals that had been exposed to the arena before behaved differently, which was my motivation for including the habituation study.

I suggested that the lack of findings in the PC-DC measures may be due to fewer clips being collected of the reeler mice interacting with the object. Indeed, I observed the reeler mice often not contacting the object with their whiskers, despite being close to it. To investigate this further, I installed an overhead infrared camera to monitor the position of the mice throughout the whole trial. This gave a lot of insight into their behaviour, compared to my usual data collection, which only collects snippets of videos of ~1 second, rather than a full ~10-minute video for each trial. The reeler mice all spent the same amount of time around the object, compared to the wildtype mice. And despite often being further from the object, this was not a statistically significant finding. The addition of the overhead camera provides a useful extra monitoring system alongside the high-speed video footage. It can also offer flexibility, allowing researchers to collect additional data after the trials have been conducted, such as the position of the mouse in the arena, their proximity to the object, or number of interactions with the object.

# 5.6 Conclusion

This work has contributed to the third PhD objective – integrating whisker movement protocol with other behavioural tasks and placing them within the context of general exploratory behaviour. While I still think that whisker movements are a powerful behavioural measurement tool, my observations in reeler mice suggest that making measurements in a standardized manner might not suit all mouse models if their impairment does not allow for a close contact with the object. Incorporating whisker measurements within a further battery of behavioural tests allows detection of additional exploratory-related parameters. Therefore, further work should consider incorporating whisker movements into more common behavioural tests to complement standard tasks that assess object exploration and habituation in particular.

# 5.7 Supplementary material

Table 5-3 Novel object exploration result	Its. Main results are reported for all whisker measures.
Additional post-hoc analyses	s and means are reported for PC spread.

> #PC average centroid speed
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 0.00099528 0.00099528 1 9.0048 1.8860 0.2029
Line 0.00033563 0.00016782 2 9.1210 0.3179 0.7354
Genotype:Line 0.00004132 0.00002066 2 9.1210 0.0391 0.9618
> #Log PC amplitude

Sum Sa, Mean Sa NumDE, DenDE E value Pr(>E)		
$\begin{array}{c} \hline \\ \hline $		
Genotype:Line 0.032104 0.0160518 2 9.0212 0.8544 0.4573		
> #Tuk PC mean angular position		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 6.0935e+12 6.0935e+12 1 7.4986 0.4386 0.5276		
Line 7.4973e+12 3.7486e+12 2 7.5948 0.2697 0.7706		
Genotype:Line 2.4464e+13 1.2232e+13 2 7.5948 0.8800 0.4532		
> #Sgrt PC asymmetry		
Sum Sq. Mean Sq NumDF, DenDF F value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 0 18330 0 183305 1 6 0018 0 4060 0 5441		
Line 0.52823.0.264116 2.6.9716.0.5858.0.5819		
Constype://ipe.0.04005.0.020027 2.6.0716.0.0444.0.0568		
Genotype.Line 0.04005 0.020027 2 0.9710 0.0444 0.9508		
> #PC retraction and d		
> #PC retraction speed		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F Value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 6775 6775 17.6787 0.0276 0.8724		
Line 3943 1971 2 7.7803 0.0080 0.9920		
Genotype:Line 92961 46481 2 7.7803 0.1892 0.8313		
> #PC protraction speed		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF_DenDF F value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 49237 49237 1 6.9018 0.1666 0.6955		
Line 115895 57947 2 6.9716 0.1960 0.8264		
Genotype:Line 1115376 557688 2 6.9716 1.8860 0.2215		
> #Tuk PC spread		
Sum Sq. Mean Sq.NumDE, DenDE E value Pr(>E)		
Constype 002515555 002515555 1.0.4022 2.0525 0.1184		
Genolype 993313333 993313333 1 9.4032 2.9323 0.1104		
Lille 14/0001/92/30030090 29.51/0 2.1930 0.104/		
Genolype:Line 45550927 22775463 2 9.5170 0.0677 0.9350		
#PCDC average centroid speed		
Type III Analysis of Variance Table with Kenward-Roger's method		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 0.00123468 0.00123468 1 6.9215 1.5307 0.2563		
Line 0.00171432 0.00085716 2 6.9924 1.0618 0.3956		
Genotype:Line 0.00005487 0.00002743 2 6.9924 0.0340 0.9667		
> #PCDC amplitude		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF, DenDF F value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 47 770 47 770 1 0 367/ 1 36/1 0 2717		
Line 12 175 6 088 2 0 $4915$ 0 1729 0 $9424$		
LINE IZ.1/3 0.000 Z 9.4013 U.1/30 U.0431		

Construction 25 746 12 272 2 0 4245 0 2675 0 7040	
Genotype.Line 20.740 12.073 2 9.4010 0.3070 0.7019	
> #PCDC mean angular position	
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)	
Genotype 16.940 16.940 1 6.9018 0.7684 0.4102	
Line 139 810 69 905 2 6 9716 3 1685 0 1050	
Genotype: Line 52 364 26 182 2 6 9716 1 1867 0 3601	
> #Tuk PCDC asymmetry	
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)	
Genotype 6124.9 6124.9 1 7.3311 1.9390 0.2046	
Line 3816.2 1908.1 2 7.4211 0.6037 0.5716	
Genotype:Line 1456.1 728.1 2 7.4211 0.2303 0.7997	
> #PCDC retraction speed	
Sum Sa Mean Sa NumDE, DenDE E value Pr(SE)	
$\frac{100145}{100145} = \frac{100145}{17010} = \frac{17}{1726} = \frac{17}{1726} = \frac{100145}{17010} = \frac{100145}{100145} = \frac{100145}{17010} = \frac{100145}{100145} = \frac{10000}{100145} = \frac{10000}{10000} = $	
Genolype 196145 196145 17.1750 0.4475 0.5245	
Line 47519 23760 27.2570 0.0536 0.9482	
Genotype:Line 2 0.6538	
> #PCDC protraction speed	
Sum Sg Mean Sg NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)	
Genotype 504713 504713 1 7.6301 1.2664 0.2946	
Line 336487 168243 277304 0 4220 0 6700	
Genotype: Line 1823 012 2.7.7304 0.0023 0.0077	
Genotype.Line 1023 912 21.1304 0.0023 0.9911	
N #Tule DODO anno a d	
> #Tuk PCDC spread	
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)	
Genotype 15.2342 15.2342 1 8.2745 3.5784 0.09396 .	
Line 1.4924 0.7462 2 8.3878 0.1752 0.84226	
Genotype:Line 17.8507 8.9253 2 8.3878 2.0959 0.18272	
> #PC average centroid speed	
Sum So, Mean So NumDE, DenDE E value Pr(>E)	
$\begin{array}{c} \hline \\ \hline $	
Sex 0.00004259 0.00004259 111.427 0.0806 0.7816	
Genotype:Sex 0.00036745 0.00036745 1 11.427 0.6950 0.4216	
> #Log PC amplitude	
Sum Sq_Mean Sq NumDF_DenDF F value Pr(>F)	
Genotype 0.0102537 0.0102537 1 11.585 0.5489 0.4735	
Sex 0.0033942.0.0033942 1.11.585.0.1817.0.6777	
Genetyne: Sex 0.0072402 0.0072402 1.11.505 0.1017 0.0777	
Conception 0.0072+32 0.0072+32 111.000 0.0000 0.0404	
N #Tulk DQ magan an mulan nagiti - r	
Sum Sal Mean Sa NumDE DenDE Evalue Pr(>E)	

Genotype 2.5070e+13 2.5070e+13 1 10.54 1.9549 0.19078
Sex 4.2354e+13 4.2354e+13 1 10.54 3.3027 0.09767.
Genotype:Sex 5.2278e+13 5.2278e+13 1 10.54 4.0765 0.06965.
> #Sqrt PC asymmetry
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 0.73616 0.73616 1 10.54 1.7344 0.2158
Sex 1.00555 1.00555 1 10.54 2.3691 0.1532
Genotype:Sex 0.61421 0.61421 1 10.54 1.4471 0.2553
> #PC retraction speed
Type III Analysis of Variance Table with Kenward-Roger's method
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 48282 48282 1 10.54 0.1981 0.6653
Sex 134057 134057 1 10.54 0.5499 0.4746
Genotype:Sex 331557 331557 1 10 54 1 3600 0 2692
> #PC protraction speed
Type III Analysis of Variance Table with Kenward-Roger's method
Sum Sg Mean Sg NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 85303 85303 1 10 54 0 2877 0 6029
Sex 266049 266049 1 10 54 0 8972 0 3648
Genotype:Sex 250334 250334 1 10 54 0 8442 0 3788
> #Tuk PC spread
Type III Analysis of Variance Table with Kenward-Roger's method
Sum So Mean So NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 1790840304 1790840304 1 12.057 5.4403 0.03781 *
Sex 65883384 65883384 1 12.057 0.2001 0.66254
Genotype:Sex 828729162 828729162 1 0.13845
Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1
> Ismeans(m.mixed.TukPC.spread,pairwise~Genotype*Sex)
\$Ismeans
Genotype Sex Ismean SEM df Iower.CL upper.CL
TG F 66893 10330 11.0 44162 89625
WT F 35900 7392 11.5 19711 52089
TG M 50807 6118 14.1 37694 63921
WT M 44910 7168 13.9 29524 60295
Degrees-of-freedom method: kenward-roger
Confidence level used: 0.95
\$contrasts
contrast estimate SEM df t ratio p value
TG F - WT F 30993 12703 11 2 2 440 0 1255

TG F - TG M 16086 12006 11 7 1 340 0 5575		
TG F - WT M 21983 12574 11 8 1 748 0 3433		
WT F - TG M -14908 9595 12 4 -1 554 0 4375		
WT F - WT M -9010 10297 12 6 -0 875 0 8176		
TG M - WT M 5898 9424 14 0 0.626 0.9220		
Degrees-of-freedom method: kenward-roger		
P value adjustment: tukey method for comparing a family of 4 estimates		
> #PCDC average centroid speed		
Sum Sq. Mean Sq NumDE DenDE E value Pr(>E)		
Genetype 0.00226000 0.00226000 1.10.556 2.8240.0.1221		
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		
Sex 0.00024735 0.00024735 1 10.556 0.3091 0.5898		
Genotype.Sex 0.00040019 0.00040019 1 10.350 0.3000 0.4948		
> #PCDC amplituda		
> #PCDC amplitude		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDFF Value PI(>F)		
Genolype 50.700 50.700 1 11.706 1.4368 0.2544		
Sex 4.502 4.502 1 11.706 0.1276 0.7273		
Genotype:Sex 17.798 17.798 1 11.706 0.5044 0.4915		
N #RODO management to a still a		
> #PCDC mean angular position		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F Value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 0.062 0.062 1 10.831 0.0028 0.9589		
Sex 35.296 35.296 1 10.831 1.5706 0.2365		
Genotype:Sex 6.882 6.882 1 10.831 0.3062 0.5912		
> #Tuk PCDC asymmetry		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 5621.1 5621.1 1 10.54 1.7784 0.2104		
Sex 1250.7 1250.7 1 10.54 0.3957 0.5427		
Genotype:Sex 1796.1 1796.1 1 10.54 0.5683 0.4675		
> #PCDC retraction speed		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 160605 160605 1 10.54 0.3659 0.5581		
Sex 15527 15527 1 10.54 0.0354 0.8544		
Genotype:Sex 213411 213411 1 10.54 0.4862 0.5007		
> #PCDC protraction speed		
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)		
Genotype 780178 780178 1 10.55 1.9474 0.1915		
Sex 286007 286007 1 10.55 0.7139 0.4169		
Genotype:Sex 91667 91667 1 10.55 0.2288 0.6422		

Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF_DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 4.8539 4.8539 1 11.303 1.1233 0.3113
Sex 1.2367 1.2367 1 11.303 0.2862 0.6030
Genotype:Sex 1 4407 1 4407 1 11 303 0 3334 0 5750
> #PC average centroid speed
Sum Sq. Mean Sq.NumDE DenDE E value Pr(>E)
Genotype 0.00072630.0.00072630 1.8.5545.1.3753.0.2725
Months 0.00017666.0.00012000 10.00170100 0.2120
Genetype:Months 0.00058814.0.00020407 2.8.6876.0.5564.0.5024
Genotype.iniontins 0.00036614 0.00029407 2 8.0676 0.3364 0.3924
> #Les DC emplitude
> #Log PC amplitude
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 0.0199378 0.0199378 1 8.6364 1.0640 0.3303
Months 0.0213584 0.0071195 3 8.5492 0.3797 0.7703
Genotype:Months 0.0087446 0.0043723 2 8.7734 0.2332 0.7968
> #Tuk PC mean angular position
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 1.3625e+13 1.3625e+13 1 7.9007 0.9842 0.3506
Months 8.3455e+12 2.7818e+12 3 7.7274 0.2006 0.8930
Genotype Months 2 7867e+13 1 3933e+13 2 7 9593 1 0048 0 4082
> #Sort PC asymmetry
Sum Sa Mean Sa NumDE, DenDE E value Pr(>E)
$\begin{array}{c} \hline \\ \hline $
Months 0.03150.0.31050 3.7.3047.0.7164.0.5717
Working         0.93130         0.31030         37.3047         0.7104         0.3717           Construction         0.93130         0.9670         0.75152         0.9762         0.4697
Genolype.ivionuns 1.97341 0.96670 27.5155 2.2765 0.1667
> #PC retraction speed
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 14434 14434 1 7.5602 0.0590 0.8146
Months 120413 40138 3 7.3047 0.1635 0.9177
Genotype:Months 978334 489167 2 7.5153 1.9923 0.2022
> #PC protraction speed
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 880 880 1 7.5815 0.0029 0.9583
Months 751512 250504 3 7.3332 0.8289 0.5171
Genotype:Months 350311 175156 2 7 5461 0 5796 0 5833
> #Tuk PC spread
Sum Sa, Mean Sa NumDF, DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 360625722 360625722 1 0 2176 1 1135 0 3182
Months 50/52028/ 168176/28 2.0.1606 0.506/ 0.6972
WUTUTS 004028204 1001/0420 3 9.1080 0.3004 0.00/3
Genolype:Months 58800081 29400040 2 9.3618 0.0885 0.9160

> #PCDC average centroid speed
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 0.00069063 0.00069063 1 7.5866 0.8582 0.3828
Months 0.00156439 0.00052146 3 7.3399 0.6463 0.6086
Genotype:Months 0.00136388 0.00068194 2 7.5533 0.8451 0.4664
> #PCDC mean angular position
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 13.569 13.569 17.5602 0.6046 0.4605
Months 102.628 34.209 3 7.3047 1.5201 0.2882
Genotype:Months 119.925 59.963 2 7.5153 2.6642 0.1335
> #Tuk PCDC asymmetry
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 4581.9 4581.9 1 7.6788 1.4508 0.2642
Months 7671.1 2557.0 3 7.4587 0.8078 0.5263
Genotype:Months 521.1 260.6 27.6799 0.0823 0.9218
> #PCDC retraction speed
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 220260 220260 1 7.5785 0.4906 0.5046
Months 414277 138092 3 7.3292 0.3068 0.8200
Genotype:Months 90798 45399 27.5418 0.1008 0.9053
> #PCDC protraction speed
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 185111 185111 17.7045 0.4674 0.5142
Months 823367 274456 3 7.4909 0.6915 0.5840
Genotype:Months 123841 61920 2 7.7138 0.1560 0.8582
> #Tuk PCDC spread
Sum Sq Mean Sq NumDF DenDF F value Pr(>F)
Genotype 7.0148 7.0148 1 8.2517 1.6510 0.2337
Months 2.7732 0.9244 3 8.1274 0.2173 0.8817
Genotype:Months 16.5624 8.2812 2 8.3617 1.9470 0.2022

# **CHAPTER 6 DISCUSSION**

#### 6.1 Findings

#### Research findings in disease models

In Chapter 3, I described the earliest motor phenotype I ever observed by tracking whiskers in 3xTg AD mice at only 3 months of age, manifesting as a reduction in whisker angles. Additionally, pre-contact whisking amplitude at 17 months differed between the 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice. During object contact 3xTg-AD mice did not reduce whisker spread as frequently as the wildtype mice at 12.5 and 17 months, which may suggest sensory or attentional deficits. Previous studies have not shown any differences at the latest stages of disease in this mouse model (not significant at 15 months in Stevens and Brown (2015) and Fertan et al. (2019), Table 3-5). Whisker movement abnormalities in Alzheimer's disease could be related to amyloid plaques, as those were detected in the barrel cortex of some AD mouse models, thus, I recommend using this set up in more AD models to understand if amyloid levels are affecting whisker movements specifically in AD models. It does seem like whisker movement measures are particularly well-suited for showing behavioural deficits in AD mice and has also been demonstrated in 5xFAD mice (Grant et al. 2020).

In Chapter 4, I showed whisker movement deficits for the first time in a rat model, and treatment effects for the first time in a sequential object task in Poly I:C model. Specifically, Poly I:C treatment in rat dams affected their female adult offspring, who did not increase whisker mean angular position during object exploration, indicating an attentional deficit. Animal sex and object type were also found to significantly affect whisker movements in the maternal immune activation model. Whisker tracking during sequential object exploration was demonstrated to be powerful enough to detect both treatment and sex effects into adulthood in this model of neurodevelopmental disorders. Finally, in Chapter 5, when studying the reeler mouse model, I found that habituation affected locomotion speed, whisker amplitude, mean angular position and spread in both wildtype and reeler mice. This is the first time that habituation has been found to affect whisker movements and is a useful task to consider for future studies, since it allowed to detect behavioural deficits in this subtle behavioural model when the standard protocol did not work.

Overall, I have found that whisker movements can be measured during naturalistic tasks, such as in the open field and during novel object exploration. It can offer a refinement to animal testing by providing quantitative data, without the need for training, reward, or habituation However, while I believe that whisker movements remain a powerful behavioural measurement tool, the usual protocol might not suit all mouse models, especially if their impairment does not allow for a close contact with the object or does not manifest in a deficit in exploratory behaviour.

#### Addressing thesis aims and objectives

The aim of my PhD work is to make recommendations for the application of whisker movement measures for the study of rodent models of neurodegeneration, especially in i) standardisation, ii) automation, and iii) placing whiskers in the context of other tests. I consider each of these aspects below.

From my literature review in Chapter 2, I also identified the need to: i) establish if the protocol will work in rats; ii) adapt statistical approach to reflect the repeated contacts with the same object; and iii) investigate sex differences. These have all been achieved in my thesis and will remain part of the experimental protocol.

#### i) Standardisation

I recommend using the protocol developed through my thesis (in more detail below). This protocol is suitable to use in both mice and rats, and it is probably even applicable for use with other small, common laboratory animals, such as hamsters and grey short-tailed opossums. I recommend that males and females should be included where possible, and based on my observations, around ten animals in each group should work well statistically, but this can also be confirmed using sample size calculations. The statistical techniques I adopted (LMEM with Kenward-Roger's method for degrees of freedom) makes the most of smaller sample sizes, by providing a balance in sample numbers between the number of animals and the number of clips present in the analysis. I strongly recommend using LMEM with Kenward-Roger's method for degrees of freedom as the statistical approach with this protocol. This is especially relevant now after Chapter 4 findings where I showed that habituation influences whisker movements. Considering that every subsequent touch to the same object is slightly different with the increase of information collected, automated degrees of freedom should be used. Treating every video clip as a degree of freedom is strongly discouraged and will be statistically incorrect. Averaging all videos per animal might be another approach, however, this might need more animals to reach the intended power of analysis. I have also improved the automation of the protocol by removing the qualitative scoring steps and including an additional quantitative measure of whisker spread.

If previous studies in the model are available and have revealed deficits in a particular group of animals, such as how it did in younger 3xTg-AD female mice, this is a good indication to record more videos from that group. As it happened in Chapter 3 and Chapter 5, some animals will be more prone to behaving in a way where clips do not pass the criteria for tracking. The pilot study and previous work will inform of this possibility and, therefore, it might be worth spending more time collecting more data from those groups of animals.

My protocol is detailed in a step-by-step fashion below (Figure 6-1, and text below). Overall, I recommend adopting this protocol and moving away from more complicated tasks requiring habituation and training, which can cause experimenter-related variation. Instead, I suggest performing quick studies which reduce day-to-day environmental variation and include more quantitative measures. However, should the quick tasks not reveal any differences in treatment, then habituation and sequential object tasks could be investigated, as I did in Chapters 4 and 5. See the recommended protocol below in Figure 6-1. I would recommend keeping the whisker filming set up in the same place throughout the length of the full experiment and to do testing as quickly as possible. To reduce individual differences in behavioural cross-sectional studies, a longitudinal study in the same animals should be conducted if disease progression is of interest and the model allows for good sample sizes at later disease stages. However, large gaps of time are needed between testing in such cases because it might be difficult to separate treatment from habituation effects if testing repeatedly without those considerable breaks. Males and females should be included analysed separately, using sex-based reporting (Yoon et al., 2014, Miller et al., 2017). So far, I have seen baseline differences in PC mean angular position between male and female control rats.



Figure 6-1 **The final recommended workflow for whisker movement studies**, adjusted for conclusions made in the thesis. If it is not clear whether you expect motor, sensory or cognitive effects from your disease model, apply all steps.

# The protocol

This protocol focuses on mice and rats in the laboratory; however, please see a recent publication by Grant et al. (2023) for how the protocol can be adapted to work with any small mammal species. Use PREPARE guidelines (Smith et al., 2018) to plan the experiment well before the start of the data collection and the 3Hs project guidelines on housing, handling and habituation ("The 3Hs Initiative," n.d.).

#### Data collection

- Animals should be filmed during their active phase. Nocturnal animals, like mice and rats, are ideally filmed in a dark room during their active phase. Even under a dim red light, animals rely on visual cues in object exploration (Hu et al., 2018), thus, if purely tactile performance is of interest, data collection should be conducted in the dark for mice and rats.
- 2. Animals must not have previous exposure to the same experimental arena since they are affected by habituation. They may be tested in other set ups before.
- Light box: ideally infrared or near-infrared; if not, white light with an IR filter. The size of the light box should be adjusted according to the size of the animals; for example, it should be larger for rats.
- Arena size should be chosen according to the size of the species being studied. A good reference for both rats and mice is 30 × 50 × 15 cm
- 5. Recording speed: ideally 500 fps, if not, around 300 fps
- 6. Resolution: minimum 640 x 480 pixels
- 7. Number of animals: minimum 10 per group, including males and females
- 8. Check whiskers for barbering; if barbered, house alone for 2 weeks prior to testing or exclude those animals if single housing is not preferred
- Film a ruler for calibration every time there are changes to the camera set up
- Include object exploration if studying sensory or cognitive deficits. Consider object texture when choosing and object, as this may affect whisker movements

- 11. Ideally, combine with additional infrared camera recording whole trials that are then analysed by other software such as BORIS (Friard and Gamba, 2016) used in this thesis
- Conduct a pilot study of standard open field / object method; add adjustments if needed for the particular rodent model; e.g., a habituation study, sequential object task

# Video processing

- Select clips according to the criteria: i) the head clearly in frame; ii) both sides of the face visible; iii) the head level with the floor (no extreme pitch or yaw); iv) animal must be travelling toward the object in the pre-contact (PC) section of the clip; v) the whiskers only contact the object and not the vertical arena walls in the during-contact (DC) section of the clip.
- 2. Track whole clips in ARTv2, saving the .awrt files
- 3. Review tracking and save only the PC portion, note the frame
- 4. Review tracking and save only the DC portion, start on the noted frame +1
- 5. Convert pixels to millimetres using calibration from filming the ruler and export results

Statistical analysis and reporting

- 1. Calculate sample sizes after tracking (if not using automated approach such as Kenward-Roger's method for degrees of freedom)
- Check if any animals have only 1-2 clips, remove, if needed, e.g. if choosing a different statistical method which cannot cope with such numbers as well as LMEM with Kenward-Roger's method for degrees of freedom
- 3. Average left and right sides for whisker speeds and positions, calculate asymmetry
- 4. Convert locomotion speed to meters/second

- 5. LMEM with Kenward-Roger's method for degrees of freedom
- Report whisker mean angular position, amplitude, spread, asymmetry, protraction, retraction and locomotion speeds. If using rats, exclude locomotion speed
- 7. Provide graphs with per animal data points and bars showing clip means
- 8. Provide example whisker traces, attach video clips used for those
- 9. Provide example video stills
- 10. Report presence or absence of robust contact-related behaviours
- 11. Report differences between treatment groups, sexes, ages
- Report all details required by ARRIVE guidelines (Kilkenny et al., 2010; Sert et al., 2020). Follow the FAIR guidelines on data management and sharing (Wilkinson et al., 2016).

# ii) Automation

I have used a semi-automated whisker tracker (ARTv2) throughout the thesis. I have replaced qualitative scoring of spread reduction and whisking with quantitative (PC-DC) spread measure, PC whisking amplitude and PC mean angular position. This results in a more streamlined process of whisker tracking and analysis, as well as being more quantitative and objective. Some manual steps remain in the process, including i) capturing the clips by the trigger; ii) reviewing clips to fit selection criteria, and iii) cutting the clips into PC and DC segments. There are ways to configure the camera to automatically trigger using a percentage of pixel changes that might be worth exploring in the future. With whiskers being so lightly coloured and small, it is not yet possible to automatically identify the first whisker touch with an object to split the clip into PC and DC segments; however, this might become a possibility with the development of new computing techniques. However, as I am always blinded to the treatment group of

the animal, any manual step, such as reviewing the tracking and trimming the clips, is not biased.

#### iii) Placing whisker movements within the context of other tests

In Chapter 5, I installed an overhead infrared camera to monitor the position of the mice throughout the whole trial. This gave a lot of insight into their behaviour, compared to my usual data collection, which only collects snippets of videos of ~1 second, rather than a full ~10-minute video for each trial. The reeler mice spent the same amount of time around the object, compared to the wildtype mice. And despite often being further from the object, this was not a statistically significant finding. The addition of the overhead camera provides a useful extra monitoring system alongside the high-speed video footage. It can also offer flexibility, allowing researchers to collect additional data after the trials have been conducted, such as the position of the mouse in the arena, their proximity to the object, or number of interactions with the object. This camera is more in-line with other protocols that constantly monitor throughout open field or novel object tasks. It can provide validation against other locomotion measures and an even better quality one would also allow me to easily record grooming, rearing and other similar behaviours.

I have shown here that the protocol can be easily extended to include a sequential object task and a habituation study. Indeed, the protocol is adaptable, and I believe that it is fairly easy to incorporate other tests, including social tasks, gap crossing and balance tasks. The sequential object exploration task is probably the most comparable to the standard novel object recognition (NOR) task, one of the gold-standard behavioural tests. According to the Measurement and Treatment Research to Improve Cognition in Schizophrenia (MATRICS, Young et al., 2009), out of all the preclinical rodent tasks they suggest are translatable to human symptoms, only NOR and social tasks rely on innate behaviour, while all other cognitive tasks require training and motivation by food or aversion. Young et al. (2009) suggest that NOR is not a goal-oriented task, presumably because there is no training and no "goal" of solving a problem. In contrast, whisker tracking allows

precise measurement of whisker angles and speeds related to object exploration (Gillespie et al., 2019), which could be considered a natural, goal-oriented behaviour for the rodent, if the rodents' goal is to familiarize themselves with their environment, including the objects. It has been shown several times (Arkley et al., 2014; Grant et al., 2016, 2018; Simanaviciute et al., 2022) that whisker tracking during a novel object exploration (NOE, not recognition) task without any training or habituation can also assess attention without relying on external motivation. The work presented here shows that the sequential object exploration task can also be used for the same purpose and that the addition of a second object, as compared to NOE task, allows to assess attention in more detail depending on the choice of objects. It might be beneficial to combine whisker tracking with the classic NOR task, to study the object contact in more detail and to incorporate the memory aspect when assessing these measures in novel and familiar object.

With both NOR and social tasks suggested as being translatable to humans (MATRICS, Young et al., 2009), they are perhaps the next priority tasks to develop alongside my whisker measurement protocol (Figure 6-1). Indeed, in reeler mice, as part of my future work, I have already attempted integrating a NOR task with whisker tracking on a visit to University of Goettingen, Germany. I found that I could only image one object at once with one high-speed video camera, although two objects were presented to the animal simultaneously. I have not analysed this data yet, but it will be interesting to see whether there are any differences between the reeler and control mice.

Another recommendation for future studies is to test rodents in a whisker-related social task to better understand that behaviour. In Potter et al. (2023), Poly I:C treatment positively affected social interactions where adult female MIA rats had increased sniffing and following of conspecifics, thus, this model might be useful to further investigate. In fact, I have started to develop a social task (Figure 6-2) in the NRXN1 mouse model of autism spectrum disorders, whose whisker-related behaviour has not been previously described. Within my usual experimental arena, I used two barred containers with two unfamiliar mice (one wildtype and one transgenic). A parallel study was run as an additional control, with one familiar and

one unfamiliar mouse in the containers. Control and transgenic mice were introduced to the arena in both cases, and I will soon start to track the whiskers of these focal mouse as they interact with the sex-matched mice in the containers. This is one of the first social whisker tasks, and it will be interesting to see the results that I have collected during my visit to Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada.



Figure 6-2 **The social task set up.** Demonstrating the barred containers and the arena in A, as well as a video still from the high-speed video camera in B.

# Addressing thesis questions

From my Literature Review (Chapter 2), I identified some questions for my thesis to address, including:

*i)* How can we move towards a standard test of whisker movements?

The protocol I have presented here is a first attempt at moving towards a standard test for testing whisker movements. It will continue to expand and evolve from here.

# ii) We do not always see differences in whisker movements, so which models would I recommend to study?

This is perhaps a more complex question. In my thesis, I focussed on models in which the standard behavioural tasks do not have clear, reproducible results, and these might be good ones to continue to focus on. Indeed, with the cost of the high-speed camera and lighting, and the time investment of video tracking in a new software, it is probably best to reserve whisker measurements for models where the behavioural phenotype is relatively subtle or nuanced. Additionally, these types of models and instances are also probably a good fit for applying whisker movements:

- When the speed of testing is important, such as in treatment screening studies;
- Where it would be useful to check that animals adequately acquired contact-related information, such as in combination with object memory tests;
- Where reproducibility between laboratories is especially important. Because
  of the robust contact-related changes in whisker angles and speeds, this is
  a good method to check for experimenter or laboratory differences before
  proceeding with other tests.

Even if differences in whisker movements are not observed, amendment of the protocol to include other tasks, such as sequential object, habituation, NOR and social tasks, might be an important step in making whisker movement measurements more applicable to a wider range of rodent models.

# iii) How does whisker movement fit with other behavioural tests?

Results from my thesis suggest that the protocol can fit very well as an add-on to most batteries of tests, due to being non-invasive and quick. It is best being done as the first test when animals are naïve to the environment, which is complementary to most batteries of tests where animals must be habituated or trained. The whisker tracking study could even be conducted as part of the habituation period for other studies, such as in the novel object recognition paradigm.

In the future, whisker tracking could potentially be integrated simultaneously with home-cage monitoring or other observational studies of naturalistic behaviours that do not require training such as general locomoting, interacting with objects or conspecifics, feeding and sniffing behaviours. It may also be possible to combine the protocol with other emerging quantitative metrics, such as measuring ultrasonic vocalisations when studying communication of fear, anxiety, or social and maternal behaviour.

While I demonstrate here that the usual whisker task can be adapted to include sequential object and social tasks, it may be more challenging to integrate measuring whisker movements within another task that requires strict training regimes and does not combine well with environmental variation, such as when incorporating the lightbox and cameras. I have attempted to integrate the protocol with a novel texture recognition task in the reeler mouse model and was able to successfully collect video clips for whisker tracking. However, animals were not able to perform the texture recognition task, and it is unclear if that was due to intrinsic differences or due to the environmental effects like additional handling or noise caused by the attempted integration of the two tests.

#### 6.2 Limitations and future work

Above, I have discussed the importance of developing a social and NOR version of the whisker measurement task as an add-on to the usual protocol. These tasks are useful as they are thought to be more translatable to humans (MATRICS, Young et al., 2009) than other behavioural tests. Indeed, one of the drawbacks of the whisker task, which may have limited its uptake, is the challenge associated with translating findings to humans. Nevertheless, we do need better behavioural tasks for rodents too, and this will help us to better understand neurodegenerative disease in humans as well. Overall, measuring whiskers in rodent models of disease has mainly been done by researchers in our laboratory, visiting several laboratories around the world. However, other people have measured whiskers for the assessment of facial palsy recovery (Miura et al., 2023), suggesting that other labs can easily adopt it.

There were some limitations to my experimental studies, that I have identified as I went along, these include:

# Chapter 3

- Sample size of transgenic mice at 3 months was low
- It was not a longitudinal study; however, that means no habituation effects
- It was a female-only study

#### Chapter 4

- Could not measure locomotion speed
- There were no different time points
- Addition of object textures complicated the study design

# Chapter 5

- Variable ages and sexes due to increased mortality in reeler mice
- Reeler mice did not touch the object as much which reduced video clip numbers in the usual object exploration task

Indeed, from my work I can see several limitations that need to be considered when using the whisker measurement protocol:

i) The sample size can be limiting, which may include the animals themselves or clips not passing the criteria, because younger 3xTg animals behaved differently (Chapter 3) or object was not touched as often (Chapter 5). 312 videos were collected in Chapter 3 mouse study and 183 of them made it to analysis. 629 videos were collected in Chapter 4 rat study and 114 of them made it to analysis. 403 videos (naïve and previously exposed mice) were collected in Chapter 5 novel object exploration study and 73 (naïve mice only) of them made it to analysis. That is 41% for Chapter 3 and 82% video loss rate for both Chapters 4 and 5. This video loss rate is not due to the ARTv2 tracker, but mostly due to the video selection criteria, especially the requirement to only include videos with suitable PC and DC sections. In part, this limitation was also due to the travelling nature of these studies, as I could not go back to get more suitable clips. In the future, laboratories which adopt this method within their animal facilities would have their own set ups and would be able to access the animals multiple times to get more samples when needed.

- ii) There may be differences between individuals. Differences between wildtype animals were detected in Chapter 3 and could have been related to age effects, or other environmental considerations related to previous experiences, as those were not the same animals tested at a later age but rather another group of animals. However, as using this method very quick data collection, I suggest those differences are unlikely to be due to my experimental set up and day-to-day variation.
- iii) Different disease symptoms make it difficult to collect appropriate animal groups, e.g., mortality rate in reeler mice and in later stages of Alzheimer's models, so age-related changes or disease progression with time might be harder to study in longitudinal studies. It is also important to have those bigger gaps of time in between testing of the same animals, as habituation was found to influence whisker movements.
- iv) Translatability whisker movement deficits can be difficult to translate to human disease symptoms which is why I did not put the findings of Alzheimer's study into the context of human AD.
- v) Habituation affects whisker movements, so we need to work out when to do repeat testing. Perhaps a large gap is needed (e.g. in the SOD1) or use different animals at different ages (e.g. 5xFAD, HD etc).

There are also the standard animal differences that need to be considered, including:

- vi) Age differences we do not know how whisker movements vary over age;
- vii) Strain differences have been identified before (Simanaviciute et al. 2020);
- viii) Sex differences I tested both sexes and observed differences in MIA rats, but not reeler mice;
- Visual deprivation mice deprived of vision since birth rely even more on their whiskers: those were found to be longer and thicker than in control mice; additionally, the visually deprived mice had an enlarged barrel field (Rauschecker et al., 1992). In fact, Grant et al. (2018b) showed that female 5xFAD mice with retinal degeneration (rd) had lower mean angular positions during object contact. During sequential object exploration females with rd had higher whisker retraction speeds in tunnel running. This shows that measuring whisker movements can quantify the effects of rd during exploratory behaviour in these mice. None of the animals tested were visually deprived and thus this was not a consideration for the findings in this thesis. However, it can be a factor in other studies;
- Individual differences are likely to also occur, although these have not been properly investigated before. There are likely to be individual differences in disease manifestation, too. Lorusso et al. (2022) recommended grouping or clustering individuals according to the severity of their disease symptoms, which might be a good way to proceed, rather than simply dividing animals into treatment and control groups;
- Litter effects have not been tested for in whisker parameters and thus it is not clear if they would be a significant factor.
- xii) While not all studies may want to track whiskers, they should measure and report whisker health (Kahnau et al., 2022). Barbering is important in social and exploratory behaviours and has even been suggested as a valid model of trichotillomania by Garner et al. (2004).

Another theme that came about from my Literature Review was reproducibility, which my thesis has not addressed so far. However,

- Locomotion and whisker movements of two sets of SOD1 mice were found to be affected by 120 days old.
- 2) While I did not perform any reproducibility studies, robust contact-related behaviours are seen in all models, indicating that it is likely to be reproducible in all wildtypes, but may also have subtle strain, age and sex differences.

Generally, the protocol is set up to include as little variation as possible, especially compared to other tests available. There are multiple tests that could be conducted in future work to address various levels of reproducibility, including running the same experiments in the same or different laboratories, with the same or different experimenters, and with the same or different animals. For example, an interesting experiment would be to study the 3xTg-AD mouse model in several different laboratories following the same protocol, which would help to establish how reproducible the method is. It may also shine a light on the main strength and weakness of this method which is that this was always done by visiting other facilities. Someone else always had to be there to handle the animals while running the experiments – would the results be different if only one person was handling and running the experiments, especially if animals tested are familiar with the handler but not the visitor? Additionally, I was the only person to analyse the whisker parameter data in this thesis – will the protocol be robust and clear enough for another person to analyse it the same way? The take up of this method by other laboratories may equally increase or reduce its reproducibility.

#### Future work in whiskers - what is now possible?

There have been many recent advances in naturalistic behaviour tracking and its combination with neuronal recordings, as discussed in the Literature Review (Chapter 2); however, this has not yet been related to whisking, despite it being essential to rodent's survival and having major impact on the locomotion measures that are often estimated from pose in these methods. Wiltschko et al. (2015)

suggests that whisker tracking should be incorporated with pose estimation to fully capture the behaviour.

Home cage systems (Endo et al., 2011) also provide a way to observe the animals non-invasively in their home environment. However, they don't often give the same level of fine-scale movement and quantification of behaviour as whisker movement measures. Despite this consideration, they are constantly and consistently being developed and may be an interesting avenue of future research. Indeed, to increase reproducibility, it is important to automate as much as possible, make tests quick and reduce day-to-day variability. Including general activity and behavioural measures over longer periods of time, such as home-cage monitoring, might also be useful.

In my own work I have seen how whisking differs between different "control" animals. Often control animals are matched to the disease model, and thus can come from different background strains, different breeders, or are tested in different laboratories on separate occasions (Simanaviciute et al., 2020). There does not seem to be one solution to this crisis, however, one recommendation is to use home-cage monitoring to record long-term behaviour and perform some testing in the home-cage environment.

Throughout the chapters of this thesis, PC amplitude, PC and (PC-DC) mean angular position, PC and (PC-DC) spread and (PC-DC) asymmetry were affected the most. However, all whisker measurements except for mean angular position are needed to study the robust contact-induced changes. In earlier studies such as Simanaviciute et al. (2020), which included 9 different mouse models, all whisker parameters were affected. Overall, the measurements taken are the same in all disease models, but different deficits may show up as disease manifests and thus it may be beneficial to continue measure all whisker parameters. For these reasons, I recommend continuing studying all whisker parameters until more research is conducted on the validity of the individual whisker parameters. A newer approach to data analysis may be to use machine learning approaches to cluster disease phenotypes (Lorusso et al., 2022) and to estimate poses from deep learning approaches, such as LEAP software as used in Klibaite et al., (2022). Despite being available for more than a decade now, these have never been tested in whisker tracking studies before and would initially take longer to train and validate compared to ARTv2 software, but in the end might result in needing less manual validation from the experimenter. Such an approach might also help to keep whisker identities during tracking, which would provide more detailed, individual whisker data for analysis.

# Recommendations for behavioural tasks

Overall, I recommend that all behavioural tasks for rodents should be:

Quick

- Reducing handling time
- Reducing time away from home-cage
- Reducing duration of the experiment

# Objective

- Reducing experimenter bias
- Blinding reviewer to the animal's condition
- Automated, reducing all manual steps

# Highly granular

• Not just simple counts, scores or durations

Maximising sample sizes

- Allow recording the same animal over time
- Easy to integrate with other tasks
- Use analysis approach that automatically determines degrees of freedom

# Incorporating both sexes

Adaptable, allowing tailoring to the animals studied

- Open field for motor and object tasks for cognition and sensing as the standard
- Monitor general behaviour constantly with overhead camera
- Bespoke additions of tasks
  - o Change type of object
  - o Sequential object task
  - o Habituation study
  - o Social study

I propose that measuring whisker movements addresses all these points, and with greater uptake from other labs, has the potential to improve rodent welfare during behavioural testing, especially by refining tasks to make them non-invasive, reducing the need for rodent training, making sure tasks are quick and providing quantitative data. Throughout my thesis, I present whisker movement measurement as a powerful tool able to reveal treatment and sex effects in three rodent models with challenging behavioural phenotypes. I have streamlined the whisker measurement protocol, which has increased standardisation and automation. I think future research measuring whiskers in rodent models of neurological disease should focus on developing the protocol alongside NOR and socials tasks, an area that I have already started to work on.

# REFERENCES

Adibi, M., 2019. Whisker-Mediated Touch System in Rodents: From Neuron to Behavior. Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience 13.

Ameen-Ali, K.E., Eacott, M.J., Easton, A., 2012. A new behavioural apparatus to reduce animal numbers in multiple types of spontaneous object recognition paradigms in rats. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 211, 66–76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2012.08.006</u>

Anjum, F., Brecht, M., 2012. Tactile experience shapes prey-capture behavior in Etruscan shrews. Front Behav Neurosci 6, 28. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2012.00028

Antunes, M., Biala, G., 2012. The novel object recognition memory: neurobiology, test procedure, and its modifications. Cogn Process 13, 93–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10339-011-0430-z</u>

Arkley, K., Grant, R.A., Mitchinson, B., Prescott, T.J., 2014. Strategy Change in Vibrissal Active Sensing during Rat Locomotion. Current Biology 24, 1507–1512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.05.036

Asinof, S.K., Paine, T.A., 2014. The 5-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task: A Task of Attention and Impulse Control for Rodents. J Vis Exp 51574. <u>https://doi.org/10.3791/51574</u>

Atladóttir, H.Ó., Thorsen, P., Østergaard, L., Schendel, D.E., Lemcke, S., Abdallah, M., Parner, E.T., 2010. Maternal Infection Requiring Hospitalization During Pregnancy and Autism Spectrum Disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 40, 1423–1430. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-1006-y</u>

Barendse, M.E.A., Lara, G.A., Guyer, A.E., Swartz, J.R., Taylor, S.L., Shirtcliff, E.A., Lamb, S.T., Miller, C., Ng, J., Yu, G., Tully, L.M., 2023. Sex and pubertal influences on the neurodevelopmental underpinnings of schizophrenia: A case for longitudinal research on adolescents. Schizophrenia Research 252, 231–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2022.12.011</u> Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., Walker, S., 2015. Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. Journal of Statistical Software 67, 1–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01</u>

Behavioural and developmental consequences of maternal immune activation in offspring [WWW Document], n.d. . Research Explorer The University of Manchester. URL

https://research.manchester.ac.uk/en/studentTheses/behavioural-anddevelopmental-consequences-of-maternal-immune-act (accessed 8.2.23).

Beker, S., Kellner, V., Kerti, L., Stern, E.A., 2012. Interaction between Amyloid-β Pathology and Cortical Functional Columnar Organization. J Neurosci 32, 11241– 11249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2426-12.2012</u>

Berg, R.W., Kleinfeld, D., 2003. Rhythmic Whisking by Rat: Retraction as Well as Protraction of the Vibrissae Is Under Active Muscular Control. Journal of Neurophysiology 89, 104–117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00600.2002</u>

Bergdolt, L., Dunaevsky, A., 2019. Brain changes in a maternal immune activation model of neurodevelopmental brain disorders. Progress in Neurobiology 175, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2018.12.002</u>

Bernhard, S.M., Lee, J., Zhu, M., Hsu, A., Erskine, A., Hires, S.A., Barth, A.L., 2020. An automated homecage system for multiwhisker detection and discrimination learning in mice. PLoS One 15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232916</u>

Bero, A.W., Yan, P., Roh, J.H., Cirrito, J.R., Stewart, F.R., Raichle, M.E., Lee, J.-M., Holtzman, D.M., 2011. Neuronal activity regulates the regional vulnerability to amyloid-β deposition. Nat Neurosci 14, 750–756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2801</u>

Betting, J.-H.L.F., Romano, V., Al-Ars, Z., Bosman, L.W.J., Strydis, C., De Zeeuw, C.I., 2020. WhiskEras: A New Algorithm for Accurate Whisker Tracking. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2020.588445</u>

Blanchard, J., Wanka, L., Tung, Y.-C., Cárdenas-Aguayo, M. del C., LaFerla, F.M., Iqbal, K., Grundke-Iqbal, I., 2010. Pharmacologic reversal of neurogenic and

neuroplastic abnormalities and cognitive impairments without affecting Aβ and tau pathologies in 3xTg-AD mice. Acta Neuropathol 120, 605–621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-010-0734-6</u>

Boisgontier, M.P., Cheval, B., 2016. The anova to mixed model transition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 68, 1004–1005. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.05.034</u>

Bölte, S., Neufeld, J., Marschik, P.B., Williams, Z.J., Gallagher, L., Lai, M.-C., 2023. Sex and gender in neurodevelopmental conditions. Nat Rev Neurol 19, 136–159. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-023-00774-6</u>

Brecht, M., 2007. Barrel cortex and whisker-mediated behaviors. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, Sensory systems 17, 408–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2007.07.008

Bresee, C.S., Belli, H.M., Luo, Y., Hartmann, M.J.Z., 2023. Comparative morphology of the whiskers and faces of mice (Mus musculus) and rats (Rattus norvegicus). Journal of Experimental Biology 226, jeb245597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.245597</u>

Brown, A.S., 2012. Epidemiologic studies of exposure to prenatal infection and risk of schizophrenia and autism. Developmental Neurobiology 72, 1272–1276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.22024</u>

Bryda, E.C., 2013. The Mighty Mouse: The Impact of Rodents on Advances in Biomedical Research. Mo Med 110, 207–211.

Bucci, P., Giordano, G.M., Mucci, A., Rocca, P., Rossi, A., Bertolino, A., Aguglia, E., Altamura, C., Amore, M., Bellomo, A., Biondi, M., Carpiniello, B., Cascino, G., Dell'Osso, L., Fagiolini, A., Giuliani, L., Marchesi, C., Montemagni, C., Pettorruso, M., Pompili, M., Rampino, A., Roncone, R., Rossi, R., Siracusano, A., Tenconi, E., Vita, A., Zeppegno, P., Galderisi, S., Maj, M., 2023. Sex and gender differences in clinical and functional indices in subjects with schizophrenia and healthy controls: Data from the baseline and 4-year follow-up studies of the Italian Network for
Research on Psychoses. Schizophrenia Research 251, 94–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2022.12.021

Bucknor, M.C., Gururajan, A., Dale, R.C., Hofer, M.J., 2022. A comprehensive approach to modelling maternal immune activation in rodents. Front Neurosci 16, 1071976. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2022.1071976</u>

Carvell, G.E., Simons, D.J., 1990. Biometric analyses of vibrissal tactile discrimination in the rat. J. Neurosci. 10, 2638–2648.

Cascella, N.G., Takaki, M., Lin, S., Sawa, A., 2007. Neurodevelopmental involvement in schizophrenia: the olfactory epithelium as an alternative model for research. Journal of Neurochemistry 102, 587–594. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04628.x</u>

Casquero-Veiga, M., Lamanna-Rama, N., Romero-Miguel, D., Rojas-Marquez, H., Alcaide, J., Beltran, M., Nacher, J., Desco, M., Soto-Montenegro, M.L., 2023. The Poly I:C maternal immune stimulation model shows unique patterns of brain metabolism, morphometry, and plasticity in female rats. Front Behav Neurosci 16, 1022622. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2022.1022622</u>

Castillo-Mariqueo, L., Giménez-Llort, L., 2021. Translational Modelling of Psychomotor Function in Normal and AD-Pathological Aging With Special Concerns on the Effects of Social Isolation. Frontiers in Aging 2, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fragi.2021.648567</u>

Chen, Y., Liang, Z., Tian, Z., Blanchard, J., Dai, C., Chalbot, S., Iqbal, K., Liu, F., Gong, C.-X., 2014. Intracerebroventricular streptozotocin exacerbates Alzheimerlike changes of 3xTg-AD mice. Mol Neurobiol 49, 547–562. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-013-8539-y

Chen-Bee, C., Zhou, Y., Jacobs, N., Lim, B., Frostig, R., 2012. Whisker array functional representation in rat barrel cortex: transcendence of one-to-one topography and its underlying mechanism. Frontiers in Neural Circuits 6.

Clack, N.G., O'Connor, D.H., Huber, D., Petreanu, L., Hires, A., Peron, S., Svoboda, K., Myers, E.W., 2012. Automated Tracking of Whiskers in Videos of Head Fixed Rodents. PLOS Computational Biology 8, e1002591. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002591

Cornblatt, B.A., Malhotra, A.K., 2001. Impaired attention as an endophenotype for molecular genetic studies of schizophrenia. American Journal of Medical Genetics 105, 11–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1096-8628(20010108)105:1<11::AID-AJMG1045>3.0.CO;2-G</u>

Cox, S.B., Woolsey, T.A., Rovainen, C.M., 1993. Localized Dynamic Changes in Cortical Blood Flow with Whisker Stimulation Corresponds to Matched Vascular and Neuronal Architecture of Rat Barrels. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 13, 899–913. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.1993.113</u>

Crabbe, J.C., Wahlsten, D., Dudek, B.C., 1999. Genetics of Mouse Behavior: Interactions with Laboratory Environment. Science 284, 1670–1672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5420.1670</u>

Crawley, J.N., 1999. Behavioral phenotyping of transgenic and knockout mice: experimental design and evaluation of general health, sensory functions, motor abilities, and specific behavioral tests1Published on the World Wide Web on 2 December 1998.1. Brain Research 835, 18–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(98)01258-X</u>

Crijns, E., Op de Beeck, H., 2019. The Visual Acuity of Rats in Touchscreen Setups. Vision (Basel) 4, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/vision4010004</u>

da Silva, F.E.R., Cordeiro, R.C., de Carvalho Lima, C.N., Cardozo, P.L., Vasconcelos, G.S., Monte, A.S., Sanders, L.L.O., Vasconcelos, S.M.M., de Lucena, D.F., Cruz, B.F., Nicolato, R., Seeman, M.V., Ribeiro, F.M., Macedo, D.S., 2023. Sex and the Estrous-Cycle Phase Influence the Expression of G Protein-Coupled Estrogen Receptor 1 (GPER) in Schizophrenia: Translational Evidence for a New Target. Mol Neurobiol. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-023-03295-x</u>

D'Arcangelo, G., G. Miao, G., Chen, S.-C., Scares, H.D., Morgan, J.I., Curran, T., 1995. A protein related to extracellular matrix proteins deleted in the mouse mutant reeler. Nature 374, 719–723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/374719a0</u>

Davis, K.E., Easton, A., Eacott, M.J., Gigg, J., 2013. Episodic-Like Memory for What-Where-Which Occasion is Selectively Impaired in the 3xTgAD Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease 33, 681–698. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2012-121543

de Lima, P.O., Broit, N., Huang, J.D., Lim, J.H., Gardiner, D.J., Brown, I.S., Panizza, B.J., Boyle, G.M., Simpson, F., 2023. Development of an in vivo murine model of perineural invasion and spread of cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Front Oncol 13, 1231104. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2023.1231104</u>

Deschênes, M., Takatoh, J., Kurnikova, A., Moore, J.D., Demers, M., Elbaz, M., Furuta, T., Wang, F., Kleinfeld, D., 2016. Inhibition, Not Excitation, Drives Rhythmic Whisking. Neuron 90, 374–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2016.03.007

D'Hooge, R., De Deyn, P.P., 2001. Applications of the Morris water maze in the study of learning and memory. Brain Research Reviews 36, 60–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(01)00067-4

Dörfl, J., 1982. The musculature of the mystacial vibrissae of the white mouse. J Anat 135, 147–154.

Du, S., Itoh, N., Askarinam, S., Hill, H., Arnold, A.P., Voskuhl, R.R., 2014. XY sex chromosome complement, compared with XX, in the CNS confers greater neurodegeneration during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111, 2806–2811. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1307091111

Elbaz, M., Callado Perez, A., Demers, M., Zhao, S., Foo, C., Kleinfeld, D., Deschenes, M., 2022. A vibrissa pathway that activates the limbic system. eLife 11, e72096. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.72096</u>

Ellenbroek, B., Youn, J., 2016. Rodent models in neuroscience research: is it a rat race? Disease Models & Mechanisms 9, 1079–1087. https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.026120 Elvevåg, B., Goldberg, T.E., 2000. Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia is the core of the disorder. Crit Rev Neurobiol 14, 1–21.

Endo, T., Maekawa, F., Võikar, V., Haijima, A., Uemura, Y., Zhang, Y., Miyazaki, W., Suyama, S., Shimazaki, K., Wolfer, D.P., Yada, T., Tohyama, C., Lipp, H.-P., Kakeyama, M., 2011. Automated test of behavioral flexibility in mice using a behavioral sequencing task in IntelliCage. Behav Brain Res 221, 172–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2011.02.037

Falconer, D.S., 1951. Two new mutants, 'trembler' and 'reeler', with neurological actions in the house mouse (Mus musculus L.). Journ. of Genetics 50, 192–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02996215

Fatemi, S.H., Folsom, T.D., 2009. The Neurodevelopmental Hypothesis of Schizophrenia, Revisited. Schizophrenia Bulletin 35, 528–548. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbn187</u>

Ferris, H.R., Stine, N.C., Hill-Eubanks, D.C., Nelson, M.T., Wellman, G.C., Koide, M., 2023. Epidermal Growth Factor Receptors in Vascular Endothelial Cells Contribute to Functional Hyperemia in the Brain. Int J Mol Sci 24, 16284. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms242216284</u>

Fertan, E., Rodrigues, G.J., Wheeler, R.V., Goguen, D., Wong, A.A., James, H., Stadnyk, A., Brown, R.E., Weaver, I.C.G., 2019a. Cognitive Decline, Cerebral-Spleen Tryptophan Metabolism, Oxidative Stress, Cytokine Production, and Regulation of the Txnip Gene in a Triple Transgenic Mouse Model of Alzheimer Disease. Am J Pathol 189, 1435–1450.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2019.03.006

Fertan, E., Stover, K.R.J., Brant, M.G., Stafford, P.M., Kelly, B., Diez-Cecilia, E., Wong, A.A., Weaver, D.F., Brown, R.E., 2019b. Effects of the Novel IDO Inhibitor DWG-1036 on the Behavior of Male and Female 3xTg-AD Mice. Front Pharmacol 10, 1044. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2019.01044</u>

Fertan, E., Wong, A.A., Purdon, M.K., Weaver, I.C.G., Brown, R.E., 2021. The effect of background strain on the behavioral phenotypes of the MDGA2+/- mouse

model of autism spectrum disorder. Genes, Brain and Behavior 20, e12696. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12696</u>

Fertan, E., Wong, A.A., Vienneau, N.A., Brown, R.E., 2019c. Age and sex differences in motivation and spatial working memory in 3xTg-AD mice in the Hebb-Williams maze. Behav. Brain Res. 370, 111937. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2019.111937

Fiest, K.M., Roberts, J.I., Maxwell, C.J., Hogan, D.B., Smith, E.E., Frolkis, A., Cohen, A., Kirk, A., Pearson, D., Pringsheim, T., Venegas-Torres, A., Jetté, N., 2016. The Prevalence and Incidence of Dementia Due to Alzheimer's Disease: a Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Canadian Journal of Neurological Sciences 43, S51–S82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/cjn.2016.36</u>

Filali, M., Lalonde, R., Theriault, P., Julien, C., Calon, F., Planel, E., 2012. Cognitive and non-cognitive behaviors in the triple transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease expressing mutated APP, PS1, and Mapt (3xTg-AD). Behavioural Brain Research 234, 334–342.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2012.07.004

Ford, J.M., Mathalon, D.H., 2012. Anticipating the future: Automatic prediction failures in schizophrenia. International Journal of Psychophysiology, Predictive information processing in the brain: Principles, neural mechanisms and models 83, 232–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2011.09.004

Friard, O., Gamba, M., 2016. BORIS: a free, versatile open-source event-logging software for video/audio coding and live observations. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 7, 1325–1330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12584</u>

Furuta, T., Bush, N.E., Yang, A.E.-T., Ebara, S., Miyazaki, N., Murata, K., Hirai, D., Shibata, K., Hartmann, M.J.Z., 2020. The Cellular and Mechanical Basis for Response Characteristics of Identified Primary Afferents in the Rat Vibrissal System. Curr Biol 30, 815-826.e5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.12.068</u> Gao, P., Hattox, A.M., Jones, L.M., Keller, A., Zeigler, H.P., 2003. Whisker motor cortex ablation and whisker movement patterns. Somatosensory & Motor Research 20, 191–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08990220310001622924</u>

Garland, H., Wood, N.I., Skillings, E.A., Detloff, P.J., Morton, A.J., Grant, R.A., 2018. Characterisation of progressive motor deficits in whisker movements in R6/2, Q175 and Hdh knock-in mouse models of Huntington's disease. Journal of Neuroscience Methods, Measuring Behaviour 2016 300, 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2017.04.020

Garner, J.P., Weisker, S.M., Dufour, B., Mench, J.A., 2004. Barbering (fur and whisker trimming) by laboratory mice as a model of human trichotillomania and obsessive-compulsive spectrum disorders. Comp Med 54, 216–224.

Garvock-de Montbrun, T., Fertan, E., Stover, K., Brown, R.E., 2019. Motor deficits in 16-month-old male and female 3xTg-AD mice. Behavioural Brain Research 356, 305–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2018.09.006</u>

Georgiou, P., Zanos, P., Mou, T.-C.M., An, X., Gerhard, D.M., Dryanovski, D.I., Potter, L.E., Highland, J.N., Jenne, C.E., Stewart, B.W., Pultorak, K.J., Yuan, P., Powels, C.F., Lovett, J., Pereira, E.F.R., Clark, S.M., Tonelli, L.H., Moaddel, R., Zarate, C.A., Duman, R.S., Thompson, S.M., Gould, T.D., 2022. Experimenters' sex modulates mouse behaviors and neural responses to ketamine via corticotropin releasing factor. Nat Neurosci 25, 1191–1200. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-022-01146-x

Gesuita, L., Cavaccini, A., Argunsah, A.Ö., Favuzzi, E., Ibrahim, L.A., Stachniak, T.J., De Gennaro, M., Utz, S., Greter, M., Karayannis, T., 2022. Microglia contribute to the postnatal development of cortical somatostatin-positive inhibitory cells and to whisker-evoked cortical activity. Cell Reports 40, 111209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2022.111209

Gigg, J., McEwan, F., Smausz, R., Neill, J., Harte, M.K., 2019. Synaptic biomarker reduction and impaired cognition in the sub-chronic PCP mouse model for

schizophrenia. J Psychopharmacol 0269881119874446. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269881119874446

Gillespie, D., Yap, M.H., Hewitt, B.M., Driscoll, H., Simanaviciute, U., Hodson-Tole, E.F., Grant, R.A., 2019. Description and validation of the LocoWhisk system: Quantifying rodent exploratory, sensory and motor behaviours. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 328, 108440.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2019.108440

Gjendal, K., Ottesen, J.L., Sørensen, D.B., 2018. Does colour matter? Preference of mice for different colours of the house mouse igloo: an observational study. Scandinavian Journal of Laboratory Animal Science 44, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.23675/sjlas.v44i0.566

Goldowitz, D., Koch, J., 1986. Performance of normal and neurological mutant mice on radial arm maze and active avoidance tasks. Behavioral and Neural Biology 46, 216–226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-1047(86)90696-5</u>

Goonathilake, P., Ediriweera, D., Ruban, R., Isuru, A., 2022. Prevalence and correlates of cognitive impairment in schizophrenia: a cross-sectional study from a teaching hospital southern Sri Lanka. BMC Psychiatry 22, 716. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-022-04368-2

Grant, R.A., Arkley, K.P., 2016. Matched Filtering in Active Whisker Touch, in: von der Emde, G., Warrant, E. (Eds.), The Ecology of Animal Senses: Matched Filters for Economical Sensing. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-25492-0\_3

Grant, R.A., Breakell, V., Prescott, T.J., 2018a. Whisker touch sensing guides locomotion in small, quadrupedal mammals. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 285, 20180592. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.0592</u>

Grant, R.A., Cielen, N., Maes, K., Heulens, N., Galli, G.L.J., Janssens, W., Gayan-Ramirez, G., Degens, H., 2016. The effects of smoking on whisker movements: A quantitative measure of exploratory behaviour in rodents. Behavioural Processes 128, 17–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2016.03.021</u>

Grant, R.A., Goss, V.G.A., 2022. What can whiskers tell us about mammalian evolution, behaviour, and ecology? Mammal Review 52, 148–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mam.12253</u>

Grant, R.A., Ryan, H., Breakell, V., 2023. Demonstrating a measurement protocol for studying comparative whisker movements with implications for the evolution of behaviour. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 384, 109752.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2022

Grant, R.A., Mitchinson, B., Fox, C.W., Prescott, T.J., 2009. Active Touch Sensing in the Rat: Anticipatory and Regulatory Control of Whisker Movements During Surface Exploration. Journal of Neurophysiology 101, 862–874. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90783.2008</u>

Grant, R.A., Mitchinson, B., Prescott, T.J., 2012. The development of whisker control in rats in relation to locomotion. Developmental Psychobiology 54, 151–168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20591</u>

Grant, R.A., Sharp, P.S., Kennerley, A.J., Berwick, J., Grierson, A., Ramesh, T., Prescott, T.J., 2014. Abnormalities in whisking behaviour are associated with lesions in brain stem nuclei in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Behavioural Brain Research 259, 274–283.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2013.11.002

Grant, R.A., Wong, A.A., Fertan, E., Brown, R.E., 2018b. Whisker exploration behaviours in the 5xFAD mouse are affected by sex and retinal degeneration. Genes, Brain and Behavior n/a, e12532. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12532</u>

Gür, E., Fertan, E., Alkins, K., Wong, A.A., Brown, R.E., Balcı, F., 2019a. Interval timing is disrupted in female 5xFAD mice: An indication of altered memory processes. Journal of Neuroscience Research 97, 817–827. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.24418

Gür, E., Fertan, E., Kosel, F., Wong, A.A., Balcı, F., Brown, R.E., 2019b. Sex differences in the timing behavior performance of 3xTg-AD and wild-type mice in

the peak interval procedure. Behavioural Brain Research 360, 235–243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2018.11.047</u>

Gutierrez, S., Eisenach, J.C., Boada, M.D., 2021. Seeding of breast cancer cell line (MDA-MB-231LUC+) to the mandible induces overexpression of substance P and CGRP throughout the trigeminal ganglion and widespread peripheral sensory neuropathy throughout all three of its divisions. Mol Pain 17, 17448069211024082. https://doi.org/10.1177/17448069211024082

Guy, J., Staiger, J.F., 2017. The Functioning of a Cortex without Layers. Frontiers in Neuroanatomy 11, 54. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnana.2017.00054</u>

Guy, J., Wagener, R.J., Möck, M., Staiger, J.F., 2015. Persistence of Functional Sensory Maps in the Absence of Cortical Layers in the Somatosensory Cortex of Reeler Mice. Cereb Cortex 25, 2517–2528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhu052</u>

Hafner, G., Guy, J., Witte, M., Truschow, P., Rüppel, A., Sirmpilatze, N., Dadarwal, R., Boretius, S., Staiger, J.F., 2020. Increased Callosal Connectivity in Reeler Mice Revealed by Brain-Wide Input Mapping of VIP Neurons in Barrel Cortex. Cereb Cortex 31, 1427–1443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhaa280</u>

Hafting, T., Fyhn, M., Molden, S., Moser, M.-B., Moser, E.I., 2005. Microstructure of a spatial map in the entorhinal cortex. Nature 436, 801–806. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03721</u>

Haidarliu, S., Bagdasarian, K., Sardonicus, S., Ahissar, E., 2021. Interaction between muscles and fascia in the mystacial pad of whisking rodents. The Anatomical Record 304, 400–412. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.24409</u>

Haidarliu, S., Nelinger, G., Gantar, L., Ahissar, E., Saraf-Sinik, I., 2024. Functional anatomy of mystacial active sensing in rats. The Anatomical Record 307, 442–456. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.25305</u>

Haidarliu, S., Simony, E., Golomb, D., Ahissar, E., 2010. Muscle architecture in the mystacial pad of the rat. Anat Rec (Hoboken) 293, 1192–1206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.21156</u> Han, V.X., Patel, S., Jones, H.F., Dale, R.C., 2021. Maternal immune activation and neuroinflammation in human neurodevelopmental disorders. Nat Rev Neurol 17, 564–579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-021-00530-8</u>

Haridas, S., Ganapathi, R., Kumar, M., Manda, K., 2018. Whisker dependent responsiveness of C57BL/6J mice to different behavioral test paradigms. Behavioural Brain Research 336, 51–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2017.08.004</u>

Harris, J.J., Jolivet, R., Attwell, D., 2012. Synaptic Energy Use and Supply. Neuron 75, 762–777. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.08.019</u>

Heimendahl, M. von, Itskov, P.M., Arabzadeh, E., Diamond, M.E., 2007. Neuronal Activity in Rat Barrel Cortex Underlying Texture Discrimination. PLOS Biology 5, e305. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0050305

Hewitt, B.M., Yap, M.H., Hodson-Tole, E.F., Kennerley, A.J., Sharp, P.S., Grant, R.A., 2018. A novel automated rodent tracker (ART), demonstrated in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Journal of Neuroscience Methods, Measuring Behaviour 2016 300, 147–156.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2017.04.006

Hewitt, B.M., Yap, M.H., Grant, R.A., 2016. Manual Whisker Annotator (MWA): A Modular Open-Source Tool. Journal of Open Research Software 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/jors.93</u>

Hu, X., Urhie, O., Chang, K., Hostetler, R., Agmon, A., 2018. A Novel Method for Training Mice in Visuo-Tactile 3-D Object Discrimination and Recognition. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2018.00274</u>

Ibarra-Castañeda, N., Moy-Lopez, N.A., González-Pérez, Ó., 2022. Tactile information from the vibrissal system modulates hippocampal functioning. Curr Res Neurobiol 3, 100034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crneur.2022.100034</u>

Inoue, K., 1990. [A new approach to the quantitative analysis of the vascular architecture and its application to the cerebral cortex of the reeler mouse]. Hokkaido Igaku Zasshi 65, 493–509. Ioannidis, J.P.A., 2005. Why Most Published Research Findings Are False. PLoS Medicine 2, e124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0020124</u>

Ito, J., Roy, S., Liu, Y., Cao, Y., Fletcher, M., Lu, L., Boughter, J.D., Grün, S., Heck, D.H., 2014. Whisker barrel cortex delta oscillations and gamma power in the awake mouse are linked to respiration. Nat Commun 5, 3572. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4572

Jang, W.-J., Son, T., Song, S.-H., Ryu, I.S., Lee, S., Jeong, C.-H., 2020. Transcriptional Profiling of Whisker Follicles and of the Striatum in Methamphetamine Self-Administered Rats. Int J Mol Sci 21, 8856. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21228856</u>

Janhunen, S.K., Svärd, H., Talpos, J., Kumar, G., Steckler, T., Plath, N., Lerdrup, L., Ruby, T., Haman, M., Wyler, R., Ballard, T.M., 2015. The subchronic phencyclidine rat model: relevance for the assessment of novel therapeutics for cognitive impairment associated with schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology 232, 4059–4083. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-3954-6</u>

Jankowsky, J.L., Zheng, H., 2017. Practical considerations for choosing a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Molecular Neurodegeneration 12, 89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13024-017-0231-7</u>

Jiang, H., Xu, L., Shao, L., Xia, R., Yu, Z., Ling, Z., Yang, F., Deng, M., Ruan, B., 2016. Maternal infection during pregnancy and risk of autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity 58, 165–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2016.06.005</u>

Jones, C., Watson, D., Fone, K., 2011. Animal models of schizophrenia. Br J Pharmacol 164, 1162–1194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01386.x</u>

Judd, C.M., Westfall, J., Kenny, D.A., 2012. Treating stimuli as a random factor in social psychology: a new and comprehensive solution to a pervasive but largely ignored problem. J Pers Soc Psychol 103, 54–69.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028347

Jullienne, A., Quan, R., Szu, J.I., Trinh, M.V., Behringer, E.J., Obenaus, A., 2022. Progressive Vascular Abnormalities in the Aging 3xTg-AD Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Biomedicines 10, 1967. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines10081967</u>

Kahn, R.S., Keefe, R.S.E., 2013. Schizophrenia Is a Cognitive Illness: Time for a Change in Focus. JAMA Psychiatry 70, 1107–1112. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.155

Kahnau, P., Jaap, A., Hobbiesiefken, U., Mieske, P., Diederich, K., Thöne-Reineke, C., Lewejohann, L., Hohlbaum, K., 2022. A preliminary survey on the occurrence of barbering in laboratory mice in Germany. Animal Welfare 31, 433– 436. <u>https://doi.org/10.7120/09627286.31.4.009</u>

Kane, A.E., Shin, S., Wong, A.A., Fertan, E., Faustova, N.S., Howlett, S.E., Brown, R.E., 2018. Sex Differences in Healthspan Predict Lifespan in the 3xTg-AD Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. Front Aging Neurosci 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00172

Kantak, K.M., 2022. Rodent models of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder: An updated framework for model validation and therapeutic drug discovery. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 216, 173378.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2022.173378

Kennerley, A.J., Harris, S., Bruyns-Haylett, M., Boorman, L., Zheng, Y., Jones, M., Berwick, J., 2012. Early and late stimulus-evoked cortical hemodynamic responses provide insight into the neurogenic nature of neurovascular coupling. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 32, 468–480. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2011.163</u>

Kenward, M.G., Roger, J.H., 1997. Small sample inference for fixed effects from restricted maximum likelihood. Biometrics 53, 983–997.

Kilkenny, C., Browne, W.J., Cuthill, I.C., Emerson, M., Altman, D.G., 2010. Improving bioscience research reporting: The ARRIVE guidelines for reporting animal research. Journal of Pharmacology & Pharmacotherapeutics 1, 94. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/0976-500X.72351</u> King, J.L., Wong, A.A., Brown, R.E., 2018. Age-Related Changes in the Spatial Frequency Threshold of Male and Female 3xTg-AD Mice Using OptoMotry. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease 62, 591–596. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170805</u>

Kleinfeld, D., Moore, J.D., Wang, F., Deschênes, M., 2014. The brainstem oscillator for whisking and the case for breathing as the master clock for orofacial motor actions. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 79, 29–39.

https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2014.79.024794

Klibaite, U., Kislin, M., Verpeut, J.L., Bergeler, S., Sun, X., Shaevitz, J.W., Wang, S.S.-H., 2022. Deep phenotyping reveals movement phenotypes in mouse neurodevelopmental models. Molecular Autism 13, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-022-00492-8</u>

Koizumi, M., Asano, S., Furukawa, A., Hayashi, Y., Hitomi, S., Shibuta, I., Hayashi, K., Kato, F., Iwata, K., Shinoda, M., 2021. P2X3 receptor upregulation in trigeminal ganglion neurons through TNFα production in macrophages contributes to trigeminal neuropathic pain in rats. J Headache Pain 22, 31. https://doi.org/10.1186/s10194-021-01244-4

Kokras, N., Dalla, C., 2014. Sex differences in animal models of psychiatric disorders. British Journal of Pharmacology 171, 4595–4619. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12710

Kopjas, N.N., Jones, R.T., Bany, B., Patrylo, P.R., 2006. Reeler mutant mice exhibit seizures during recovery from isoflurane-induced anesthesia. Epilepsy Research 69, 87–91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2005.12.001</u>

Kowash, H.M., Potter, H.G., Edye, M.E., Prinssen, E.P., Bandinelli, S., Neill, J.C., Hager, R., Glazier, J.D., 2019. Poly(I:C) source, molecular weight and endotoxin contamination affect dam and prenatal outcomes, implications for models of maternal immune activation. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity 82, 160–166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2019.08.006</u>

Kowash, H.M., Potter, H.G., Woods, R.M., Ashton, N., Hager, R., Neill, J.C., Glazier, J.D., 2022. Maternal immune activation in rats induces dysfunction of

placental leucine transport and alters fetal brain growth. Clin Sci (Lond) 136, 1117–1137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1042/CS20220245</u>

Krackow, S., Vannoni, E., Codita, A., Mohammed, A.H., Cirulli, F., Branchi, I., Alleva, E., Reichelt, A., Willuweit, A., Voikar, V., Colacicco, G., Wolfer, D.P., Buschmann, J.-U.F., Safi, K., Lipp, H.-P., 2010. Consistent behavioral phenotype differences between inbred mouse strains in the IntelliCage. Genes, Brain and Behavior 9, 722–731. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1601-183X.2010.00606.x

Landreth, K., Simanaviciute, U., Fletcher, J., Grayson, B., Grant, R.A., Harte, M.H., Gigg, J., 2021. Dissociating the effects of distraction and proactive interference on object memory through tests of novelty preference. Brain and Neuroscience Advances 5, 23982128211003199.

https://doi.org/10.1177/23982128211003199

Lane, C.A., Hardy, J., Schott, J.M., 2018. Alzheimer's disease. European Journal of Neurology 25, 59–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ene.13439</u>

Langford, D.J., Bailey, A.L., Chanda, M.L., Clarke, S.E., Drummond, T.E., Echols, S., Glick, S., Ingrao, J., Klassen-Ross, T., LaCroix-Fralish, M.L., Matsumiya, L., Sorge, R.E., Sotocinal, S.G., Tabaka, J.M., Wong, D., van den Maagdenberg, A.M.J.M., Ferrari, M.D., Craig, K.D., Mogil, J.S., 2010. Coding of facial expressions of pain in the laboratory mouse. Nat Methods 7, 447–449. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1455

Laursen, T.M., Nordentoft, M., Mortensen, P.B., 2014. Excess early mortality in schizophrenia. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 10, 425–448. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032813-153657

Lavallée, P., Deschênes, M., 2004. Dendroarchitecture and Lateral Inhibition in Thalamic Barreloids. J. Neurosci. 24, 6098–6105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0973-04.2004</u>

Lazic, S.E., Clarke-Williams, C.J., Munafò, M.R., 2018. What exactly is 'N' in cell culture and animal experiments? PLOS Biology 16, e2005282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.2005282</u> Leger, M., Neill, J.C., 2016. A systematic review comparing sex differences in cognitive function in schizophrenia and in rodent models for schizophrenia, implications for improved therapeutic strategies. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews 68, 979–1000. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.06.029</u>

Levy, D.R., Hunter, N., Lin, S., Robinson, E.M., Gillis, W., Conlin, E.B., Anyoha, R., Shansky, R.M., Datta, S.R., 2023. Mouse spontaneous behavior reflects individual variation rather than estrous state. Current Biology 0. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2023.02.035</u>

Li, H., Crair, M.C., 2011. How do barrels form in somatosensory cortex? Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1225, 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06024.x

Li, R., Ma, X., Wang, G., Yang, J., Wang, C., 2016. Why sex differences in schizophrenia? J Transl Neurosci (Beijing) 1, 37–42.

Lichtenstein, S.H., Carvell, G.E., Simons, D.J., 1990. Responses of Rat Trigeminal Ganglion Neurons to Movements of Vibrissae in Different Directions. Somatosensory & Motor Research 7, 47–65. https://doi.org/10.3109/08990229009144697

Lins, B.R., Hurtubise, J.L., Roebuck, A.J., Marks, W.N., Zabder, N.K., Scott, G.A., Greba, Q., Dawicki, W., Zhang, X., Rudulier, C.D., Gordon, J.R., Howland, J.G., 2018. Prospective Analysis of the Effects of Maternal Immune Activation on Rat Cytokines during Pregnancy and Behavior of the Male Offspring Relevant to Schizophrenia. eNeuro 5, ENEURO.0249-18.2018. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0249-18.2018

Lins, B.R., Marks, W.N., Zabder, N.K., Greba, Q., Howland, J.G., 2019. Maternal Immune Activation during Pregnancy Alters the Behavior Profile of Female Offspring of Sprague Dawley Rats. eNeuro 6. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0437-18.2019

Lorusso, J.M., Woods, R.M., McEwan, F., Glazier, J.D., Neill, J.C., Harte, M., Hager, R., 2022. Clustering of cognitive phenotypes identifies susceptible and resilient offspring in a rat model of maternal immune activation and early-life stress. Brain Behav Immun Health 25, 100514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbih.2022.100514</u>

Lossi, L., Castagna, C., Granato, A., Merighi, A., 2019. The Reeler Mouse: A Translational Model of Human Neurological Conditions, or Simply a Good Tool for Better Understanding Neurodevelopment? J Clin Med 8, 2088. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8122088

Lu, H., Wang, L., Rea, W.W., Brynildsen, J.K., Jaime, S., Zuo, Y., Stein, E.A., Yang, Y., 2016. Low- but Not High-Frequency LFP Correlates with Spontaneous BOLD Fluctuations in Rat Whisker Barrel Cortex. Cerebral Cortex 26, 683–694. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhu248</u>

Luke, S.G., 2017. Evaluating significance in linear mixed-effects models in R. Behav Res 49, 1494–1502. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-016-0809-y</u>

Lustig, C., Kozak, R., Sarter, M., Young, J.W., Robbins, T.W., 2013. CNTRICS final animal model task selection: Control of attention. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, CNTRICS: Modeling psychosis related cognition in animal systems to enhance translational research + Life-Span Plasticity of Brain and Behavior: A Cognitive Neuroscience Perspective 37, 2099–2110.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.05.009

Marder, E., Bucher, D., 2001. Central pattern generators and the control of rhythmic movements. Current Biology 11, R986–R996. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(01)00581-4

May, T., Adesina, I., McGillivray, J., Rinehart, N.J., 2019. Sex differences in neurodevelopmental disorders. Current Opinion in Neurology 32, 622. https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.000000000000714

Melgar-Locatelli, S., Mañas-Padilla, M.C., Gavito, A.L., Rivera, P., Rodríguez-Pérez, C., Castilla-Ortega, E., Castro-Zavala, A., 2024. Sex-specific variations in spatial reference memory acquisition: Insights from a comprehensive behavioral test battery in C57BL/6JRj mice. Behavioural Brain Research 459, 114806. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2023.114806

Meyer, U., 2014. Prenatal Poly(I:C) Exposure and Other Developmental Immune Activation Models in Rodent Systems. Biological Psychiatry, Neuroimmune Mechanisms Related to Psychosis 75, 307–315. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.07.011</u>

Meyer, U., Feldon, J., 2012. To poly(I:C) or not to poly(I:C): Advancing preclinical schizophrenia research through the use of prenatal immune activation models. Neuropharmacology, Schizophrenia 62, 1308–1321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2011.01.009

Miller, L.R., Marks, C., Becker, J.B., Hurn, P.D., Chen, W.-J., Woodruff, T., McCarthy, M.M., Sohrabji, F., Schiebinger, L., Wetherington, C.L., Makris, S., Arnold, A.P., Einstein, G., Miller, V.M., Sandberg, K., Maier, S., Cornelison, T.L., Clayton, J.A., 2017. Considering sex as a biological variable in preclinical research. The FASEB Journal 31, 29–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201600781r</u>

Mitchinson, B., Grant, R.A., Arkley, K., Rankov, V., Perkon, I., Prescott, T.J., 2011. Active vibrissal sensing in rodents and marsupials. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 366, 3037–3048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0156</u>

Mitchinson, B., Martin, C.J., Grant, R.A., Prescott, T.J., 2007. Feedback control in active sensing: rat exploratory whisking is modulated by environmental contact. Proc. Biol. Sci. 274, 1035–1041. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.0347</u>

Mitchinson, B., Prescott, T.J., 2013. Whisker Movements Reveal Spatial Attention: A Unified Computational Model of Active Sensing Control in the Rat. PLOS Computational Biology 9, e1003236. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003236</u>

Miura, T., Yamamoto, Y., Funayama, E., Ishikawa, K., Maeda, T., 2023. Development of a simultaneous and noninvasive measuring method using highframe rate videography and motion analysis software for the assessment of facial palsy recovery in a rat model. Journal of Plastic, Reconstructive & Aesthetic Surgery 82, 211–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjps.2023.04.026</u> Moore, J.D., Deschênes, M., Furuta, T., Huber, D., Smear, M.C., Demers, M., Kleinfeld, D., 2013. Hierarchy of orofacial rhythms revealed through whisking and breathing. Nature 497, 205–210. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12076</u>

Morioka, K., Takano-Ohmuro, H., 2016. Localizations of γ-Actins in Skin, Hair, Vibrissa, Arrector Pili Muscle and Other Hair Appendages of Developing Rats. Acta Histochemica Et Cytochemica 49, 47–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1267/ahc.15031</u>

Morita, T., Kang, H., Wolfe, J., Jadhav, S.P., Feldman, D.E., 2011. Psychometric Curve and Behavioral Strategies for Whisker-Based Texture Discrimination in Rats. PLOS ONE 6, e20437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020437</u>

Muchlinski, M.N., Wible, J.R., Corfe, I., Sullivan, M., Grant, R.A., 2020. Good Vibrations: The Evolution of Whisking in Small Mammals. The Anatomical Record 303, 89–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ar.23989</u>

Mueller, F.S., Polesel, M., Richetto, J., Meyer, U., Weber-Stadlbauer, U., 2018. Mouse models of maternal immune activation: Mind your caging system! Brain, Behavior, and Immunity 73, 643–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2018.07.014</u>

Murray, K.N., Edye, M.E., Manca, M., Vernon, A.C., Oladipo, J.M., Fasolino, V., Harte, M.K., Mason, V., Grayson, B., McHugh, P.C., Knuesel, I., Prinssen, E.P., Hager, R., Neill, J.C., 2019. Evolution of a maternal immune activation (mIA) model in rats: Early developmental effects. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity 75, 48– 59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2018.09.005</u>

Nicolas, L.B., Kolb, Y., Prinssen, E.P.M., 2006. A combined marble burying– locomotor activity test in mice: A practical screening test with sensitivity to different classes of anxiolytics and antidepressants. European Journal of Pharmacology 547, 106–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2006.07.015</u>

Nikolić, T., Petronijević, M., Sopta, J., Velimirović, M., Stojković, T., Jevtić Dožudić, G., Aksić, M., Radonjić, N.V., Petronijević, N., 2017. Haloperidol affects bones while clozapine alters metabolic parameters - sex specific effects in rats perinatally treated with phencyclidine. BMC Pharmacol Toxicol 18, 65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40360-017-0171-4</u> Nishibe, M., Katsuyama, Y., Yamashita, T., 2018. Developmental abnormality contributes to cortex-dependent motor impairments and higher intracortical current requirement in the reeler homozygous mutants. Brain Struct Funct 223, 2575–2587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-018-1647-8</u>

Oddo, S., Caccamo, A., Shepherd, J.D., Murphy, M.P., Golde, T.E., Kayed, R., Metherate, R., Mattson, M.P., Akbari, Y., LaFerla, F.M., 2003. Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease with plaques and tangles: intracellular Abeta and synaptic dysfunction. Neuron 39, 409–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00434-3</u>

O'Keefe, J., Dostrovsky, J., 1971. The hippocampus as a spatial map. Preliminary evidence from unit activity in the freely-moving rat. Brain Research 34, 171–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(71)90358-1

Orta-Salazar, E., Feria-Velasco, A.I., Díaz-Cintra, S., 2019. Alteraciones en la corteza motora primaria en la enfermedad de Alzheimer: estudio en el modelo 3xTg-AD. Neurología 34, 429–436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nrl.2017.02.016</u>

Owen, M.J., O'Donovan, M.C., 2017. Schizophrenia and the neurodevelopmental continuum:evidence from genomics. World Psychiatry 16, 227–235. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20440

Pan, L., Zheng, L., Wu, X., Zhu, Z., Wang, S., Lu, Y., He, Y., Yang, Q., Ma, X., Wang, Xiaomeng, Yang, H., Zhan, L., Luo, Y., Li, X., Zhou, Y., Wang, Xiaodong, Luo, J., Wang, L., Duan, S., Wang, H., 2022. A short period of early life oxytocin treatment rescues social behavior dysfunction via suppression of hippocampal hyperactivity in male mice. Mol Psychiatry 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-022-01692-7</u>

Panichello, M.F., Buschman, T.J., 2021. Shared mechanisms underlie the control of working memory and attention. Nature 592, 601–605. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03390-w</u> Paxinos, G., Franklin, K.B.J., 2013. Paxinos and Franklin's the mouse brain in stereotaxic coordinates, 4th ed. ed. Boston : Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam.

Pellow, S., Chopin, P., File, S.E., Briley, M., 1985. Validation of open : closed arm entries in an elevated plus-maze as a measure of anxiety in the rat. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 14, 149–167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0270(85)90031-</u>

7

Perkon, I., Košir, A., Itskov, P.M., Tasič, J., Diamond, M.E., 2011. Unsupervised quantification of whisking and head movement in freely moving rodents. Journal of Neurophysiology 105, 1950–1962. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00764.2010</u>

Pielecka-Fortuna, J., Wagener, R.J., Martens, A.-K., Goetze, B., Schmidt, K.-F., Staiger, J.F., Löwel, S., 2015. The disorganized visual cortex in reelin-deficient mice is functional and allows for enhanced plasticity. Brain Struct Funct 220, 3449–3467. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-014-0866-x</u>

Piontkewitz, Y., Arad, M., Weiner, I., 2011. Risperidone Administered During Asymptomatic Period of Adolescence Prevents the Emergence of Brain Structural Pathology and Behavioral Abnormalities in an Animal Model of Schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Bulletin 37, 1257–1269. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbq040</u>

Piontkewitz, Y., Assaf, Y., Weiner, I., 2009. Clozapine Administration in Adolescence Prevents Postpubertal Emergence of Brain Structural Pathology in an Animal Model of Schizophrenia. Biological Psychiatry, Genotypic and Neuroimaging Biomarkers for Schizophrenia 66, 1038–1046. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.07.005

Postmes, L., Sno, H.N., Goedhart, S., van der Stel, J., Heering, H.D., de Haan, L., 2014. Schizophrenia as a self-disorder due to perceptual incoherence. Schizophrenia Research 152, 41–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.027</u>

Potter, H.G., Ashbrook, D.G., Hager, R., 2019. Offspring genetic effects on maternal care. Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology 52, 195–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2018.12.004 Potter, H.G., Kowash, H.M., Woods, R.M., Revill, G., Grime, A., Deeney, B., Burgess, M.A., Aarons, T., Glazier, J.D., Neill, J.C., Hager, R., 2023. Maternal behaviours and adult offspring behavioural deficits are predicted by maternal TNFα concentration in a rat model of neurodevelopmental disorders. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity 108, 162–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2022.12.003</u>

Prendergast, B.J., Onishi, K.G., Zucker, I., 2014. Female mice liberated for inclusion in neuroscience and biomedical research. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 40, 1– 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.01.001</u>

Prut, L., Belzung, C., 2003. The open field as a paradigm to measure the effects of drugs on anxiety-like behaviors: a review. European Journal of Pharmacology, Animal Models of Anxiety Disorders 463, 3–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-2999(03)01272-X</u>

Puścian, A., Łęski, S., Górkiewicz, T., Meyza, K., Lipp, H.-P., Knapska, E., 2014. A novel automated behavioral test battery assessing cognitive rigidity in two genetic mouse models of autism. Front Behav Neurosci 8, 140. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00140

Pyeon, G.H., Lee, J., Jo, Y.S., Choi, J.-S., 2023. Conditioned flight response in female rats to naturalistic threat is estrous-cycle dependent. Sci Rep 13, 20988. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-47591-x

Quintana, D.D., Anantula, Y., Garcia, J.A., Engler-Chiurazzi, E.B., Sarkar, S.N., Corbin, D.R., Brown, C.M., Simpkins, J.W., 2021. Microvascular degeneration occurs before plaque onset and progresses with age in 3xTg AD mice. Neurobiology of Aging 105, 115–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2021.04.019

Rae, E.A., Brown, R.E., 2015. The problem of genotype and sex differences in life expectancy in transgenic AD mice. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 57, 238–251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.09.002

Rauschecker, J.P., Tian, B., Korte, M., Egert, U., 1992. Crossmodal changes in the somatosensory vibrissa/barrel system of visually deprived animals.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 89, 5063. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.89.11.5063</u>

Renard, A., Harrell, E.R., Bathellier, B., 2022. Olfactory modulation of barrel cortex activity during active whisking and passive whisker stimulation. Nat Commun 13, 3830. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-31565-0</u>

Resende, R., Moreira, P.I., Proença, T., Deshpande, A., Busciglio, J., Pereira, C., Oliveira, C.R., 2008. Brain oxidative stress in a triple-transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 44, 2051–2057. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.03.012</u>

Rezaei, Z., Jafari, Z., Afrashteh, N., Torabi, R., Singh, S., Kolb, B.E., Davidsen, J., Mohajerani, M.H., 2021. Prenatal stress dysregulates resting-state functional connectivity and sensory motifs. Neurobiol Stress 15, 100345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2021.100345

Robbins, T., 2002. The 5-choice serial reaction time task: behavioural pharmacology and functional neurochemistry. Psychopharmacology 163, 362–380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-002-1154-7</u>

Roddick, K.M., Roberts, A.D., Schellinck, H.M., Brown, R.E., 2016. Sex and Genotype Differences in Odor Detection in the 3×Tg-AD and 5XFAD Mouse Models of Alzheimer's Disease at 6 Months of Age. Chem Senses 41, 433–440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjw018</u>

Romberg, C., Mattson, M.P., Mughal, M.R., Bussey, T.J., Saksida, L.M., 2011. Impaired Attention in the 3xTgAD Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease: Rescue by Donepezil (Aricept). J Neurosci 31, 3500–3507. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5242-10.2011

Salomon, J.A., Vos, T., Hogan, D.R., Gagnon, M., Naghavi, M., Mokdad, A.,
Begum, N., Shah, R., Karyana, M., Kosen, S., Farje, M.R., Moncada, G., Dutta, A.,
Sazawal, S., Dyer, A., Seiler, J., Aboyans, V., Baker, L., Baxter, A., Benjamin,
E.J., Bhalla, K., Abdulhak, A.B., Blyth, F., Bourne, R., Braithwaite, T., Brooks, P.,
Brugha, T.S., Bryan-Hancock, C., Buchbinder, R., Burney, P., Calabria, B., Chen,

H., Chugh, S.S., Cooley, R., Criqui, M.H., Cross, M., Dabhadkar, K.C., Dahodwala, N., Davis, A., Degenhardt, L., Díaz-Torné, C., Dorsey, E.R., Driscoll, T., Edmond, K., Elbaz, A., Ezzati, M., Feigin, V., Ferri, C.P., Flaxman, A.D., Flood, L., Fransen, M., Fuse, K., Gabbe, B.J., Gillum, R.F., Haagsma, J., Harrison, J.E., Havmoeller, R., Hay, R.J., Hel-Baqui, A., Hoek, H.W., Hoffman, H., Hogeland, E., Hoy, D., Jarvis, D., Jonas, J.B., Karthikeyan, G., Knowlton, L.M., Lathlean, T., Leasher, J.L., Lim, S.S., Lipshultz, S.E., Lopez, A.D., Lozano, R., Lyons, R., Malekzadeh, R., Marcenes, W., March, L., Margolis, D.J., McGill, N., McGrath, J., Mensah, G.A., Meyer, A.-C., Michaud, C., Moran, A., Mori, R., Murdoch, M.E., Naldi, L., Newton, C.R., Norman, R., Omer, S.B., Osborne, R., Pearce, N., Perez-Ruiz, F., Perico, N., Pesudovs, K., Phillips, D., Pourmalek, F., Prince, M., Rehm, J.T., Remuzzi, G., Richardson, K., Room, R., Saha, S., Sampson, U., Sanchez-Riera, L., Segui-Gomez, M., Shahraz, S., Shibuya, K., Singh, D., Sliwa, K., Smith, E., Soerjomataram, I., Steiner, T., Stolk, W.A., Stovner, L.J., Sudfeld, C., Taylor, H.R., Tleyjeh, I.M., van der Werf, M.J., Watson, W.L., Weatherall, D.J., Weintraub, R., Weisskopf, M.G., Whiteford, H., Wilkinson, J.D., Woolf, A.D., Zheng, Z.-J., Murray, C.J., 2012. Common values in assessing health outcomes from disease and injury: disability weights measurement study for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. The Lancet 380, 2129–2143. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61680-8

Sanganahalli, B.G., Thompson, G.J., Parent, M., Verhagen, J.V., Blumenfeld, H., Herman, P., Hyder, F., 2022. Thalamic activations in rat brain by fMRI during tactile (forepaw, whisker) and non-tactile (visual, olfactory) sensory stimulations. PLOS ONE 17, e0267916. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0267916</u>

Santos-Terra, J., Deckmann, I., Fontes-Dutra, M., Schwingel, G.B., Bambini-Junior, V., Gottfried, C., 2021. Transcription factors in neurodevelopmental and associated psychiatric disorders: A potential convergence for genetic and environmental risk factors. International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience 81, 545–578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jdn.10141</u> Saré, R.M., Lemons, A., Smith, C.B., 2021. Behavior Testing in Rodents: Highlighting Potential Confounds Affecting Variability and Reproducibility. Brain Sci 11, 522. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11040522</u>

Sarna, J.R., Dyck, R.H., Whishaw, I.Q., 2000. The Dalila effect: C57BL6 mice barber whiskers by plucking. Behavioural Brain Research 108, 39–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(99)00137-0</u>

Satterthwaite, F.E., 1946. An Approximate Distribution of Estimates of Variance Components. Biometrics Bulletin 2, 110–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/3002019</u>

Scearce-Levie, K., Sanchez, P.E., Lewcock, J.W., 2020. Leveraging preclinical models for the development of Alzheimer disease therapeutics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 19, 447–462. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41573-020-0065-9

Schaalje, G.B., McBride, J.B., Fellingham, G.W., 2002. Adequacy of approximations to distributions of test statistics in complex mixed linear models. JABES 7, 512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1198/108571102726</u>

Scheltens, P., Strooper, B.D., Kivipelto, M., Holstege, H., Chételat, G., Teunissen, C.E., Cummings, J., Flier, W.M. van der, 2021. Alzheimer's disease. The Lancet 397, 1577–1590. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32205-4

Sehara, K., Zimmer-Harwood, P., Larkum, M.E., Sachdev, R.N.S., 2021. Real-Time Closed-Loop Feedback in Behavioral Time Scales Using DeepLabCut. eNeuro 8, ENEURO.0415. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0415-20.2021</u>

Setogawa, S., Yamaura, H., Arasaki, T., Endo, S., Yanagihara, D., 2014. Deficits in memory-guided limb movements impair obstacle avoidance locomotion in Alzheimer's disease mouse model. Sci Rep 4, 7220.

https://doi.org/10.1038/srep07220

Sharp, P.S., Shaw, K., Boorman, L., Harris, S., Kennerley, A.J., Azzouz, M., Berwick, J., 2015. Comparison of stimulus-evoked cerebral hemodynamics in the awake mouse and under a novel anesthetic regime. Sci Rep 5, 12621. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12621</u> Sert, N.P. du, Ahluwalia, A., Alam, S., Avey, M.T., Baker, M., Browne, W.J., Clark, A., Cuthill, I.C., Dirnagl, U., Emerson, M., Garner, P., Holgate, S.T., Howells, D.W., Hurst, V., Karp, N.A., Lazic, S.E., Lidster, K., MacCallum, C.J., Macleod, M., Pearl, E.J., Petersen, O.H., Rawle, F., Reynolds, P., Rooney, K., Sena, E.S., Silberberg, S.D., Steckler, T., Würbel, H., 2020. Reporting animal research: Explanation and elaboration for the ARRIVE guidelines 2.0. PLOS Biology 18, e3000411. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3000411

Simanaviciute, U., Ahmed, J., Brown, R.E., Connor-Robson, N., Farr, T.D., Fertan, E., Gambles, N., Garland, H., Morton, A.J., Staiger, J.F., Skillings, E.A., Trueman, R.C., Wade-Martins, R., Wood, N.I., Wong, A.A., Grant, R.A., 2020. Recommendations for measuring whisker movements and locomotion in mice with sensory, motor and cognitive deficits. Journal of Neuroscience Methods 331, 108532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2019.108532

Simanaviciute, U., Brown, R.E., Wong, A., Fertan, E., Grant, R.A., 2022. Abnormal whisker movements in the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Genes, Brain and Behavior n/a, e12813. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12813</u>

Smith, A.J., Clutton, R.E., Lilley, E., Hansen, K.E.A., Brattelid, T., 2018. PREPARE: guidelines for planning animal research and testing. Lab Anim 52, 135–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0023677217724823</u>

Snigdha, S., Neill, J.C., McLean, S.L., Shemar, G.K., Cruise, L., Shahid, M., Henry, B., 2011. Phencyclidine (PCP)-induced disruption in cognitive performance is gender-specific and associated with a reduction in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in specific regions of the female rat brain. J Mol Neurosci 43, 337– 345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12031-010-9447-5

Sonekatsu, M., Yamada, H., Gu, J.G., 2020. Pressure-clamped single-fiber recording technique: A new recording method for studying sensory receptors. Mol Pain 16, 1744806920927852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1744806920927852</u>

Sotocinal, S.G., Sorge, R.E., Zaloum, A., Tuttle, A.H., Martin, L.J., Wieskopf, J.S., Mapplebeck, J.C., Wei, P., Zhan, S., Zhang, S., McDougall, J.J., King, O.D., Mogil,

J.S., 2011. The Rat Grimace Scale: A partially automated method for quantifying pain in the laboratory rat via facial expressions. Mol Pain 7, 55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-8069-7-55</u>

Spink, A.J., Tegelenbosch, R.A.J., Buma, M.O.S., Noldus, L.P.J.J., 2001. The EthoVision video tracking system—A tool for behavioral phenotyping of transgenic mice. Physiology & Behavior, Molecular Behavior Genetics of the Mouse 73, 731–744. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(01)00530-3</u>

Steinmetz, N.A., Aydin, C., Lebedeva, A., Okun, M., Pachitariu, M., Bauza, M.,
Beau, M., Bhagat, J., Böhm, C., Broux, M., Chen, S., Colonell, J., Gardner, R.J.,
Karsh, B., Kloosterman, F., Kostadinov, D., Mora-Lopez, C., O'Callaghan, J., Park,
J., Putzeys, J., Sauerbrei, B., van Daal, R.J.J., Vollan, A.Z., Wang, S.,
Welkenhuysen, M., Ye, Z., Dudman, J., Dutta, B., Hantman, A.W., Harris, K.D.,
Lee, A.K., Moser, E.I., O'Keefe, J., Renart, A., Svoboda, K., Häusser, M., Haesler,
S., Carandini, M., Harris, T.D., 2021. Neuropixels 2.0: A miniaturized high-density
probe for stable, long-term brain recordings. Science 372, eabf4588.
https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abf4588

Sterniczuk, R., Antle, M.C., LaFerla, F.M., Dyck, R.H., 2010. Characterization of the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: Part 2. Behavioral and cognitive changes. Brain Research 1348, 149–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.06.011

Stevens, L.M., Brown, R.E., 2015. Reference and working memory deficits in the 3xTg-AD mouse between 2 and 15-months of age: A cross-sectional study. Behavioural Brain Research 278, 496–505.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.10.033

Stover, K.R., Campbell, M.A., Van Winssen, C.M., Brown, R.E., 2015. Analysis of motor function in 6-month-old male and female 3xTg-AD mice. Behavioural Brain Research 281, 16–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.11.046</u>

Sturman, O., Germain, P.-L., Bohacek, J., 2018. Exploratory rearing: a contextand stress-sensitive behavior recorded in the open-field test. Stress 21, 443–452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10253890.2018.1438405</u>

SULLIVAN, R.M., LANDERS, M.S., FLEMMING, J., YOUNG, T.A., POLAN, H.J., 2003. Characterizing the functional significance of the neonatal rat vibrissae prior to the onset of whisking. Somatosens Mot Res 20, 157–162. https://doi.org/10.1080/0899022031000105190

Takatoh, J., Prevosto, V., Thompson, P.M., Lu, J., Chung, L., Harrahill, A., Li, S., Zhao, S., He, Z., Golomb, D., Kleinfeld, D., Wang, F., 2022. The whisking oscillator circuit. Nature 609, 560–568. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-022-05144-8</u>

Takuwa, H., Autio, J., Nakayama, H., Matsuura, T., Obata, T., Okada, E., Masamoto, K., Kanno, I., 2011. Reproducibility and variance of a stimulationinduced hemodynamic response in barrel cortex of awake behaving mice. Brain Research 1369, 103–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2010.11.007</u>

Tampellini, D., Capetillo-Zarate, E., Dumont, M., Huang, Z., Yu, F., Lin, M.T., Gouras, G.K., 2010. Effects of Synaptic Modulation on β-Amyloid, Synaptophysin, and Memory Performance in Alzheimer's Disease Transgenic Mice. J Neurosci 30, 14299–14304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3383-10.2010</u>

The 3Hs Initiative [WWW Document], n.d. URL https://www.3hs-initiative.co.uk/ (accessed 10.27.24).

The Jackson Laboratory, Body Weight Info - Strain 101045 (B6129SF2/J), n.d. URL <u>https://www.jax.org/jax-mice-and-services/strain-data-sheet-pages/body-weight-chart-101045</u> (accessed 9.29.24).

Torrisi, S.A., Rizzo, S., Laudani, S., Ieraci, A., Drago, F., Leggio, G.M., 2023. Acute stress alters recognition memory and AMPA/NMDA receptor subunits in a sex-dependent manner. Neurobiol Stress 25, 100545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2023.100545 Towal, R.B., Hartmann, M.J., 2006. Right–Left Asymmetries in the Whisking Behavior of Rats Anticipate Head Movements. J. Neurosci. 26, 8838–8846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0581-06.2006</u>

van Heusden, F.C., Palacín i Bonsón, S., Stiedl, O., Smit, A.B., van Kesteren, R.E., 2021. Longitudinal Assessment of Working Memory Performance in the APPswe/PSEN1dE9 Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease Using an Automated Figure-8-Maze. Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience 15.

Voelkl, B., Altman, N.S., Forsman, A., Forstmeier, W., Gurevitch, J., Jaric, I., Karp, N.A., Kas, M.J., Schielzeth, H., Van de Casteele, T., Würbel, H., 2020. Reproducibility of animal research in light of biological variation. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 21, 384–393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41583-020-0313-3</u>

Voikar, V., 2020. Reproducibility of behavioral phenotypes in mouse models - a short history with critical and practical notes. Journal for Reproducibility in Neuroscience 1, 1375. <u>https://doi.org/10.31885/jrn.1.2020.1375</u>

Wiltschko, A.B., Johnson, M.J., Iurilli, G., Peterson, R.E., Katon, J.M., Pashkovski, S.L., Abraira, V.E., Adams, R.P., Datta, S.R., 2015a. Mapping Sub-Second Structure in Mouse Behavior. Neuron 88, 1121–1135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.11.031

Wiltschko, A.B., Johnson, M.J., Iurilli, G., Peterson, R.E., Katon, J.M., Pashkovski, S.L., Abraira, V.E., Adams, R.P., Datta, S.R., 2015b. Mapping Sub-Second Structure in Mouse Behavior. Neuron 88, 1121–1135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.11.031

Wolfe, J., Mende, C., Brecht, M., 2011. Social facial touch in rats. Behavioral Neuroscience 125, 900–910. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026165</u>

Woods, R.M., Lorusso, J.M., Potter, H.G., Neill, J.C., Glazier, J.D., Hager, R., 2021. Maternal immune activation in rodent models: A systematic review of neurodevelopmental changes in gene expression and epigenetic modulation in the offspring brain. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 129, 389–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.07.015</u> Yoon, D.Y., Mansukhani, N.A., Stubbs, V.C., Helenowski, I.B., Woodruff, T.K., Kibbe, M.R., 2014. Sex bias exists in basic science and translational surgical research. Surgery 156, 508–516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2014.07.001</u>

Young, J.W., Light, G.A., Marston, H.M., Sharp, R., Geyer, M.A., 2009a. The 5-Choice Continuous Performance Test: Evidence for a Translational Test of Vigilance for Mice. PLOS ONE 4, e4227.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004227

Wilkinson, M.D., Dumontier, M., Aalbersberg, Ij.J., Appleton, G., Axton, M., Baak,
A., Blomberg, N., Boiten, J.-W., da Silva Santos, L.B., Bourne, P.E., Bouwman, J.,
Brookes, A.J., Clark, T., Crosas, M., Dillo, I., Dumon, O., Edmunds, S., Evelo,
C.T., Finkers, R., Gonzalez-Beltran, A., Gray, A.J.G., Groth, P., Goble, C., Grethe,
J.S., Heringa, J., 't Hoen, P.A.C., Hooft, R., Kuhn, T., Kok, R., Kok, J., Lusher,
S.J., Martone, M.E., Mons, A., Packer, A.L., Persson, B., Rocca-Serra, P., Roos,
M., van Schaik, R., Sansone, S.-A., Schultes, E., Sengstag, T., Slater, T., Strawn,
G., Swertz, M.A., Thompson, M., van der Lei, J., van Mulligen, E., Velterop, J.,
Waagmeester, A., Wittenburg, P., Wolstencroft, K., Zhao, J., Mons, B., 2016. The
FAIR Guiding Principles for scientific data management and stewardship. Sci Data
3, 160018. https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2016.18

Young, J.W., Powell, S.B., Risbrough, V., Marston, H.M., Geyer, M.A., 2009b. Using the MATRICS to guide development of a preclinical cognitive test battery for research in schizophrenia. Pharmacology & Therapeutics 122, 150–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.02.004

Zehendner, C.M., Tsohataridis, S., Luhmann, H.J., Yang, J.-W., 2013. Developmental switch in neurovascular coupling in the immature rodent barrel cortex. PLoS One 8, e80749. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0080749</u>

Zucker, E., Welker, W.I., 1969. Coding of somatic sensory input by vibrissae neurons in the rat's trigeminal ganglion. Brain Research 12, 138–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-8993(69)90061-4</u> Zuckerman, L., Rehavi, M., Nachman, R., Weiner, I., 2003. Immune Activation During Pregnancy in Rats Leads to a PostPubertal Emergence of Disrupted Latent Inhibition, Dopaminergic Hyperfunction, and Altered Limbic Morphology in the Offspring: A Novel Neurodevelopmental Model of Schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacol 28, 1778–1789. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300248</u> Published papers included:

Simanaviciute, U., Brown, R.E., Wong, A., Fertan, E., Grant, R.A., 2022. Abnormal whisker movements in the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Genes, Brain and Behavior n/a, e12813. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12813</u>

Simanaviciute, U., Potter, H.G., Hager, R., Glazier, J., Hodson-Tole, E., Gigg, J., Grant, R., 2024. Maternal immune activation affects female offspring whisker movements during object exploration in a rat model of neurodevelopmental disorders. Brain, Behavior, & Immunity - Health 39, 100807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbih.2024.100807

### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**



### Abnormal whisker movements in the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease

Ugne Simanaviciute<sup>1</sup> | Richard E. Brown<sup>2</sup> | Aimee Wong<sup>2</sup> | Emre Fertan<sup>2</sup> | Robyn A. Grant<sup>1</sup> <sup>0</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Natural Sciences, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester, UK

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychology and Neuroscience, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Nova Scotia. Canada

#### Correspondence

Ugne Simanaviciute, Department of Natural Sciences, Manchester Metropolitan University, Chester Street, Manchester, M1 5GD, UK Email: ugne.simanaviciute@stu.mmu.ac.uk

**Funding information** Manchester Metropolitan University

#### Abstract

Alzheimer's disease is the most frequent form of dementia in elderly people. The triple transgenic (3xTg-AD) mouse model of Alzheimer's Disease is important in biomedical research as these mice develop both neuropathological and behavioural phenotypes. However, their behavioural phenotype is variable, with findings depending on the specific task, as well as the age and sex of the mice. Whisker movements show motor, sensory and cognitive deficits in mouse models of neurodegenerative disease. Therefore, we examined whisker movements in 3, 12.5 and 17-month-old female 3xTg-AD mice and their B6129S/F2 wildtype controls. Mice were filmed using a high-speed video camera (500 fps) in an open arena during a novel object exploration task. Genotype and age differences were found in mice exploring the arena prior to object contact. Prior to whisker contact, the 3-month-old 3xTg-AD mice had smaller whisker angles compared with the wildtype controls, suggesting an early motor phenotype in these mice. Pre-contact mean angular position at 3 months and whisking amplitude at 17 months of age differed between the 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice. During object contact 3xTg-AD mice did not reduce whisker spread as frequently as the wildtype mice at 12.5 and 17 months, which may suggest sensory or attentional deficits. We show that whisker movements are a powerful behavioural measurement tool for capturing behavioural deficits in mouse models that show complex phenotypes, such as the 3xTg-AD mouse model.

#### KEYWORDS

Alzheimer's, animal behaviour, disease model, mouse model, neurodegeneration, rodent, sensorimotor, transgenic, vibrissae, whisker

#### INTRODUCTION 1

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is an age-related progressive neurodegenerative disorder, the most frequent form of dementia in elderly people.<sup>1-3</sup> Mouse models are essential for improving our understanding of the neural and behavioural changes that occur during AD progression, and to develop novel therapeutic targets.<sup>4,5</sup> The triple transgenic (3xTg-AD) mouse model is considered to have high validity as these mice develop both  $A\beta$  plaques and tau tangles,<sup>6</sup> as well as show cognitive deficits.<sup>7,8</sup> The 3xTg-AD mice have altered performance on sensory tasks involving vision,<sup>9</sup> olfaction,<sup>10</sup> and touch,<sup>11</sup> as well as motor<sup>12,13</sup> and cognitive

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2022 The Authors. Genes, Brain and Behavior published by International Behavioural and Neural Genetics Society and John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

tasks.<sup>5,14-16</sup> The 3xTg-AD mice generally perform worse than their wildtype controls in spatial learning and memory tests.<sup>16,17</sup> They have a complex motor phenotype and have even shown an enhanced motor phenotype at 6 and 16 months of age.<sup>12,13</sup> They show higher frailty measures<sup>18</sup> and have a shorter lifespan than their wildtype background strain. Male 3xTg-AD mice also have a shorter lifespan than females,<sup>19</sup> as well as altered immune function and gene expression.<sup>20</sup>

Behavioural studies have shown quite variable outcomes with these mice, especially in motor and cognitive tasks, such as spatial learning and memory.<sup>12,16</sup> Age, sex, experimental apparatus and test design all impact the performance of 3xTg-AD mice during behavioural tasks.<sup>16,18,21</sup> Therefore, a better understanding of the behavioural manifestations that occur in this model of AD is needed. Measuring whisker movements in mouse models has been suggested as an easy and robust way to capture elements of sensory, motor and cognitive deficits in mice.<sup>11</sup> Such deficits have been shown in mouse models of Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis,<sup>22</sup> Huntington's Disease,<sup>23</sup> anxiety,<sup>24</sup> Alzheimer's Disease,<sup>11,25</sup> as well as Cerebellar Ataxia, Somatosensory Cortex Development disorders and lschemic stroke.<sup>11</sup>

Rodents rely on their whiskers as their primary sense of touch.<sup>26</sup> In addition to their sensory function, whisker movements indicate aspects of motor control; they can move rhythmically toand-fro in a process called whisking, which occurs up to 25 Hz in mice.<sup>27</sup> Mice also precisely control their whisker movements during object exploration.<sup>28-30</sup> When a mouse contacts an object with their whiskers, they tend to decrease their whisker angles (the angle between the head and whiskers), reduce whisker spread, increase whisker asymmetry and amplitude, and slow whisker speeds.<sup>29-31</sup> These changes allow many whiskers to contact a surface for longer durations, hence increasing the quality of sensory information from whisker contacts.<sup>30</sup> The positioning and focussing of many whiskers onto an object are thought to be associated with attention.<sup>32,33</sup> These whisker movements are disrupted in many mouse models of disease and may be indicative of sensory, motor or cognitive deficits.11,22,23

We have previously shown that 17-month-old female 3xTg-AD mice had smaller whisker angular positions and retraction speeds compared with wildtype controls when moving around their environment without object contacts.<sup>11</sup> However, it is important to measure these changes at different age points and during object contact to better understand the deficits in whisker movements in this mouse model. Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate whisker movements in the 3xTg-AD mouse model at different ages, before and during object exploration. This study was designed based on the recommendations of Simanaviciute et al.<sup>11</sup> as shown in Figure 1. To detect sensory, motor, and/or cognitive deficits in the 3xTg-AD mouse model, we tested for all the suggested steps in Figure 1. We scored whisker movements prior to object contact and during object exploration using both qualitative and quantitative measures in order to detect any deficits in whisking behaviour in the 3xTg-AD mice.



**FIGURE 1** Methods schematic for testing mouse models with likely motor, sensory or cognitive symptoms, suggested by our previous research (adapted from Simanaviciute et al.<sup>11</sup>).

### 2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 | Animals

A total of 38 female mice were used in this cross-sectional study: 17 transgenic (3xTg-AD, JAX # 004807) mice (3 at 3 months, 6 at 12.5 months, 8 at 17 months) and 21 wildtype (B6129S/F2 WT, JAX# 101045) mice (8 at 3 months, 7 at 12.5 months, 6 at 17 months). All mice were born in-house at Dalhousie University from breeding pairs purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbour, Maine USA). The 3xTg-AD mice were engineered by injecting APPSwe and tauP301L transgenes into single-cell embryos of homozygous PS1M146V knock-in mice. This causes Aβ42 aggregation in the frontal cortex and the hippocampus at around 3 months of age, extracellular plagues in the frontal cortex and the hippocampus at 6 months of age, and hyperphosphorylated tau tangles at 12 months of age.<sup>6</sup> Our study spans these changes by observing mice from 3 to 17 months of age. Due to increased mortality in male mice by 17 months of age,<sup>19</sup> only female mice were included in this study.

Mice were weaned at 21 days of age, their ears were punched for individual identification, and they were housed in same sex groups of 2–4 in 30 × 18 × 12 cm translucent polycarbonate cages with wire lids and microisolator tops. Cages contained woodchip bedding (Fresh Bed, Shaw Resources, NS, Canada) and a 4 × 7 cm PVC tube for enrichment. They were kept in a climate controlled ( $22^{\circ}C \pm 2^{\circ}C$ ) vivarium on a reversed 12:12 light: dark cycle with lights off at 09:45 am. All behavioural testing was completed during



**FIGURE 2** Data collection and video analysis. Panel A shows the glass bottle stopper object used in the experiments; Panel B illustrates the filming set-up, the object size and location in relation to the Perspex box, and the distance between the arena and high-speed video camera. The field of view in light grey corresponds to the video still in c) showing an example video clip. ARTv2 LocoWhisk software was used to automatically locate the mouse centroid (red point, yellow line), nose tip (red point, blue line) and whiskers (coloured lines), and detects them on a frame-by-frame basis.

the dark (active) portion of the light: dark cycle. Mice had ad libitum access to Purina Laboratory Rodent Chow #5001 (Agribrand Purina, Strathroy, Ont., Canada) and tap water. Mice were treated in accordance with the regulations set forth by the Canadian Council on Animal Care and the experimental protocol was approved by the Dalhousie University Committee on Animal Care and the local ethics committee at Manchester Metropolitan University.

#### 2.2 | Experimental procedures

For filming whisker movements, mice were placed in a transparent Perspex rectangular arena  $(30 \times 50 \times 15 \text{ cm})$  which was lit from below by an infra-red light box (LEDW-BL-400/200-SLLUB-Q-1R-24 V, PHLOX) (Figure 2B). Mice were filmed from above using a digital high-speed video camera (Phantom Miro ex2) recording at 500 frames per second with a shutter-speed of 1 ms and resolution of 640  $\times$  480 pixels. A Pyrex glass bottle stopper (Figure 2A) was placed inside the arena as an object to explore. Multiple 1.6 s video clips (800 frames) were collected opportunistically (by manual trigger) when the mouse moved into the camera's field of view.

#### 2.3 | Video analysis: qualitative whisker scores

Video clips were selected for analysis based on the criteria developed by Grant et al.<sup>22</sup> These criteria were: (i) the mouse was clearly in the frame; (ii) both sides of the face were visible; and (iii) the head was level with the floor (no extreme pitch or yaw). In these clips, whisking by mice was scored on a four-point scale from no whisking (0), to only retractions (1), only protractions (2) or both retractions and protractions (3). To qualitatively assess whisker behaviours and exploratory strategies, all of the video clips that met the above criteria were scored based on a system developed by Grant et al.,<sup>31,34</sup> in which contact-induced asymmetry, spread reduction, and head turning asymmetry were measured.<sup>27,35</sup> When the mouse was contacting an object with their whiskers, contact-induced asymmetry (CIA) was scored on a three-point scale from absent (0), to showing increased contralateral protraction (1), reduced ipsilateral protraction (2) and both increased contralateral protraction and reduced ipsilateral protraction (3). Object-directed whisker spread reduction was scored as absent (0) or present (1) when whisker spread decreased following object contact. Head turning asymmetry (HTA) was scored as present (1) or absent (0), during a head turn.

## 2.4 | Video analysis: quantitative analysis of locomotion and whisker movements

For quantitative analysis of whisker movements and locomotion, video clips were divided into pre-contact (PC) and during object contact (DC). Therefore, the clip selection criteria were amended to also include (i) the mouse must be travelling towards the object in the PC section of the clip; and (ii) the whiskers were only contacting the object and not the vertical arena walls, in the DC section of the clip. In this way, general whisker movements could be assessed for motor behaviour in the PC section of the clip (similar to an open field), and object exploration could be assessed in the DC section of the clip. Only clips that had both considerable PC and DC segments (>0.2 s) were included in this quantitative analysis. The clips were tracked using the Automated Rodent Tracker, version 2 (ARTv2).<sup>36</sup> This used image processing to automatically locate the snout and the centroid of the mouse, for locomotion speed calculations (from the yellow trace in Figure 2C). A ruler was filmed at the start of each episode of data collection to enable a calibrated measure of locomotion speed in metres per second.

The whisker detector program (ARTv2) found the orientation and position of the snout, and the whisker angles (relative to the midline of the head) of each identified whisker (Figure 2C). The ARTv2 program is only able to detect whiskers and does not maintain the identity of the whisker between frames (i.e., tracking); rather, a mean angle is calculated from each frame using all detected whiskers. Larger whisker angles represent more forwardpositioned whiskers. If a whisker is occluded (such as by whisker crossing) the software will not detect it; therefore, the number of whiskers detected can vary from frame to frame, with a total of

SIMANAVICIUTE ET AL.

2–12 whiskers detected in each frame (with around 10–12 whiskers being usual, 5–6 on each side). Whisker detection was validated by manually inspecting the software annotations overlaid onto the video frames. From 1 to 12 video clips per mouse were included in data analysis (Supplementary Table 1), resulting in a total of 183 whole clips, all of which contained both PC and DC sections. PC sections ranged from 100 to 600 frames.

Mean whisker angle was calculated by taking the mean of all the detected whiskers on each side, on a frame-by-frame basis (Figure 2C). The following variables were then calculated from the mean whisker angles: mean angular position (the average whisker angle), *amplitude*  $(2\sqrt{2^*}$  the standard deviation of whisker angles, to approximate the range of whisker movements), asymmetry (the difference in whisker angles between the left and right sides), and the mean angular retraction and protraction speeds (calculated as the average speed of all the backward (negative) and forward (positive) whisker movements, respectively). For the first time in a mouse model study, whisker spread was also quantified. Mean angular position and spread are considered the two most informative parameters to assess in whisking,<sup>30</sup> thus this was an important quantitative measure to supplement the qualitative scoring of spread reduction. Spread was scored as the standard deviation of all tracked whisker angular positions. For mean angular position, amplitude, whisker speed and spread, the mean values for right and left whisker measurements were used to give one value per video clip.

#### 2.5 | Statistical analyses

For all qualitative and quantitative whisker measurements, each variable was compared between wildtype and 3xTg-AD mouse, at each age (3, 12.5, and 17 months). Qualitative scores of whisking behaviours were analysed using the Kruskal–Wallis test with Dunn's posthoc tests using GraphPad Prism 8 software, as these were on ordinal scales and not normally distributed.

Quantitative measures of the pre-contact (PC) whisker variables were first analysed. Then, the changes in whisker measurements during object exploration were analysed by subtracting the during-contact measures from the pre-contact measures (PC-DC). PC-DC was chosen, rather than DC-PC, as it is more intuitive to identify increases in variables during contact as positive, and reductions as negative; in addition, many of the whisking parameters were expected to be higher in PC. A Linear Mixed-Effects Model was constructed using the package Ime4<sup>37</sup> in R Studio to analyse the effect of age and genotype on all PC and PC-DC whisker variables. The model computed *F* tests on the fixed effects of age and genotype and provided *p*-values using a type III ANOVA, as well as interaction effects (although all the interaction effects were not significant and will not be referred to further in the main text, though, see Supplementary Tables 3 and 4 for more detail). Since the mice were filmed

repeatedly exploring an object, and every subsequent video clip was different, with the mouse acquiring increasingly more information, each video clip was treated as a within variable, but the degrees of freedom and F-statistics were approximated using a Kenward-Rodger's method.<sup>38</sup> This method takes account of uneven and low sample numbers (such as from the 3-month-old animals). The degrees of freedom were automatically determined to be anywhere between the number of animals and the number of video clips for each particular measurement analysed. A significance value of p < 0.05 was used throughout. Significant pairwise comparison results are indicated on all figures with an asterisk (\*). The Kenward-Rodger's approximation is the preferred method of approximating degrees of freedom over Satterthwaite's method,<sup>39,40</sup> and of reporting *p*-values over likelihood ratios and Wald t-values.<sup>41</sup> It also produces acceptable Type 1 error rates in smaller sample sizes in models fitted with restricted maximum likelihood.<sup>41</sup> We also conducted Satterthwaite's method to approximate F-tests and degrees of freedom on the guantitative measures. Significant results identified from this method were less conservative than those calculated by the Kenward-Rodger's approach, therefore, increasing the confidence in our statistical reporting.

#### 3 | RESULTS

#### 3.1 | Qualitative whisker behaviour

The whisking scores from the qualitative measures show that, while all wildtype mice whisked, with median of 3, the 3xTg-AD mice had lower scores with medians of 2-3 (H [5, 183] = 39.9, p < 0.001: Figure 3A). At 12.5 months (p = 0.008) and 17 months (p < 0.001) of age the 3xTg-AD mice had significantly reduced whisking scores compared with the age-matched wild types, showing more whisking movements which were only protractions in the 3xTg-AD mice, rather than the protractions and retractions associated with whisking in the wildtype mice. The whisking scores of the 17-month-old 3xTg-AD mice were also significantly lower than those of the 3-month-old 3xTg-AD mice (p = 0.020). There were no significant differences in HTA scores between 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice (H [5, 101] = 6.74, p = 0.241, Figure 3B). During object exploration there were significant differences in spread reduction (H [5, 183] = 20.6, p < 0.001) and CIA (H [5, 183] = 26.4, p < 0.001)p < 0.001) between 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice. The 12.5-monthold 3xTg-AD mice had significantly lower whisker spread reduction values than their wildtype controls (p = 0.008), and these were also lower than the values for 3-month (p = 0.003) and 17-month (p = 0.002) 3xTg-AD mice (Figure 3C). The CIA scores of the 3-month-old wildtype mice were significantly higher than the agematched 3xTg-AD mice (p = 0.008) and the 12.5-month wildtype mice (p < 0.001, Figure 3D). Detailed statistical information for every comparison in qualitative analyses can be found in Supplementary Table 2.

**FIGURE 3** Qualitative whisker behaviour scores for (A) whisking, (B) head-turning asymmetry (HTA), (C) spread reduction, (D) contact-induced asymmetry (CIA). The bars indicate the proportion of clips where the behaviour occurred or did not occur, with confidence intervals.  $\dagger$  indicates n = 3 mice.



# 3.2 | Pre-contact (PC) quantitative whisker and locomotion movements

For pre-contact whisker amplitude, there were significant main effects of both genotype (F [1, 29.36] = 12.43, p = 0.001) and age (F [2, 27.08] = 4.06, p = 0.029). Specifically, pre-contact whisker amplitude was lower in 3xTg-AD mice than in the age-matched wildtype mice (Figure 4A). Pairwise tests show that these differences were significant in 17-month-old mice (p = 0.013). These differences can also be seen in the pre-contact whisker traces in Figure 6. Furthermore, there was a difference in pre-contact whisker amplitude between 3 and 17-month wildtype mice (p = 0.042) as whisker amplitude increased with age.

For the pre-contact whisker angular position, there were significant main effects of genotype (F [1, 32.82] = 20.38, p < 0.001) and age (F [2, 32.66] = 6.96, p = 0.003). The pre-contact whisker angular position was consistently lower in the 3xTg-AD mice compared with the wildtype mice (Figure 4B), especially at 3 months of age (p = 0.040). These results are supported by the video stills (Figure 5) and the whisker traces (Figure 6), where pre-contact mean whisker angles were lower in the 3xTg-AD mice than the wildtype mice. Wildtype mice at 3 months of age also had larger pre-contact mean angular positions than wildtype mice at 12.5 months (p = 0.038) and 17 months of age (p = 0.006).

In the pre-contact whisker spread, there were significant main effects of genotype (F [1, 32.83] = 10.62, p = 0.003) and age (F 2, [32.67] = 5.61, p = 0.008). However, pairwise tests did not show any

significant differences (Figure 4C). There were no significant differences in pre-contact whisker movements in locomotion speed, asymmetry, retraction speed and protraction speed (Supplementary Figure 1). Detailed statistical information for every comparison in PC quantitative analyses can be found in Supplementary Table 3.

# 3.3 | Contact-related (PC-DC) quantitative whisker and locomotor movements

Both wildtype and 3xTg-AD mice showed robust changes in whisker movements in response to object contact at all ages as indicated by a reduction in locomotion speed (Supplementary Figure 1A), retraction and protraction speeds (Supplementary Figure 1C and D), and an increase in whisker asymmetry (Supplementary Figure 1B) and amplitude (Figure 4A) following an object contact (PC-DC). The whisker traces (Figure 6) show this increase in asymmetry as the left (red) and right (blue) traces separate following object contact in all examples. Since these behaviours were robust in all mice, there were no significant effects of genotype or age in the contact-related (PC-DC) variables of whisker amplitude (Figure 4A), whisker angular position (Figure 4B), locomotion speed, whisker asymmetry, retraction speed and protraction speed (all *ps* >0.05, Supplementary Figure 1A-D). However, in (PC-DC) whisker spread, there were significant main effects of


**FIGURE 4** Mean angular position, amplitude and spread are affected by genotype and age. All significant differences are between 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice, unless otherwise specified. Panel A: Significant age and genotype effects were found in pre-contact mean angular whisker positions. Pairwise comparisons showed a significant difference in the 3-month age group. Panel B: Significant age and genotype effects were found in pre-contact whisker amplitudes. Pairwise comparisons showed a significant difference in the 17-month age group between 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice, as well as between 3 and 17-month wildtype mice. Panel C: Significant age and genotype effects were found in pre-contact whisker spread. Age and genotype effects were found in contact-related (PC-DC) spread. Pairwise comparisons showed a significant difference in the 17-month age group in (PC-DC) spread as well as between 12.5 and 17-month wildtype mice. The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with standard error bars. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *, p \le 0.01 = **, p \le 0.001 = ***$ . Data points show mean values for individual mice, indicated by circles for 3-month mice, squares for 12.5-month mice, triangles for 17-month mice. DC, during contact; PC, pre-contact; PC-DC, contact related behaviours.  $\dagger$  indicates n = 3 mice.

genotype (F [1, 29.79] = 4.60, p = 0.040) and age (F [2, 28.04] = 6.79, p = 0.004) as (PC-DC) whisker spread was significantly higher in the 3xTg-AD mice than the wildtype mice at 17 months of age (p = 0.041; Figures 4C and 5). There was also a significant difference between 12.5-month and 17-month transgenic mice, with the 17-month transgenic mice reducing their spread more upon contact (p = 0.007) than the 12.5-month mice. Detailed statistical information for every comparison in PC-DC quantitative analyses can be found in Supplementary Table 4.

# 4 | DISCUSSION

As we hypothesised, the 3xTg-AD mice differed from age-matched wildtype mice in their whisker movements, both prior to and during

object exploration. Specifically, we observed significant genotype differences in pre-contact whisking scores, mean angular position and whisking amplitude, as well as during-contact whisker spread, spread reduction scores and contact-induced asymmetry scores. We suggest that these observations may correspond to a whisker motor phenotype in 3xTg-AD mice from 3 months of age and a sensory or attentional deficit, associated with contact-related whisker movements, at 12.5 and 17 months of age.

# 4.1 | Pre-contact movements

Prior to any object contact, the whisking movements of the 3xTg-AD mice differed from the wildtype mice. The qualitative whisking scores showed that 12.5 and 17-month 3xTg-AD mice did not always make



**FIGURE 5** Whiskers are more spread out in 3xTg-AD mice during object contact. Video stills of representative mice are shown contacting the object, where whiskers are at maximum protraction. Whiskers of the wildtype mouse are positioned more forward towards the object and less spread out, compared with the 3xTg-AD mouse, especially at 3 and 17 months.

full retraction movements during whisking compared with the wildtypes (Figure 3A). Whisker tracking showed that mean angular positions of 3xTg-AD mice were consistently lower than the wildtype mice, and significantly so at 3 months (Figure 4B). Moreover, precontact amplitude was significantly lower in 17-month-old 3xTg-AD mice compared with the wildtypes. These findings suggest the presence of a motor phenotype in 3xTg-AD mice, from perhaps as early as 3 months of age. However, the exact age of this phenotype is unclear from our data and is likely to depend on the exact measure, since it varies between our measures of whisking, whisker angle and amplitude.

The 3xTg-AD mice are known for complex age-related motor abnormalities. The 3xTg-AD mice often perform better than non-transgenic mice in rotarod tasks (Blanchard et al.<sup>42</sup> at 6–7 months; Filali et al.<sup>7</sup> at 12–14 months; Chen et al.<sup>43</sup> at 6 months; Stover et al.<sup>12</sup> at 6 months; Garvock-de Montbrun et al.<sup>13</sup> at 16 months) and

have longer stride lengths during locomotion.<sup>12</sup> However, other studies have shown that the stride length,<sup>7,44</sup> walking speed<sup>12,44</sup> and rotarod performance<sup>44,45</sup> can also be unaffected in 3xTg-AD mice. Indeed, locomotion speed was not significantly affected in our mice. However, it is worth noticing that we only measured locomotion speed in several frames as the mouse approached an object, therefore, it is not comparable to the gait analysis or rotarod and balance beam set-ups used by other studies. Some studies have even shown a reduced motor phenotype in 3xTg-AD mice. For instance, Garvock-de Montbrun et al.<sup>13</sup> showed that, despite the enhanced rotarod performance, 3xTg-AD mice at 16 months of age display a reduction in walking distance and speed compared with the wildtype mice in a balance beam task, suggesting an age-related decline in motor performance. Orta-Salazar et al.<sup>46</sup> also found a reduction in locomotion distance and time in 11-month 3xTg-AD mice in an open field test. Overall, we did not observe any evidence of an enhanced motor phenotype in the 3xTg-AD mice. In fact, our results are more in favour of a reduced motor phenotype, starting from reduced whisker angles at 3 months, and then seeing changes in whisking capacity at 12.5 and 17 months, later also showing up as reduced whisker amplitude at 17 months. One issue in the analysis of motor phenotypes in the 3xTg-AD mice is the background strain used. Background strains can have a significant effect on behavioural phenotypes<sup>47</sup> and the 3xTg-AD mice are available from the JAX Labs on three different backgrounds: B6;129 (Stock No. 004807), 12954 (Stock No. 0319881), and C57BL/6J (Stock No. 033930). Recent research<sup>48</sup> suggests that the motor phenotype of the 3xTg-AD mice on the C57Bl6 background differs from that of the mice on the B6129 background that we used.

We observed variation in whisker movements between wildtype mice of different ages. Specifically, pre-contact whisker amplitude was significantly higher in 17-month wildtype mice compared with 3-month wildtype mice, and pre-contact mean angular position was significantly higher in 3-month wildtype mice compared with older mice. Very young mice (10-13-days-old) also have smaller whisker amplitudes than weaned (21-days-old) mice.<sup>34</sup> Therefore, there might be a tendency for pre-contact whisker amplitude to increase with age in wildtype mice. Although studies of age-related changes in whisker movements are few, Garland et al.<sup>23</sup> show a visible amplitude increase in older wildtype mice when testing Q175, Hdh Q150 and Hdh Q250 mouse models of Parkinson's disease (all mice tested at 10, 20 and 90 weeks, Hdh Q150 and Hdh Q250 mice also tested at 55 weeks; amplitude increasing at every age). They also show decreasing mean angular position in wildtype mice when testing the R6/2 CAG250 mice (decreasing from 8 to 10 weeks and from 12 to 18 weeks). However, these age-related changes were not statistically evaluated in their work. Investigating the changes in whisker movements over an animal's lifecycle would be a useful addition to this work.

Data from 17-month-old mice analysed by Simanaviciute et al.<sup>11</sup> were in agreement with our data, as they found that 17-month-old female 3xTg-AD mice had lower whisker angular positions than wildtype mice. However, they also found that retraction speed was significantly lower in the 3xTg-AD mice. While retraction speed was 8 of 11 Genes, Brain



**FIGURE 6** Example whisker angle traces of wildtype and 3xTg-AD mice at each age. Raw data points are shown in fine lines, and smoothed data (2nd order, 15 neighbours) are presented in thicker lines. Red colour traces are from the whiskers on the left side, and blue from the right side. 0 msec is the point of contact on the x-axis; therefore, left from the Y-axis is PC and right from the Y-axis is DC.

consistently lower in our 3xTg-AD mice compared with the wildtype mice (Supplementary Figure 1C), this difference was not significant in our analyses. Simanaviciute et al.<sup>11</sup> used per-clip measures for statistical analyses, whereas we use a stricter linear mixed effect model here. In statistical analyses, treating every trial as an independent data point can lead to pseudorepetition<sup>49</sup> and inflate the power of the statistical test. Therefore, per-trial, or, in this case, per-clip measures should not be used as independent data points, despite this often occurring in animal studies, especially where the sample size drops due to unforeseen experimental circumstances or data quality issues. In this case, we recommend a mixed-effect model that automatically determines degrees of freedom for the dataset instead of using standard parametric and non-parametric tests.<sup>50,51</sup>

# 4.2 | Contact-related movements

The 3xTg-AD and wildtype mice at all ages made robust object contact-related whisker movements, as indicated by a decrease in

whisker speeds, spread, and increased amplitude and asymmetry following whisker contact (Figure 4B and C for amplitude and spread; Supplementary Figure 1 for all other parameters). Contact-related spread was affected in the 3xTg-AD mice, compared with the wildtype control mice. In the qualitative scoring, 12.5-month 3xTg-AD mice reduced whisker spread following contact less often than the controls. In the quantitative tracking, contact-related whisker spread was significantly higher in the 3xTg-AD mice than wildtypes at 17 months. 17-month 3xTg-AD mice also reduced their whisker spread following contact more than 12.5-month 3xTg-AD mice. It is unknown exactly what the sensory implications are of reducing whisker spread following contact, although it seems to play a role in increasing the number of whiskers contacting an object.<sup>30</sup> Why there is a difference in age in the spread reduction upon contact is not clear and demonstrates the need for more research in this field.

While some of these contact-related changes tend to be robust across animals,<sup>11</sup> some are still relatively variable and do not occur on every object contact. For example, 3-month-old wildtype mice show CIA significantly more often than other wildtype or 3xTg-AD mice

(Figure 3D), and HTA seems to be quite variable (Figure 3B). The reason for this is unknown, although it is likely due to variation in behaviour and motivation between individuals. Spread reduction, HTA and CIA have all been associated with orienting of the whiskers towards a region in space or an object, and hence with the animal's attention.<sup>33</sup> Contact-related whisker movement deficits observed in whisker spread and spread reduction could, therefore, imply an attentional deficit in 3xTg-AD mice. Attentional deficits have previously been documented in these mice in a visual task,<sup>52</sup> although in any sensory task it is challenging to separate attentional and sensory deficits.<sup>52</sup> Overall, our results suggest that contact-related sensory or attentional whisker movement deficits are likely to be present in 12.5 and 17-month-old 3xTg-AD mice.

We further compare our findings with those of other studies involving behavioural and cognitive tasks in Supplementary Table 5. Overall, in our study, and those of Stevens and Brown<sup>14</sup> and Fertan et al.<sup>5,16,20</sup> there is an early behavioural phenotype at 2-4 months old. This age group shows the most deficits in working memory and spatial learning,<sup>5,14,16,20</sup> despite being at the early stage of Alzheimer's disease. Our results show contact-related whisker movement differences at this age too - especially in contact-induced asymmetry scores and asymmetry, which may be associated with attentional or cognitive disturbances. We also describe an early motor phenotype, with pre-contact whisking amplitude significantly affected in these young mice. The 6-month group, which we did not test here, did not show any differences in the previous studies<sup>14,16</sup>; however, they observed some significant differences in working memory and spatial learning in the 12-13-month-old mice (Supplementary Table 5). We also observed differences in contactrelated spread reduction and in pre-contact whisking scores at this age, perhaps indicating both motor and cognitive deficits. Surprisingly, deficits observed in 12-13-month-old mice were not maintained in older animals at 15 months in the studies by Stevens and Brown.<sup>14</sup> Indeed, previous studies do not show differences at later stages. We did not test 15-month-old animals; however, at 17 months, mice showed differences in both contact related and pre-contact measures, with whisking scores being maintained from the 12-13-month-old group. This suggests that in later stages of the disease, whisker movement measurements might be a better test to adopt than other, more standard behavioural tasks.

# 4.3 | Limitations

After the data selection process using our validated criteria, only three mice could be included in the 3-month 3xTg-AD group. We recognise that this sample size is low; however, we have kept the data with additional indication for a low sample size in figures and figure captions. We are also confident that the statistical method selected is appropriate to make the most of the uneven sample sizes. The difficulty of including more clips from this group might indicate that the 3-month 3xTg-AD mice behave differently from the other groups, since their clips did not often fit the selection criteria, while we were

able to include a lot more clips from their control group. This could mean that we need to refine the data collection method to focus on collecting more clips from the young mice, given that in the previous studies from this laboratory as well as this study, the young female mice seem to be affected the most.

# 4.4 | Future recommendations

Following recommendations from Fertan et al.,<sup>16</sup> we observed the mice at different time points to examine age-related behavioural changes. However, since behavioural measures can be relatively variable, observing the same mice at each time point in a longitudinal study might be more beneficial than observing different groups of mice in a cross-sectional study. Nevertheless, it is rather difficult to conduct such a study, especially to 17 months, due to the increased mortality rates in older 3xTg-AD mice.<sup>19</sup> In addition, repeat testing of the same animal can impact behavioural tasks, as animals will habituate and learn tasks over time, which may affect their behaviour.53 Indeed, we have previously shown that a mouse model of anxiety has different whisker movements to control mice<sup>24</sup>; therefore, an altered sensitivity to stress is likely to affect our results. The lack of automation of our set-up may also confound testing over different ages, while here we made sure that all data was collected over a period of just a few days, with all the equipment kept the same throughout.

As there are clear sex differences in 3xTg-AD mice<sup>16,18</sup> and whisker movements differ between sexes in other mouse models,<sup>11,23,25</sup> investigating whisker movements in male 3xTg-AD mice at different ages would be beneficial. It would also be interesting to investigate whether the amyloid quantity in the barrel cortex is related to whisking impairment in 3xTg-AD mice. We have previously shown that models of cortical development disorders have whisker movement deficits (in Robo3R3–5-CKO and RIM-DKOSert models), suggesting that cortical differences can affect whisker movements. However, our previous studies have also shown differences in whisker movements in non-neurodegenerative mouse models (MCAO model of stroke and heterozygous Reeler mice, Simanaviciute et al.<sup>11</sup>), which would suggest that whisking impairment is not specifically related to neurodegeneration and amyloid levels in the cortex, but likely caused by many changes in the brain.

In agreement with Simanaviciute et al.,<sup>11</sup> measuring whisker movements is a quick, robust and semi-automated way to capture motor, sensory and cognitive behaviours in rodents. While the qualitative scoring of whisking, spread reduction, CIA and HTA were valuable at assessing whisker behaviour, they require manual scoring and are relatively time-consuming to complete. We wanted to assess whether measuring spread automatically was a more sensitive method than manual scoring, and it has shown differences at more advanced disease stages than were found by manual scoring. Therefore, it might be worth developing ARTv2 to measure these qualitative scorings automatically. Developing quantitative data and better analytical methods will improve the robustness of repeated testing. Our findings differed from Simanaviciute et al.,<sup>11</sup> probably due to the difference in statistical methods. We suggest using a linear mixed effect model for future analyses (package Ime4 in R-studio, Bates et al.<sup>37</sup>) as we did here, which makes the most of smaller and uneven sample numbers, without assuming per-clip or per-trial independence. Small improvements in automation and analysis techniques will also help to develop whisker movements as a powerful behavioural measurement tool, with particular benefits in capturing behavioural deficits in mouse models that show complex or subtle phenotypes, such as in the 3xTg-AD mouse model. Indeed, the barrel cortex has been found to contain amyloid plaques in several mouse models of AD, including Tg19959 mice at 3 months,<sup>54</sup> APP transgenic mice Tg2576 at 17.5 months<sup>55</sup> and APP/PS1 mice at 19.5–21 months of age.<sup>56</sup> In order to understand the relationship between amyloid levels and whisker movement impairments, it would be beneficial to study whisking in these mouse models.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank David Gillespie and Brett Hewitt for developing the ART tracker. We are grateful to Martin Sullivan for his statistical guidance, and to Andrew Spink and Emma Hodson-Tole for their support with the project. Travel funding was provided by an accelerator grant from Manchester Metropolitan University.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon request.

# ORCID

Ugne Simanaviciute D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9290-8101 Robyn A. Grant D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3968-8370

# REFERENCES

- Fiest KM, Roberts JI, Maxwell CJ, et al. The prevalence and incidence of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Can J Neurol Sci.* 2016;43(S1):S51-S82. doi:10.1017/ cjn.2016.36
- Lane CA, Hardy J, Schott JM. Alzheimer's disease. Eur J Neurol. 2018; 25(1):59-70. doi:10.1111/ene.13439
- Scheltens P, Strooper BD, Kivipelto M, et al. Alzheimer's disease. Lancet. 2021;397(10284):1577-1590. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 32205-4
- 4. Scearce-Levie K, Sanchez PE, Lewcock JW. Leveraging preclinical models for the development of Alzheimer disease therapeutics. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* 2020;19(7):447-462. doi:10.1038/s41573-020-0065-9
- Fertan E, Stover KRJ, Brant MG, et al. Effects of the novel IDO inhibitor DWG-1036 on the behavior of male and female 3xTg-AD mice. *Front Pharmacol.* 2019a;10:1044. doi:10.3389/fphar.2019.01044
- Oddo S, Caccamo A, Shepherd JD, et al. Triple-transgenic model of Alzheimer's disease with plaques and tangles: intracellular Abeta and synaptic dysfunction. *Neuron*. 2003;39(3):409-421. doi:10.1016/ s0896-6273(03)00434-3
- Filali M, Lalonde R, Theriault P, Julien C, Calon F, Planel E. Cognitive and non-cognitive behaviors in the triple transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease expressing mutated APP, PS1, and Mapt (3xTg-AD). *Behav Brain Res.* 2012;234(2):334-342. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2012. 07.004

- Jankowsky JL, Zheng H. Practical considerations for choosing a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurodegenerat*. 2017;12(1): 89. doi:10.1186/s13024-017-0231-7
- King JL, Wong AA, Brown RE. Age-related changes in the spatial frequency threshold of male and female 3xTg-AD mice using OptoMotry. J Alzheimers Dis. 2018;62(2):591-596. doi:10.3233/JAD-170805
- Roddick KM, Roberts AD, Schellinck HM, Brown RE. Sex and genotype differences in odor detection in the 3×Tg-AD and 5XFAD mouse models of Alzheimer's disease at 6 months of age. *Chem Senses*. 2016;41(5):433-440. doi:10.1093/chemse/bjw018
- Simanaviciute U, Ahmed J, Brown RE, et al. Recommendations for measuring whisker movements and locomotion in mice with sensory, motor and cognitive deficits. *J Neurosci Methods*. 2020;331:108532. doi:10.1016/j.jneumeth.2019.108532
- Stover KR, Campbell MA, Van Winssen CM, Brown RE. Analysis of motor function in 6-month-old male and female 3xTg-AD mice. *Behav Brain Res.* 2015;281:16-23. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2014.11.046
- Garvock-de Montbrun T, Fertan E, Stover K, Brown RE. Motor deficits in 16-month-old male and female 3xTg-AD mice. *Behav Brain Res.* 2019;356:305-313. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2018.09.006
- Stevens LM, Brown RE. Reference and working memory deficits in the 3xTg-AD mouse between 2 and 15-months of age: a crosssectional study. *Behav Brain Res.* 2015;278:496-505. doi:10.1016/j. bbr.2014.10.033
- Gür E, Fertan E, Alkins K, Wong AA, Brown RE, Balcı F. Interval timing is disrupted in female 5xFAD mice: an indication of altered memory processes. J Neurosci Res. 2019a;97(7):817-827. doi:10.1002/jnr.24418
- Fertan E, Wong AA, Vienneau NA, Brown RE. Age and sex differences in motivation and spatial working memory in 3xTg-AD mice in the Hebb-Williams maze. *Behav Brain Res.* 2019b;370:111937. doi:10. 1016/j.bbr.2019.111937
- Davis KE, Easton A, Eacott MJ, Gigg J. Episodic-like memory for what-where-which occasion is selectively impaired in the 3xTgAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013;33(3): 681-698. doi:10.3233/JAD-2012-121543
- Kane AE, Shin S, Wong AA, et al. Sex differences in Healthspan predict lifespan in the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Front Aging Neurosci.* 2018;10. ISSN 1663-4365. doi:10.3389/fnagi. 2018.00172
- Rae EA, Brown RE. The problem of genotype and sex differences in life expectancy in transgenic AD mice. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2015; 57:238-251. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.09.002
- Fertan E, Rodrigues GJ, Wheeler RV, et al. Cognitive decline, cerebral-spleen tryptophan metabolism, oxidative stress, cytokine production, and regulation of the Txnip gene in a triple transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer disease. Am J Pathol. 2019c;189(7):1435-1450. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2019.03.006
- Gür E, Fertan E, Kosel F, Wong AA, Balcı F, Brown RE. Sex differences in the timing behavior performance of 3xTg-AD and wild-type mice in the peak interval procedure. *Behav Brain Res.* 2019b;360:235-243. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2018.11.047
- Grant RA, Sharp PS, Kennerley AJ, et al. Abnormalities in whisking behaviour are associated with lesions in brain stem nuclei in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Behav Brain Res.* 2014;259: 274-283. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2013.11.002
- Garland H, Wood NI, Skillings EA, Detloff PJ, Morton AJ, Grant RA. Characterisation of progressive motor deficits in whisker movements in R6/2, Q175 and Hdh knock-in mouse models of Huntington's disease. J Neurosci Methods. 2018;300:103-111. doi:10.1016/j. jneumeth.2017.04.020
- Grant RA, Cielen N, Maes K, et al. The effects of smoking on whisker movements: a quantitative measure of exploratory behaviour in rodents. *Behav Processes*. 2016;128:17-23. doi:10.1016/j.beproc. 2016.03.021

- 25. Grant RA, Wong AA, Fertan E, Brown RE. Whisker exploration behaviours in the 5xFAD mouse are affected by sex and retinal degeneration. *Genes Brain Behav*. 2018b;19:e12532. doi:10.1111/gbb.12532
- Grant RA, Arkley KP. Matched filtering in active whisker touch. In: von der Emde G, Warrant E, eds. The Ecology of Animal Senses: Matched Filters for Economical Sensing. Springer International Publishing; 2016:59-82. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-25492-0\_3
- Mitchinson B, Grant RA, Arkley K, Rankov V, Perkon I, Prescott TJ. Active vibrissal sensing in rodents and marsupials. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* 2011;366(1581):3037-3048. doi:10.1098/rstb.2011. 0156
- 28. Carvell GE, Simons DJ. Biometric analyses of vibrissal tactile discrimination in the rat. J Neurosci. 1990;10(8):2638-2648.
- Mitchinson B, Martin CJ, Grant RA, Prescott TJ. Feedback control in active sensing: rat exploratory whisking is modulated by environmental contact. *Proc Biol Sci.* 2007;274(1613):1035-1041. doi:10.1098/ rspb.2006.0347
- Grant RA, Mitchinson B, Fox CW, Prescott TJ. Active touch sensing in the rat: anticipatory and regulatory control of whisker movements during surface exploration. J Neurophysiol. 2009;101(2):862-874. doi: 10.1152/jn.90783.2008
- Grant RA, Breakell V, Prescott TJ. Whisker touch sensing guides locomotion in small, quadrupedal mammals. Proc Royal Soc B Biol Sci. 2018a;285(1880):20180592. doi:10.1098/rspb.2018.0592
- Arkley K, Grant RA, Mitchinson B, Prescott TJ. Strategy change in Vibrissal active sensing during rat locomotion. *Curr Biol.* 2014;24(13): 1507-1512. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2014.05.036
- Mitchinson B, Prescott TJ. Whisker movements reveal spatial attention: a unified computational model of active sensing control in the rat. *PLoS Comput Biol.* 2013;9(9):e1003236. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi. 1003236
- Grant RA, Mitchinson B, Prescott TJ. The development of whisker control in rats in relation to locomotion. *Dev Psychobiol*. 2012;54(2): 151-168. doi:10.1002/dev.20591
- Towal RB, Hartmann MJ. Right-left asymmetries in the whisking behavior of rats anticipate head movements. J Neurosci. 2006;26(34): 8838-8846. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0581-06.2006
- Gillespie D, Yap MH, Hewitt BM, et al. Description and validation of the LocoWhisk system: quantifying rodent exploratory, sensory and motor behaviours. J Neurosci Methods. 2019;328:108440. doi:10. 1016/j.jneumeth.2019.108440
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S. Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J Stat Softw. 2015;67(1):1-48. doi:10.18637/jss. v067.i01
- Kenward MG, Roger JH. Small sample inference for fixed effects from restricted maximum likelihood. *Biometrics*. 1997;53(3):983-997.
- Satterthwaite FE. An approximate distribution of estimates of variance components. *Biometrics*. 1946;2(6):110-114. doi:10.2307/ 3002019
- Schaalje GB, McBride JB, Fellingham GW. Adequacy of approximations to distributions of test statistics in complex mixed linear models. JABES. 2002;7(4):512-524. doi:10.1198/108571102726
- Luke SG. Evaluating significance in linear mixed-effects models in R. Behav Res. 2017;49(4):1494-1502. doi:10.3758/s13428-016-0809-y
- Blanchard J, Wanka L, Tung Y-C, et al. Pharmacologic reversal of neurogenic and neuroplastic abnormalities and cognitive impairments without affecting Aβ and tau pathologies in 3xTg-AD mice. *Acta Neuropathol.* 2010;120(5):605-621. doi:10.1007/s00401-010-0734-6
- Chen Y, Liang Z, Tian Z, et al. Intracerebroventricular streptozotocin exacerbates Alzheimer-like changes of 3xTg-AD mice. *Mol Neurobiol*. 2014;49(1):547-562. doi:10.1007/s12035-013-8539-y

- Setogawa S, Yamaura H, Arasaki T, Endo S, Yanagihara D. Deficits in memory-guided limb movements impair obstacle avoidance locomotion in Alzheimer's disease mouse model. *Sci Rep.* 2014;4(1):7220. doi:10.1038/srep07220
- 45. Sterniczuk R, Antle MC, LaFerla FM, Dyck RH. Characterization of the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: part 2. *Behav Cognitive Changes Brain Res.* 2010;1348:149-155. doi:10.1016/j.brainres. 2010.06.011
- Orta-Salazar E, Feria-Velasco AI, Díaz-Cintra S. Alteraciones en la corteza motora primaria en la enfermedad de Alzheimer: estudio en el modelo 3xTg-AD. *Neurologia*. 2019;34(7):429-436. doi:10.1016/j.nrl. 2017.02.016
- 47. Fertan E, Wong AA, Purdon MK, Weaver ICG, Brown RE. The effect of background strain on the behavioral phenotypes of the MDGA2+/- mouse model of autism spectrum disorder. *Genes Brain Behav.* 2021;20(3):e12696. doi:10.1111/gbb.12696
- Castillo-Mariqueo L, Giménez-Llort L. Translational modeling of psychomotor function in normal and AD-pathological aging with special concerns on the effects of social isolation. *Front Aging*. 2021;2:5. doi: 10.3389/fragi.2021.648567
- Lazic SE, Clarke-Williams CJ, Munafò MR. What exactly is 'N' in cell culture and animal experiments? *PLoS Biol.* 2018;16(4):e2005282. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.2005282
- Boisgontier MP, Cheval B. The anova to mixed model transition. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2016;68:1004-1005. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2016.05.034
- Judd CM, Westfall J, Kenny DA. Treating stimuli as a random factor in social psychology: a new and comprehensive solution to a pervasive but largely ignored problem. J Pers Soc Psychol. 2012;103(1):54-69. doi:10.1037/a0028347
- Romberg C, Mattson MP, Mughal MR, Bussey TJ, Saksida LM. Impaired attention in the 3xTgAD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: rescue by donepezil (Aricept). J Neurosci. 2011;31(9):3500-3507. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5242-10.2011
- 53. van Heusden FC, Palacín i Bonsón S, Stiedl O, Smit AB, van Kesteren RE. Longitudinal assessment of working memory performance in the APPswe/PSEN1dE9 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease using an automated Figure-8-maze. *Front Behav Neurosci.* 2021;15. ISSN 1662-5153. Article no: 655449. doi:10.3389/fnbeh.2021.655449
- Tampellini D, Capetillo-Zarate E, Dumont M, et al. Effects of synaptic modulation on β-amyloid, synaptophysin, and memory performance in Alzheimer's disease transgenic mice. J Neurosci. 2010;30(43): 14299-14304. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3383-10.2010
- 55. Bero AW, Yan P, Roh JH, et al. Neuronal activity regulates the regional vulnerability to amyloid- $\beta$  deposition. *Nat Neurosci.* 2011; 14(6):750-756. doi:10.1038/nn.2801
- Beker S, Kellner V, Kerti L, Stern EA. Interaction between amyloid-β pathology and cortical functional columnar organization. J Neurosci. 2012;32(33):11241-11249. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2426-12.2012

# SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of the article at the publisher's website.

How to cite this article: Simanaviciute U, Brown RE, Wong A, Fertan E, Grant RA. Abnormal whisker movements in the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*. 2022;21(8):e12813. doi:10.1111/gbb.12813 Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Brain, Behavior, & Immunity - Health



# BRAIN, BEHAVIOR and IMMUNITY Health

journal homepage: www.editorialmanager.com/bbih/default.aspx

# Maternal immune activation affects female offspring whisker movements during object exploration in a rat model of neurodevelopmental disorders

Ugne Simanaviciute<sup>a,\*</sup>, Harry G. Potter<sup>b,c</sup>, Reinmar Hager<sup>c</sup>, Jocelyn Glazier<sup>c</sup>, Emma Hodson-Tole<sup>a</sup>, John Gigg<sup>d</sup>, Robyn Grant<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Faculty of Science and Engineering, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester, M1 5GD, UK

<sup>b</sup> Institute for Behaviour, Sport and Rehabilitation, School of Medicine & Dentistry, University of Central Lancashire, Burnley, BB11 1RA, UK

<sup>c</sup> Division of Evolution, Infection and Genomics, School of Biological Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, Manchester Academic Health Science Centre,

University of Manchester, Manchester, M13 9PT, UK

<sup>d</sup> Division of Neuroscience, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

#### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Neurodevelopmental disorders Rat model Rodent Behaviour Vibrissae Active sensing Touch poly(I:C)

### ABSTRACT

Poly I:C rat offspring are used to investigate the effects of *in utero* exposure to maternal immune activation (MIA) and have been suggested as a model of neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD). The behavioural symptoms of this model are diverse and can vary with external factors, including the choice of background strain and husbandry practices. Measuring whisker movements provides quantitative, robust measurements of sensory, motor and cognitive behaviours in rodents. In this study, whisker movements were investigated in 50-day-old male and female offspring of MIA-exposed rat dams and compared to age-matched offspring of control (vehicle) dams. Rat offspring were filmed using high-speed videography in a sequential object exploration task with smooth and textured objects. Poly I:C treatment effects were found in female offspring that did not increase whisker mean angular position during object exploration, especially for the smooth object, indicating an attentional deficit. Whisker tracking during object exploration is demonstrated here, for the first time, as a useful, quick and non-invasive tool to identify both treatment effects and sex differences in a model of MIA-induced NDDs.

## 1. Introduction

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs), including schizophrenia, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autism spectrum disorder, affect the development of the nervous system and normal brain function. This can have wide-ranging consequences, impacting cognition, emotion, learning, self-control and memory. In pre-clinical studies, maternal immune activation (MIA) rodent models of NDDs have been found to reflect the natural pathogenesis of the NDDs and their symptoms (Woods et al., 2021). A widely used method to induce MIA is gestational exposure to the viral mimetic and Toll-like receptor 3 agonist polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (Poly I:C, Bucknor et al., 2022). Offspring of Poly I:C dams express behavioural deficits in sensorimotor gating, selective attention, social behaviour, exploratory behaviour, working memory, and cognitive flexibility (Meyer, 2014; Potter et al., 2023). However, the Poly I:C rodent model is challenging, as behavioural findings can vary depending on the rodent genetic background, source and dose of Poly I:C, as well as the gestational timing of treatment (Mueller et al., 2018; Kowash et al., 2019; Murray et al., 2019). Even the type of caging system can affect maternal behaviour and the behaviour of adult offspring (Mueller et al., 2018). Consequently, it is imperative to select a robust and highly quantitative behavioural test to identify such complex behavioural phenotypes.

We posit that measuring whisker movements could be such a robust test. Whiskers are an established sensorimotor model in neuroscience (see Adibi, 2019 for a recent review), and the precise measurement of whisker movements can be captured quickly without any animal training (Simanaviciute et al., 2022), unlike in many other behavioural tasks. Furthermore, measurements are highly granular, including angles and speed. This is in contrast to counts and durations which are more common in behavioural testing, such as the tasks recommended for measuring attention by Lustig et al. (2013). Measuring rodent whisker movements has previously revealed motor, sensory and cognitive deficits in mouse models of neurodegenerative disease (Grant; Garland et al., 2018; Simanaviciute et al., 2020, 2022), although it is probably not possible to disentangle these factors using the current set up. This

\* Corresponding author. E-mail addresses: ugne.simanaviciute@stu.mmu.ac (U. Simanaviciute), robyn.grant@mmu.ac.uk (R. Grant).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbih.2024.100807

Received 2 June 2024; Accepted 10 June 2024 Available online 12 June 2024

2666-3546/© 2024 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

method has also identified behavioural phenotypes earlier than any other behavioural test, e.g., in a R62 Huntington's Disease mouse model (Garland et al., 2018). Measuring whisker movements during object exploration can identify sensory and attentional deficits (5xFAD mice in Grant et al., 2018; 3xTg-AD mice in Simanaviciute et al., 2022), and reveal sex differences in mouse models of Alzheimer's (Grant et al., 2018) and Huntington's disease (Simanaviciute et al., 2020), which makes it especially aligned for the study of NDDs. Indeed, Lins et al. (2019) specifically recommend investigating sex differences in MIA research, since rat models of NDDs exhibit sex-dependent phenotypes (Snigda et al., 2011; Leger and Neill, 2016; Nikolić et al., 2017; Casquero-Veiga et al., 2023; Potter et al., 2023).

Here, we applied our established mouse whisker measurement protocol (Simanaviciute et al., 2020, 2022) to the rat Poly I:C model to investigate the effects of *in utero* exposure to MIA on whisker movements in offspring at postnatal day (P) 50. We investigated whisker movements before and during object exploration, and examined differences between treatment, sex and object texture. We predict that measures of whisker movements would be sensitive to both treatment and sex effects.

#### 2. Materials and methods

## 2.1. Animals

Details of the rat MIA model, including information about animal treatment and housing were reported following the guidelines from Kentner et al. (2019) and can be found in Potter et al. (2023). For our study, 11 dams were pseudo-randomised to treatment group (Excel v2004 random number generator, Microsoft, USA). Dam sample sizes were calculated using the statistical package G\*Power v3.1.9.2. Whisker movements of the offspring of these dams were measured once they reached early adulthood, at ~ P50 (47–53) (Supplementary material A, Table S1) when whisker movements are adult-like (Grant). From a total of 24 MIA offspring rats, 11 were female and 13 male, and from 26 control rats, 14 were female and 12 male. Half of the rats were cross fostered as part of a satellite study; however, this had no significant effect on whisker metrics (Supplementary material B, Tables S2 and S3) nor on other adult behaviours (Potter, 2021). Therefore, data were combined and cross-fostering was not investigated further.

### 2.2. Experimental procedures

All experimental procedures were carried out at the University of Manchester Biological Services Facility, in the light phase of the daily cycle (standard 12h light:dark cycle, lights on at 7:00am). Experiments were performed under Home Office UK project licence (number P473EC3B1) in accordance with the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act UK 1986. Before being involved in this study, all animals had been exposed to other tasks at P35 (~15 days before this study, as described in Potter et al., 2023), including novel object recognition (NOR), elevated plus maze and social interaction tasks.

For high-speed filming of whisker movements, a sequential object exploration task was adopted (Supplementary material C, Fig. S1), exact details of which can be found in Landreth et al. (2021). Observers were blind to the rat treatment group throughout the video collection and analysis process. Video clips were selected for analysis based on criteria developed by Grant et al. (2014); that the head was level, the whiskers in view and the rat be travelling toward the object in the pre-contact (PC) section of the clip and the whiskers contacting the object in the during-contact (DC) section of the clip. Clips were tracked using the Automated Rodent Tracker (ARTv2; Gillespie et al., 2019). 2–12 whiskers were detected in each frame (with 5–6 whiskers on each side being usual). 1–4 video clips per rat were included in data analyses (Supplementary material A, Table S1), giving a total of 114 clips, including both PC and DC sections. PC sections ranged from 100 to 291 frames per clip and DC sections ranged from 100 to 459 frames. Whisker metrics included both PC and PC-DC measures of mean angular position (mean whisker angles), whisker amplitude (standard deviation of angular positions multiplied by  $2x\sqrt{2}$ ), whisker asymmetry (difference between left and right angular position), whisker spread (mean standard deviation of all tracked whiskers), and retraction and protraction speeds (mean speed of whiskers moving backwards and forwards, respectively). Full definitions for these metrics can be found in Simanaviciute et al. (2020).

## 2.3. Statistical analyses

Measures of the PC whisker variables were analysed first. Changes in whisker movements during object exploration were analysed by subtracting the DC measures from the PC measures (PC-DC), as per Simanaviciute et al. (2022). Examining PC-DC metrics reveals common contact-related whisker behaviours (Fig. 1), including increasing the number of whisker contacts (increasing protraction angles and decreasing whisker spread during contact), while ensuring light whisker contacts (increasing asymmetry during contact) over a longer period of time (by reducing whisker speeds during contact) (see Grant and Goss, 2022 for a full review).

Linear Mixed-Effects Models (lme4 in R Studio version 1.1.456) were used to analyse the effect of Poly I:C treatment, sex and object texture (or order) on all PC and (PC-DC) whisker variables. The degrees of freedom were approximated using a Kenward-Rodger's method and could fall anywhere between the number of clips (n = 114) and number of individuals (n = 50). A significance value of p < 0.05 was used throughout and adjusted in pairwise comparisons with Tukey's method. Data and code used for analysis is referenced in Supplementary material E.

#### 3. Results

In analyses with males and females combined, both MIA-treated and control rat offspring exhibited the common contact-related behaviours that we have previously observed in mice. During contact with an object, whisker retraction speed, protraction speed and spread were consistently reduced (Supplementary material D, Supplementary Figs. S2C, D, and E), while amplitude and asymmetry increased (Supplementary material D, Supplementary Figs. S2A and B). We next tested for Poly I:C treatment and sex effects. There was no effect of treatment, but a sex effect in PC mean angular position was detected (Fig. 2A, Supplementary material D, Table S4), with female rats having higher PC mean angular positions than males (treatment:  $F_{1, 41.224} = 2.446$ , p = 0.125 sex:  $F_{1, 41.224} = 5.240$ , p = 0.027; interaction:  $F_{1, 41.224} = 1.034$ , p = 0.315). There were no further significant effects of treatment or sex in any of the other whisker variables (all p-values >0.05; Fig. 2, Table S5).

# 3.1. Female offspring

Since there was a sex effect, treatment and object texture (or order) was then investigated in males and females separately. (PC-DC) mean angular position in females had a treatment and object texture effect (treatment:  $F_{1, 20.750} = 5.454$ , p = 0.030; texture:  $F_{1, 51.992} = 4.573$ , p =0.037; interaction: F<sub>1, 51.992</sub> = 4.338, *p* = 0.042, Fig. 2B, Supplementary materials D, Table S6). Post-hoc comparisons showed that female MIA offspring rats contacting the smooth (first) object had significantly higher (PC-DC) mean angular positions compared to female control rats contacting the smooth object (p = 0.049) and MIA offspring rats contacting the textured (second) object (p = 0.034). This indicates that female MIA offspring rats show the opposite of the predicted contactrelated changes in their whisker angular position on the smooth object. This effect can be visualised in the example whisker traces in Fig. 3 (corresponding video clip in Supplementary Video Clip), showing that whiskers of female MIA offspring rats were less protracted during object contact, especially when contacting the smooth (first) object (Fig. 3B).

While there was no treatment effect, a texture (or order) effect was



Fig. 1. Summary whisker positional changes observed pre-contact and during contact. Object contact causes increases in whisker amplitude and asymmetry (termed contact-induced asymmetry) and a reduction in whisker spread and movement speeds (both retraction and protraction speed). The area covered by the whiskers can be thought of as a zone of attention.

found in (PC-DC) asymmetry in female rats (treatment:  $F_{1, 20.750} = 0.086, p = 0.772$ ; texture:  $F_{1, 51.992} = 4.274, p = 0.044$ ; interaction:  $F_{1, 51.992} = 0.061, p = 0.806$ , Fig. 2C–Supplementary material D, Table S6). While all other female rats increased their whisker asymmetry during object contact, female MIA offspring rats contacted the smooth object more symmetrically, indicated by positive (PC-DC) values in Fig. 2C and a smaller separation between red and blue traces in Fig. 3B (see also Supplementary Video Clip). There were no further significant effect of treatment nor object texture on any PC whisker metrics, nor other PC-DC metrics (all p-values >0.05).

## 3.2. Male offspring

There was no treatment effect in male rat (PC-DC) mean angular position, but object texture (or order) was significantly different (treatment:  $F_{1, 19.980} = 0.307$ , p = 0.586; texture:  $F_{1, 53.768} = 6.856$ , p = 0.012; interaction:  $F_{1, 53.768} = 1.517$ , p = 0.223, Fig. 2B–Supplementary material D, Table S6). While all other male rats pushed their whiskers more forward during object contact, male control rats on the smooth object reduced their mean angular positions (Fig. 2B). There were no further treatment or object texture (order) effects in male offspring rats in any PC and or (PC-DC) whisker measures (all p-values >0.05).

## 4. Discussion

We investigate here, for the first time, the effect of *in utero* exposure to MIA on whisker movements in P50 offspring, a rat Poly I:C model. When male and female rats were grouped, we saw no effect of Poly I:C treatment on any of the PC or (PC-DC) whisker metrics (Supplementary material D, Supplementary Fig. S2). In agreement, Potter et al. (2023) also found no effect of Poly I:C treatment in adolescent or adult male or female MIA rats in a NOR task used to assess visual learning, and an elevated plus maze task used for measuring anxiety-related behaviour.

However, when we split our data by sex, we found significant treatment effects in female offspring. Sex differences are important to consider in any research and is especially relevant when modelling NDDs, which are expressed differently in males and females (Kokras and Dalla, 2014). We agree with the importance of including both male and female animals in studies and evaluating their neurological symptoms separately, as treatment effects can be masked by innate sex differences. Given the young age of our animals (~P50), some sex-differences may be due to different developmental trajectories, and we would recommend repeating this study at more ages in order to fully describe their sex differences.

We observed that female MIA offspring rats did not increase their mean angular position during contact with the smooth (first) object, implying they did not engage in the contact-related behaviours that we would usually expect. Conversely, female MIA offspring rats contacting the textured object and control rats touching the smooth object all increased their mean angular position during contact. Both MIA and control female offspring rats contacting the smooth object engaged in contact-induced asymmetry less than male rats (Fig. 2). Positioning whiskers more forward during object contact is associated with focussing of attention (Arkley et al., 2014; Mitchinson et al., 2007, Fig. 1). We would typically expect to see increases in both forward whisker mean angular positions and asymmetry during contact (Berg and Kleinfeld 2003; Grant et al., 2009; Mitchinson et al., 2007). Since these behaviours were absent in the MIA female offspring rats contacting the smooth object, it may suggest abnormal behaviours and attentional deficits in MIA female offspring. We have observed the same behaviour in female 5XFAD mice, a model of Alzheimer's Disease, which was also not present in males (Grant et al., 2020). Potter et al. (2023) also found multiple deficits in attention and problem solving in female MIA offspring rats in more classic behavioural tasks, which further supports our conclusion that attention and executive function are likely to be impacted by the Poly I:C treatment in female rats.

This is the first time we have observed significant treatment effects on whisker movements with different objects. An identical sequential object exploration task was used by Landreth et al. (2021) in a sub-chronic PCP rat model of schizophrenia and did not reveal any differences between the smooth and textured objects. It is worth noting that the objects were very similar and only differed in colour and texture (Supplementary material C, Fig. S1), thus, the novelty of the second object is not especially pronounced. However, the number, type, texture and novelty of objects may affect rodent behaviour in object exploration tasks and should be considered when looking for MIA treatment effects. In our animals, we suggest that treatment and sex differences may primarily manifest during whisker exploration of the first, novel object presented to them. This means that whisker movements could be measured with only one object in the future, further simplifying the set-up for this method. Indeed, we show here that measuring whisker movements offers a quick, non-invasive, quantitative tool that is sensitive enough to identify treatment and sex effects during object exploration in an offspring model of NDDs caused by MIA.

# Funding

This work was supported by the PhD scholarship granted to US by



(caption on next page)

Fig. 2. MIA offspring rat mean angular position (A and B) and asymmetry (C) are affected by treatment and object texture. A) Significant sex effects were found in PC whisker mean angular position and object texture effects were found in (PC-DC) mean angular position. B) In males, there was a main effect of object texture in (PC-DC) mean angular position. In females, there were effects of treatment, object texture and their interaction in (PC-DC) mean angular position, while pairwise comparisons showed that MIA offspring rat smooth texture group was significantly different to control rats exploring the smooth object and MIA offspring rats exploring the texture dobject. C) There was a significant effect of object texture in (PC-DC) asymmetry in females, independent of treatment. Males and females were analysed together in A and separately in B and C. The bars indicate the mean values from all the clips (degrees of freedom calculated from a linear mixed-effect model), with error bars representing SEM. Data points show mean values for individual rats, indicated by open circles for male rats investigating smooth object, filled circles for male rats investigating textured object, open squares for female rats investigating smooth object, and filled squares for female rats investigating textured object. PC = pre-contact, DC = during contact, (PC-DC) = contact related changes. Asterisks mark significant values where  $p \le 0.05 = *, p \le 0.01 = **$  and n.s. is not significant. Sample sizes: 13 MIA male and 11 MIA female offspring rats, 12 male control and 14 control female rats.



**Fig. 3. Example whisker angle traces and video stills of female offspring exploring an object**. Control females (A and C) show predicted object-related whisker behaviours, indicated by asymmetric positioning of the whiskers and high whisker angular positions (e.g., more forward-reaching whiskers) following an object contact. However, the female MIA offspring rat whiskers were more symmetric and less protracted during object contact, especially when contacting the smooth (first) object (B). Whisker traces are shown on the left hand panels. Raw data points are shown in fine lines, and smoothed data (2nd order, 15 neighbours) are presented in thicker lines. Red colour traces are from the whiskers on the left side, and blue from the right side. 0 ms is the point of contact on the x-axis; therefore, left from the Y-axis is pre-contact (PC) and right from the Y-axis is during-contact (DC). Example video clips (one per trace) used here can be found in Supplementary video. Video stills (right hand panel) are selected here when the whiskers are contacting the object at their maximum protraction. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the Web version of this article.)

Manchester Metropolitan University. The animal work was funded by a BBSRC DTP studentship. (BB/M011208/1) granted to HP.

### CRediT authorship contribution statement

Ugne Simanaviciute: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Harry G. Potter: Data curation, Investigation, Methodology, Writing – review & editing. Reinmar Hager: Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. Jocelyn Glazier: Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. Emma Hodson-Tole: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. John Gigg: Conceptualization, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. Robyn Grant: Conceptualization, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

### Declaration of competing interest

We declare no conflicts of interest.

## Data availability

Data is linked in Supplementary Material. Video clips are available upon request.

#### Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Dr David Gillespie and Dr Brett Hewitt at Manchester Metropolitan University for developing the ART tracker.

#### Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbih.2024.100807.

#### References

- Adibi, M., 2019. Whisker-mediated touch system in rodents: from neuron to behavior. Front. Syst. Neurosci. 13 https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2019.00040.
- Arkley, K., Grant, R.A., Mitchinson, B., Prescott, T.J., 2014. Strategy change in vibrissal active sensing during rat locomotion. Curr. Biol. 24 (13), 1507–1512.
- Berg, R.W., Kleinfeld, D., 2003. Rhythmic whisking by rat: retraction as well as protraction of the vibrissae is under active muscular control. J. Neurophysiol. 89, 104–117. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00600.2002.
- Bucknor, M.C., Gururajan, A., Dale, R.C., Hofer, M.J., 2022. A comprehensive approach to modeling maternal immune activation in rodents. Front. Neurosci. 16, 1071976 https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2022.1071976.
- Casquero-Veiga, M., Lamanna-Rama, N., Romero-Miguel, D., Rojas-Marquez, H., Alcaide, J., Beltran, M., Nacher, J., Desco, M., Soto-Montenegro, M.L., 2023. The Poly I:C maternal immune stimulation model shows unique patterns of brain metabolism, morphometry, and plasticity in female rats. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 16, 1022622 https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2022.1022622.
- Garland, H., Wood, N.I., Skillings, E.A., Detloff, P.J., Morton, A.J., Grant, R.A., 2018. Characterisation of progressive motor deficits in whisker movements in R6/2, Q175 and Hdh knock-in mouse models of Huntington's disease. J. Neurosci. Methods 300, 103–111.
- Gillespie, D., Yap, M.H., Hewitt, B.M., Driscoll, H., Simanaviciute, U., Hodson-Tole, E.F., Grant, R.A., 2019. Description and validation of the LocoWhisk system: quantifying rodent exploratory, sensory and motor behaviours. J. Neurosci. Methods 328, 108440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2019.108440.
- Grant, R.A., Goss, V.G.A., 2022. What can whiskers tell us about mammalian evolution, behaviour, and ecology? Mamm Rev. 52, 148–163. https://doi.org/10.1111/ mam.12253.
- Grant, R.A., Mitchinson, B., Fox, C.W., Prescott, T.J., 2009. Active touch sensing in the rat: anticipatory and regulatory control of whisker movements during surface exploration. J. Neurophy. 101 (2), 862–874.
- Grant, R.A., Mitchinson, B., Prescott, T.J., 2012. The development of whisker control in rats in relation to locomotion. Dev. Psychobiol. 54, 151–168. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/dev.20591.

- Grant, R.A., Sharp, P.S., Kennerley, A.J., Berwick, J., Grierson, A., Ramesh, T., Prescott, T.J., 2014. Abnormalities in whisking behaviour are associated with lesions in brain stem nuclei in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Behav. Brain Res. 259, 274–283.
- Grant, R.A., Wong, A.A., Fertan, E., Brown, R.E., 2020. Whisker exploration behaviours in the 5xFAD mouse are affected by sex and retinal degeneration. Gene Brain Behav. 19 (3), e12532.
- Kentner, A.C., Bilbo, S.D., Brown, A.S., Hsiao, E.Y., McAllister, A.K., Meyer, U., Pearce, B. D., Pletnikov, M.V., Yolken, R.H., Bauman, M.D., 2019. Maternal immune activation: reporting guidelines to improve the rigor, reproducibility, and transparency of the model. Neuropsychopharmacology 44, 245–258. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41386-018-018-57.
- Kokras, N., Dalla, C., 2014. Sex differences in animal models of psychiatric disorders. Br. J. Pharmacol. 171, 4595–4619. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.12710.
- Kowash, H.M., Potter, H.G., Edye, M.E., Prinssen, E.P., Bandinelli, S., Neill, J.C., Hager, R., Glazier, J.D., 2019. Poly(I:C) source, molecular weight and endotoxin contamination affect dam and prenatal outcomes, implications for models of maternal immune activation. Brain Behav. Immun. 82, 160–166. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbi.2019.08.006.
- Landreth, K., Simanaviciute, U., Fletcher, J., Grayson, B., Grant, R.A., Harte, M.H., Gigg, J., 2021. Dissociating the effects of distraction and proactive interference on object memory through tests of novelty preference. Brain and Neuroscience Advances 5, 23982128211003200. https://doi.org/10.1177/23982128211003199.
- Leger, M., Neill, J.C., 2016. A systematic review comparing sex differences in cognitive function in schizophrenia and in rodent models for schizophrenia, implications for improved therapeutic strategies. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 68, 979–1000. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.06.029.
- Lins, B.R., Marks, W.N., Zabder, N.K., Greba, Q., Howland, J.G., 2019. Maternal immune activation during pregnancy alters the behavior profile of female offspring of sprague dawley rats. eNeuro 6. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0437-18.2019.
- Lustig, C., Kozak, R., Sarter, M., Young, J.W., Robbins, T.W., 2013. CNTRICS final animal model task selection: control of attention. Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews, CNTRICS: Modeling psychosis related cognition in animal systems to enhance translational research + Life-Span Plasticity of Brain and Behavior: A Cognitive Neuroscience Perspective 37, 2099–2110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neubiorev.2012.05.009.
- Meyer, U., 2014. Prenatal poly(I:C) exposure and other developmental immune activation models in rodent systems. Biological Psychiatry, Neuroimmune Mechanisms Related to Psychosis 75, 307–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2013.07.011.
- Mitchinson, B., Martin, C.J., Grant, R.A., Prescott, T.J., 2007. Feedback control in active sensing: rat exploratory whisking is modulated by environmental contact. Proc. Biol. Sci. 274 (1613), 1035–1041.
- Mueller, F.S., Polesel, M., Richetto, J., Meyer, U., Weber-Stadlbauer, U., 2018. Mouse models of maternal immune activation: mind your caging system. Brain Behav. Immun. 73, 643–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2018.07.014.
- Murray, K.N., Edye, M.E., Manca, M., Vernon, A.C., Oladipo, J.M., Fasolino, V., Harte, M. K., Mason, V., Grayson, B., McHugh, P.C., Knuesel, I., Prinssen, E.P., Hager, R., Neill, J.C., 2019. Evolution of a maternal immune activation (mIA) model in rats: early developmental effects. Brain Behav. Immun. 75, 48–59. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.09.005.
- Nikolić, T., Petronijević, M., Sopta, J., Velimirović, M., Stojković, T., Jevtić Dožudić, G., Aksić, M., Radonjić, N.V., Petronijević, N., 2017. Haloperidol affects bones while clozapine alters metabolic parameters - sex specific effects in rats perinatally treated with phencyclidine. BMC Pharmacol Toxicol 18, 65. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40360-017-0171-4.
- Potter, H.G., 2021. Behavioural and developmental consequences of maternal immune activation in offspring. PhD Thesis available at: https://research.manchester.ac. uk/en/studentTheses/behavioural-and-developmental-consequences-of-maternal-immune-act.
- Potter, H.G., Kowash, H.M., Woods, R.M., Revill, G., Grime, A., Deeney, B., Burgess, M. A., Aarons, T., Glazier, J.D., Neill, J.C., Hager, R., 2023. Maternal behaviours and adult offspring behavioural deficits are predicted by maternal TNFα concentration in a rat model of neurodevelopmental disorders. Brain Behav. Immun. 108, 162–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbl.2022.12.003.
- Simanaviciute, U., Ahmed, J., Brown, R.E., Connor-Robson, N., Farr, T.D., Fertan, E., Gambles, N., Garland, H., Morton, A.J., Staiger, J.F., Skillings, E.A., 2020. Recommendations for measuring whisker movements and locomotion in mice with sensory, motor and cognitive deficits. J. Neurosci. Methods 331, 108532.
- Simanaviciute, U., Brown, R.E., Wong, A., Fertan, E., Grant, R.A., 2022. Abnormal whisker movements in the 3xTg-AD mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Gene Brain Behav. 21 (8), e12813.
- Snigdha, S., Neill, J.C., McLean, S.L., Shemar, G.K., Cruise, L., Shahid, M., Henry, B., 2011. Phencyclidine (PCP)-induced disruption in cognitive performance is genderspecific and associated with a reduction in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) in specific regions of the female rat brain. J. Mol. Neurosci. 43, 337–345. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12031-010-9447-5.
- Woods, R.M., Lorusso, J.M., Potter, H.G., Neill, J.C., Glazier, J.D., Hager, R., 2021. Maternal immune activation in rodent models: a systematic review of neurodevelopmental changes in gene expression and epigenetic modulation in the offspring brain. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 129, 389–421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. neubiorev.2021.07.015.